Cardiovascular Disease Risk after Spinal Cord Injury: The Role of Autonomic Dysfunction

by

Henrike Joanna Cornelie (Rianne) Ravensbergen

M.Sc., Free University Amsterdam, 2005

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in the

Department of Biomedical Physiology and Kinesiology

Faculty of Science

© Henrike Joanna Cornelie (Rianne) Ravensbergen 2013 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

Summer 2013

All rights reserved. However, in accordance with the *Copyright Act of Canada*, this work may be reproduced, without authorization, under the conditions for "Fair Dealing." Therefore, limited reproduction of this work for the purposes of private study, research, criticism, review and news reporting is likely to be in accordance with the law, particularly if cited appropriately.

Approval

Name:	Henrik	e Joanna Cornelie (Rianne) Ravensbergen
Degree:	Doctor	of Philosophy
Title of Thesis:	Cardio Injury	vascular Disease Risk after Spinal Cord : The Role of Autonomic Dysfunction
Examining Committee:	Chair:	Angela Brooks-Wilson Associate Professor
Victoria Claydon Senior Supervisor Assistant Professor Department of Biomedical Phy and Kinesiology	siology	
Scott Lear Supervisor Professor Department of Biomedical Phy and Kinesiology	siology	
Shubhayan Sanatani Supervisor Associate Professor Department of Pediatrics Faculty of Medicine, University British Columbia	of	
Will Cupples Internal Examiner Professor Department of Biomedical Phy and Kinesiology	siology	
Vaughan Macefield External Examiner Professor School of Medicine University of Western Sydney		
Date Defended/Approved:		August 7, 2013

Partial Copyright Licence



The author, whose copyright is declared on the title page of this work, has granted to Simon Fraser University the right to lend this thesis, project or extended essay to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users.

The author has further granted permission to Simon Fraser University to keep or make a digital copy for use in its circulating collection (currently available to the public at the "Institutional Repository" link of the SFU Library website (www.lib.sfu.ca) at http://summit/sfu.ca and, without changing the content, to translate the thesis/project or extended essays, if technically possible, to any medium or format for the purpose of preservation of the digital work.

The author has further agreed that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by either the author or the Dean of Graduate Studies.

It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without the author's written permission.

Permission for public performance, or limited permission for private scholarly use, of any multimedia materials forming part of this work, may have been granted by the author. This information may be found on the separately catalogued multimedia material and in the signed Partial Copyright Licence.

While licensing SFU to permit the above uses, the author retains copyright in the thesis, project or extended essays, including the right to change the work for subsequent purposes, including editing and publishing the work in whole or in part, and licensing other parties, as the author may desire.

The original Partial Copyright Licence attesting to these terms, and signed by this author, may be found in the original bound copy of this work, retained in the Simon Fraser University Archive.

Simon Fraser University Library Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada

revised Fall 2011

Abstract

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause for mortality and morbidity in those with spinal cord injury (SCI), with an earlier onset and more rapid progression compared to the general population. Lifestyle changes after injury have been suggested to be the main contributor to CVD risk, but I proposed that the issue is more complicated. Although less well-known, autonomic function is affected by SCI, in addition to motor and sensory dysfunction. Cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction is a particular concern in individuals with high lesions (above T5) due to the possible disruption of descending spinal sympathetic pathways to the heart and main vascular resistance bed. In this thesis, I propose that cardiovascular autonomic impairment plays a role in the elevated CVD risk. The thesis starts with an evaluation of the prevalence and progression of cardiovascular dysfunction after SCI. Then, the contribution of autonomic dysfunction on CVD risk is investigated. In addition, markers for obesity-related CVD risk specific to individuals with SCI and ECG markers for cardiac arrhythmias in relation to autonomic impairments are explored. Prevalence of cardiovascular dysfunction was found not to improve over time after injury and it was highest in those with lesions above T5. The second study showed that autonomic dysfunction contributes to overall CVD risk and specifically to glucose intolerance, either directly or through an interaction with physical activity levels. The data showed that waist circumference is the best marker for obesity considering ability to detect adiposity and CVD risk, and practicality of use. A specific cut-off for waist circumference was found to be lower compared to the general recommendations. The final study showed increased values for the ECG markers Tpeak-Tend variability, P-wave variability and QT variability index, only in those with impairments to descending cardiac sympathetic pathways. The ECG characteristics may be indicative of susceptibility to cardiac arrhythmia related to autonomic dysfunction. Implications of these findings are that management of cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction should remain a priority into the chronic phase of injury, not merely due the direct impact on quality of life, but also due to its contribution to the elevated cardiovascular disease risk after SCI.

Keywords: Spinal cord injury; autonomic nervous system; cardiovascular disease risk; obesity; cardiac arrhythmia; autonomic dysfunction

Acknowledgements

Four years of work went into my Ph.D. thesis, but I could not have done this all by myself. Therefore, I would like to take this opportunity to thank those people who in one way or another helped me to complete this journey.

First and foremost I would like to thank all the participants who volunteered their time for the different studies. They are the ones who made this research possible. We had some wonderful conversations during the two hour-long glucose tolerance tests; I learned lots from each and every one of you!

Then my senior supervisor, Victoria: many thanks for the chance you gave me to start my Ph.D. program in your lab, when I just moved to Vancouver. We worked closely together both in the lab running the research studies and in teaching KIN 444. Thank you for your guidance and support. I'm looking forward to continuing our collaboration in the future.

My supervisory committee members, Scott Lear, Shubhayan Sanatani and Tom Claydon are the next on my list to thank for their support. Your diverse backgrounds lead to stimulating meetings about my project that gave me new inspiration to continue to improve my research.

This journey would not have been the same without my lab mates! I've always been happy to come into the lab, go for our daily coffee run and be able to pick each other's brains about all our projects. We had great fun at conferences and both inside and outside lab (mostly during sporting adventures: skiing, cycling, climbing and scuba diving). You've all become great friends!

Now I'd like to switch to Dutch to thank my family for their support. Dank jullie wel voor alle steun voor mijn keuze naar Vancouver te gaan en het vertrouwen dat jullie in mij hadden, ook al had ik dat soms niet. Ik vond het geweldig de afsluiting van deze 4 jaar (mijn verdediging) samen met jullie te kunnen meemaken!

And last but not at all least: Mark, dank je wel lief, in de eerste plaats dat je me hebt meegenomen naar Vancouver. We hebben hier samen en met lieve nieuwe vrienden een geweldige tijd mogen beleven! Bedankt ook voor je steun en vertrouwen in mij en je scherpe blik op mijn onderzoek, waardoor ik het nog beter kon maken. Succes nu met jouw laatste loodjes en dan op naar een mooi nieuw avontuur samen!

Table of Contents

Approval	ii		
Partial Copyright Licence	iii		
Abstract			
Acknowledgements	v		
Table of Contents	vi		
List of Tables	х		
List of Figures	xi		
List of Acronyms	xii		
Chapter 1. Background	1		
Spinal cord injury	1		
Incidence in Canada	2		
Care and cure	3		
Secondary complications of spinal cord injury	5		
Autonomic function after spinal cord injury	7		
Autonomic pathways	8		
Cardiovascular autonomic pathways	. 10		
Effects of spinal cord injury on cardiovascular autonomic pathways	. 11		
Acute effects on cardiovascular autonomic control	. 12		
Arterial baroreflex and blood pressure control	. 12		
Adaptations to cardiovascular autonomic pathways	. 13		
Consequences for cardiovascular function	. 15		
Altered cardiac function	. 15		
Consequences of altered blood pressure control	. 15		
Low supine blood pressure	. 15		
Orthostatic hypotension	. 16		
Autonomic dysreflexia	. 18		
Impaired blood pressure responses to exercise	. 21		
Assessment of autonomic function after injury	. 22		
Plasma noradrenaline	. 23		
Muscle sympathetic nerve activity	. 23		
Sympathetic skin responses	. 24		
Cutaneous vasomotor responses	. 24		
Heart rate and blood pressure variability	. 25		
Relationship between cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction and cardiovascular			
disease risk	. 26		
Consequences of autonomic dysreflexia	. 26		
Elevated risk of cardiac arrhythmias	. 27		
Interaction effects between autonomic dysfunction and lifestyle	. 29		
Obesity and obesity-related cardiovascular disease risk factors	. 30		
Outline of this thesis	. 32		

33
33
34
34
35
35
36
37
38
38
40
42
44
44
46
50
51

Chapter 2. Prevalence and progression of cardiovascular dysfunction

Chapter 3. Complex relationships between autonomic dysfunction,

lifestyle changes and cardiovascular disease risk	53
Introduction	53
Methods	55
Participants	55
Measurements of severity of injury	56
Standard neurological classification	56
Cardiovascular autonomic impairment	56
Plasma noradrenaline	57
Systolic arterial pressure variability analysis	57
Cardiovascular disease risk factors	58
Heart rate variability	58
Blood lipid profiles, insulin and glucose levels	58
Oral glucose tolerance	59
Framingham 30-year risk for cardiovascular disease score	59
Physical activity level	59
Body composition	60
Statistical analyses	60
Results	61
Participant characteristics	61
Group differences in cardiovascular risk factors	62
Multiple linear regression models for cardiovascular risk factors	64
Discussion	67
Strengths and limitations	70
Conclusion	71

cardiovascular disease risk in individuals with spinal toru	
injury	72
Introduction	72
Methods	74
Participants	74
Anthropometric variables	75
Body composition	75
Fasting plasma levels of lipids, glucose and insulin	76
Oral glucose tolerance test	76
Framingham 30-year risk for cardiovascular disease score	76
Statistical analyses	77
, Results	77
Participants	77
Anthropometric measures and body composition	77
Anthropometric measures and cardiovascular disease risk factors	78
Anthropometric measures and the Framingham 30-year risk score	80
Discussion.	82
Conclusion	86

Chapter 4. Waist circumference is the best index for obesity-related cardiovascular disease risk in individuals with spinal cord

Chapter 5. Electrocardiogram-based predictors for cardiac arrhythmia are related to autonomic impairment after spinal cord

injury	.87
Introduction	87
Methods	89
Participants	89
Measures of completeness of injury	89
Motor and sensory impairment	89
Autonomic impairment	89
Sympathetic skin responses	90
Plasma noradrenaline levels	90
Low frequency power of systolic arterial pressure	91
Continuous electrocardiogram	91
Electrocardiogram interval detection	91
Variability analyses	92
12-lead electrocardiogram	. 93
Statistics	. 93
Results	. 93
Participant characteristics	94
Continuous electrocardiogram	94
Electrocardiogram interval analyses	94
Variability analyses	95
Correlations with autonomic impairment	98
12-lead electrocardiogram	. 98
Discussion	100
Conclusion	102

Chapter 6. General discussion	103
Prevalence and progression of cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction after spinal	
cord injury	103
Role of autonomic impairment on cardiovascular disease risk	104
Obesity indices specific for individuals with spinal cord injury	106
Cardiac arrhythmias and autonomic function	107
Implications and future directions	108
References	110

Appendix.	List of publications	arising from thi	is thesis	127

List of Tables

Table 2.1.	Participant characteristics	. 38
Table 2.2.	Cardiovascular variables at all test occasions according to lesion level	. 39
Table 2.3.	Blood pressure and heart rate regression analyses results	.42
Table 2.4.	Prevalence of hypotension, bradycardia, elevated heart rate and tachycardia at all test occasions according to lesion level	. 45
Table 2.5.	Prevalence of hypotension, bradycardia and elevated heart rate regression analyses	. 46
Table 3.1.	Participant characteristics	. 62
Table 3.2.	Cardiovascular disease risk factor regression analyses results	. 66
Table 4.1.	Participant characteristics.	. 78
Table 4.2.	Correlations between anthropometric variables and individual risk factors	. 80
Table 5.1.	Participant characteristics	.94
Table 5.2.	ECG intervals: RRI, QT, QT _c , T _{peak} -T _{end} and P-wave duration	.95
Table 5.3.	Variability parameters: T _{peak} -T _{end} , QTVI and P-wave variability	.98

List of Figures

Figure 1.1.	Incidence rate of spinal cord injury in Canada according to age and sex	2
Figure 1.2.	Functional priorities for the improvement of quality of life for individuals with spinal cord injury	7
Figure 1.3.	Overview of the anatomy of the autonomic nervous system	9
Figure 1.4.	Overview of cardiovascular autonomic pathways	11
Figure 1.5.	Overview of the baroreceptor reflex	13
Figure 1.6.	Example traces of abnormal reflex control of blood pressure after spinal cord injury.	19
Figure 1.7.	Schematic of the spinal reflex underlying autonomic dysreflexia	21
Figure 1.8.	Action potentials of ventricular cell layers and the corresponding electrocardiograph.	29
Figure 2.1.	Modelled data for systolic and diastolic arterial pressure.	41
Figure 2.2.	Modelled data for resting and peak heart rate	43
Figure 3.1.	Group differences in blood glucose regulation	63
Figure 3.2.	Group differences in plasma lipid variables	64
Figure 4.1.	Correlations between abdominal fat percentage and anthropometric markers for obesity	79
Figure 4.2.	Correlations between anthropometric measures and Framingham risk score and corresponding receiver operator characteristic curves	81
Figure 5.1.	Example graphical representation of the customized ECG interval detection	92
Figure 5.2.	$T_{peak}\text{-}T_{end}$ and $T_{peak}\text{-}T_{end}$ variability compared between groups	96
Figure 5.3.	QTVI compared between groups	. 97
Figure 5.4.	P-wave variability over time compared between groups	. 99
Figure 6.1.	Overview of proposed mechanisms leading to insulin resistance after spinal cord injury	105

List of Acronyms

Term	Definition
AD	Autonomic dysreflexia
AIS	American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) Impairment Scale
ASIA	American Spinal Injury Association
AUC	Area under the curve
BMI	Body mass index
BPM	Beats per minute
BPV	Blood pressure variability
C1-7	1 st to 7 th cervical spinal levels
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DAP	Diastolic arterial pressure
DEXA	Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry
ECG	Electrocardiogram
FES	Functional electric stimulation
HDL-C	High density lipoprotein cholesterol
HF	High frequency
HR	Heart rate
HR_{rest}	Resting heart rate
HR_{peak}	Peak heart rate
HRV	Heart rate variability
ISCoS	International Spinal Cord Society
L1-5	1 st to 5 th lumber spinal levels
LDL-C	Low density lipoprotein cholesterol
LF	Low frequency
LF_SAP	Low frequency power of systolic arterial pressure
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
NC	Neck circumference
NTS	Nucleus tractus solitarius
OH	Orthostatic hypotension
PWD	P-wave dispersion
PASIPD	Physical activity scale for individuals with a physical disability
QTVI	QT variability index

RMR	Resting metabolic rate
ROC	Receiver operator characteristic
S1-5	1 st to 5 th sacral spinal levels
SAP	Systolic arterial pressure
SCI	Spinal cord injury
SFU	Simon Fraser University
SSR	Sympathetic skin response
T1-12	1 st to 12 th thoracic spinal level
ТС	Total cholesterol
TDR	Transmural dispersion of repolarization
TG	Triglyceride
$T_{peak} ext{-}T_{end}$	Period from peak of the T-wave to the end of the T-wave
UTI	Urinary tract infection
VLF	Very low frequency
WC	Waist circumference
WHO	World Health Organization
WHR	Waist-to-hip ratio
WHtR	Waist-to-height ratio

Chapter 1.

Background

Spinal cord injury

Spinal cord injury (SCI) is defined as damage to the spinal cord that may be either traumatic or non-traumatic in nature. Spinal cord injuries are devastating not only to the individual's health, but also to their quality of life, resulting in loss of sensation, paralysis, and many other complications and co-morbidities. Other complications can include chronic pain, spasticity, mood disorders, fatigue, pressure sores, bowel and bladder dysfunction, and many other autonomic dysfunctions. Some of these complications or co-morbidities can be life threatening.

In people with SCI the spinal cord is not usually completely transected, since most injuries are commonly caused by compression, contusion or a combination of both, leaving the cord damaged, but not severed. The consequences of SCI are, therefore, diverse and dependent on the level and severity of the injury. To explain differences in dysfunction following injury, SCI is commonly classified as either a complete or an incomplete lesion. A complete SCI refers to injuries that cause the individual to have no sensory or motor function remaining below the lesion level, while after an incomplete SCI some sensory or motor function is preserved. In general, the higher in the cord that the injury is located, the greater the severity of dysfunction. Differences in level of dysfunction after SCI are also coarsely classified by the terms tetraplegia (previously termed quadriplegia) and paraplegia. Tetraplegia is an injury that leads to a loss of function that extends to all four extremities, and paraplegia is an injury with preserved motor and sensory function in the upper extremities.

Incidence in Canada

The incidence of SCI in Canada was estimated at 4,071 new cases per year, in 2010^1 . Of those cases 42% were sustained following trauma, and 58% were non-traumatic in nature (due to other disease). The prevalence of SCI in Canada (how many individuals currently live with SCI in Canada) was estimated at 85,556, of which 51% was traumatic and 49% non-traumatic in nature. The incidence of SCI, both traumatic and nontraumatic, is related to age. For traumatic injuries the incidence is bimodal, showing the first peak in adolescents and young adults (15-29 years) when injuries are mostly a result of motor vehicle accidents, sporting accidents or violence². The second peak lies at the older adult stage (over 70 years), when injuries are mostly a result of falls² (Figure 1.1A). For non-traumatic SCI the incidence rate steadily increases with age³ (Figure 1.1B). The incidence of SCI is also related to sex. In both traumatic and nontraumatic SCI, and at all ages, the incidence is higher for males than for females¹ (Figure 1.1). Whether and how the incidence of SCI in Canada has changed over time is not entirely clear. A study in the province of British Columbia showed a fairly constant incidence of traumatic SCI from 1995 to 2004⁴, while a study in Ontario showed that the incidence almost doubled from 1997 to 2000⁵. Neither of these studies report changes over time in the incidence of non-traumatic SCI, but taking into account the increasing incidence with age and the aging population, an increase in incidence over time seems likely¹.



Figure 1.1. Incidence rate of spinal cord injury in Canada according to age and sex

A. Incidence of traumatic injury. Adapted with permission from Dryden et al. 2003².

B. Incidence of non-traumatic injury. Adapted with permission from New et al. 2008³.

The economic burden associated with SCI is quite substantial, as it places a financial burden on the individual, the health care system, and society as a whole. There are both direct costs, associated with acute health care, necessary equipment, and long-term care, and indirect costs due to loss of income, caregiving by family members, and premature mortality. The total lifetime cost per individual with SCI in Canada was estimated at \$1.6 million for paraplegia and \$3.0 million for tetraplegia, totalling \$3.6 billion for all current traumatic SCI cases in Canada⁶.

Care and cure

The main obstacle in finding the 'cure' for SCI is the limited ability of the central nervous system to regenerate damaged tissue⁷. Interestingly, regeneration of the nerve axon is very common in peripheral nerves, leading us to believe that there are features of the environment of the central nervous system, especially after injury, that limit the ability of axon regeneration. Amazing effort from the basic science field has been and still continues to be put towards identifying these factors in the CNS that inhibit regeneration and towards finding the cure for SCI by overcoming these factors^{7,8}. At the moment a full cure for SCI is lacking, but much insight into regeneration mechanisms has been gained in recent decades. In the absence of a cure for SCI, other pathways are followed to improve functional and quality of life outcomes after SCI.

Care after SCI starts even before coming to the hospital and the emergency room, where spinal immobilization helps prevent secondary injury to the cord after the initial spinal trauma⁹. The next step is the acute care in the hospital, where the two main goals are stabilizing the spinal column and decompression of the cord. In recent years much research has been done into surgical techniques with respect to spinal fixation, decompression, and the optimal timing of surgery¹⁰.

The primary injury to the cord due to direct impact is not the only concern after SCI. A cascade of events such as ischaemia, inflammation, and immune responses that expand the injury site occurs, leading to secondary injury. Neuroprotection strategies aim to reduce further damage to the cord due to these events. Pharmacological treatment in the acute phase of SCI is one of these strategies, and is mostly aimed at limiting secondary injury by controlling the inflammatory response. Steroids like

3

methylprednisolone have been widely used, but more recent studies have raised concerns about potential toxicity and complications, and it is therefore no longer standard treatment in Canada^{8,11,12}. In recent decades extensive research has focused on new pharmacotherapies after SCI, including investigations into the use of antibiotics and the calcium-channel blocker riluzole as neuroprotective agents¹². Unfortunately, a standard, optimized treatment strategy is not currently in place. Another aim for pharmacotherapy in the acute stages of SCI is to address the severe hypotension due to spinal shock and related extreme hypovolemia in the acute phase of injury.

After the acute care, most individuals will stay in an in-patient rehabilitation centre with the goal of restoring or improving function, and preparing the individual by teaching them the skills necessary to return to independent living. The beneficial effect of rehabilitation is probably mediated through neuroplasticity of the spared pathways in the cord. Rehabilitation and other strategies can help in the development of new beneficial connections of the intact pathways in the cord in order to take over functions of the damaged pathways. Due to extensive research in this field, many advances have been made in rehabilitation therapy for individuals with SCI in the past 25 years. Most prominent are technologies such as functional electric stimulation (FES) and robotic bodyweight-supported treadmill training. FES is a technique that uses electrical stimulation of the peripheral nerves via surface electrodes (although implanted options are available) to generate muscle contractions. It can be used on the extremities for exercise training, but research has also been conducted to investigate its use for respiratory muscles, as well as to improve bladder, bowel and sexual function¹³. Robotic body-weight supported treadmill training is slowly replacing locomotor training manually performed by physiotherapists. The length of stay at in-patient rehabilitation centres has decreased in the US and Canada potentially due to the advances in technology described above¹⁴.

A decrease in mortality following SCI is consistently reported in many countries over recent decades; most likely due to advances made in acute care¹⁵. However, despite this improvement, compared to the general population the mortality rates are still approximately three times higher in individuals with SCI¹⁴. The life expectancy for

4

individuals living with SCI has increased over time, similar to the general population, but it remains lower compared to an age-matched able-bodied population¹⁵.

Secondary complications of spinal cord injury

The first documented report of SCI was written approximately 2,500 years ago, when two cases of SCI were reported in the Egyptian Edwin Smith papyrus. The condition was determined as "an ailment not to be treated", and thus most people would die shortly after sustaining the injury. Surprisingly, this advice was followed for millennia, until the early part of the 20th century. It was only after the Second World War, when many advances in surgical techniques and acute care were made, that the outcome of the condition changed dramatically. We have now reached a stage where people live fairly long lives with SCI, but as a result the challenges now lie more in the secondary complications after SCI.

Rehospitalization after SCI due to secondary complications occurs frequently, especially in the first year after discharge from rehabilitation¹⁶. The most common reasons for rehospitalization are urinary tract infections (UTI), chronic pain, pressure ulcers, or respiratory complications (e.g. pneumonia)¹⁶. Bladder dysfunction is very common in individuals with SCI as the autonomic parasympathetic pathways supplying the urinary bladder, exit at the sacral level of the spinal cord¹⁷. Both urine storage and voiding can be impaired due to dysfunction of autonomic control mechanisms (referred to as neurogenic bladder), so most people with SCI use some form of catheterization in order to void. Inserting the catheter evidently increases the infection risk in the urinary tract.

Chronic pain is a complicated issue after SCI; it can have many different underlying causes, ranging from nociceptive pain that originates in the periphery, to neuropathic pain that is generated by changes in the central nervous system. Most nociceptive pain can be treated as long the necessary time is taken to find the right approach (e.g. physiotherapy or medication etc.). Neuropathic pain is generally extremely difficult to manage. Pharmacological treatment designed to target the hyper-excitability of neurons (e.g. opioids, antidepressants or anti-epileptics) is commonly used in both acute and chronic phases¹⁸. Research is ongoing into the effects of electrical nerve stimulation,

spinal cord or even brain stimulation, but the use of these treatments remain controversial¹⁹.

Pressure ulcers or pressure sores are lesions of the skin and underlying tissues due to prolonged, uninterrupted pressure for example due to being 'bedridden' in hospital. It can lead to large open wounds that have long healing times due to poor circulation as a consequence of SCI. During rehabilitation, it is important to educate individuals with SCI about pressure sores and how to prevent them after discharge from rehabilitation. Much can be done to prevent pressure sores with self-management, trained caregivers, pressure-release routines, and the use of specialized equipment that reduces or redistributes pressure.

Respiratory complications are a major reason for rehospitalization due to the seriousness of the problem. Diminished expiratory function due to SCI impairs the effectiveness of coughing immensely and therefore increases the susceptibility to respiratory tract infections²⁰.

Many secondary complications after SCI are related to autonomic dysfunction, which impacts most organs. This can lead to bladder and bowel dysfunction, sexual dysfunction, and altered thermoregulation and metabolism. Up until the past decade, autonomic dysfunction has been a 'forgotten' topic in SCI research. Most research focuses either on finding a "cure" for paralysis, or improving motor and/or sensory function after SCI. In 2004, Anderson conducted a survey of 681 individuals living with SCI, asking them to rank a list of functions in order of importance to their quality of life²¹. She showed that regaining arm and/or hand function was the highest priority for individuals with tetraplegia. For both individuals with paraplegia and tetraplegia, regaining sexual function, bowel and bladder function, and eliminating autonomic dysreflexia (AD, episodes of dramatic increases in blood pressure unique to SCI) had the highest priority when both first and second ranked functions were combined (Figure 1.2). This large survey highlights that autonomic function (including sexual, bowel, bladder and cardiovascular function) has a large impact on quality of life for those with living with SCI, and should be a priority for research.

6



Figure 1.2. Functional priorities for the improvement of quality of life for individuals with spinal cord injury.

Percentage of individuals who ranked these functions as their first or second most important function to improve quality of life. AD, autonomic dysreflexia, one form of cardiovascular dysfunction encountered by individuals with SCI. Adapted with permission from Anderson 2004²¹.

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is one of the major complications after SCI. It is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in chronic SCI, and it has an earlier onset and more rapid progression than in the general population²². One obvious factor contributing to the high cardiovascular morbidity and mortality after SCI is the more sedentary lifestyle and reduced physical function that is associated with the loss of motor function after injury^{23,24}. This lifestyle change most likely contributes to the elevated cardiovascular risk factors (e.g. unfavourable lipid profile, obesity, and insulin resistance) that have been found in this population^{25,26}. However, SCI can also cause disruption of cardiovascular autonomic pathways, disturbing the normal cardiovascular control mechanisms. Although evidence is growing to support the concept that autonomic disturbances might influence CVD risk, it remains unclear how the different factors contribute to the development of increased risk of CVD²². My thesis will focus on the role of autonomic dysfunction in the increased risk of CVD after SCI, as well as examining the possible interactions between autonomic impairment and lifestyle changes.

Autonomic function after spinal cord injury

Before we examine the pathophysiology of the autonomic nervous system after SCI, it is prudent to consider the normal anatomy and physiology of this system.

Autonomic pathways

The autonomic nervous system is comprised of two generally opposing components: the sympathetic and the parasympathetic nervous systems. The parasympathetic nervous system is primarily involved in maintaining the resting state of the body, for example by slowing down the heart rate. The sympathetic system on the other hand is mostly excitatory in nature and is involved in fight or flight responses, for example by increasing blood pressure and heart rate.

The cell bodies of the preganglionic sympathetic neurons are located in the intermediolateral column of the thoracic and upper lumbar spinal cord (T1-L22)^{17,27}. The sympathetic preganglionic axons exit the spinal cord via the ventral root at different spinal levels to synapse onto the postganglionic neurons in the paravertebral and prevertebral ganglia^{17,27}. The paravertebral ganglia are interconnected by the sympathetic trunk and lie on either side of the vertebral column. The prevertebral ganglia are not connected and lie ventral to the vertebral column. All sympathetic ganglia lie remotely from their target organs, in contrast to the parasympathetic ganglia^{17,27}. Most parasympathetic fibres exit the central nervous system above the level of the spinal cord, via the cranial nerves, although there are parasympathetic pathways that travel through the spinal cord to the sacral levels and innervate the pelvic viscera and genitals^{17,27}.

The autonomic ganglia are complex structures where pre- and postganglionic neurons are connected via synapses. Pre- and postganglionic neurons do not appear in a one-to-one ratio in the ganglia, and so there is not a direct connection from one specific preganglionic to one specific postganglionic neuron. Mechanisms of divergence and convergence play a role in these connections. Divergence is a mechanism by which one preganglionic neuron connects to multiple postganglionic neurons. The role for divergence is believed to be to distribute a central signal widely across peripheral neurons with the use of minimal central neurons¹⁷. Convergence is the opposite process by which one postganglionic neuron receives input from multiple preganglionic neurons. It remains unclear what the functional explanation is for this mechanism¹⁷.

An overview of both sympathetic and parasympathetic pathways is shown in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3. Overview of the anatomy of the autonomic nervous system

The continuous lines represent preganglionic neurons; the dotted lines represent postganglionic neurons. Abbreviations: III: oculomotor nerve; VII, facial nerve; IX, glossopharyngeal nerve; X vagus nerve. The sympathetic outflow to the skin, vasculature and deep somatic structures are not shown. Adapted with permission from Jänig 2006¹⁷.

Given the high priority of autonomic dysfunction for individuals with SCI, coupled with the high cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, this thesis will focus on cardiovascular autonomic control. The next paragraph will discuss the autonomic control of the cardiovascular system.

Cardiovascular autonomic pathways

The two major components of the cardiovascular system are the heart and the blood vessels. The heart is innervated by both the sympathetic and the parasympathetic nervous system, while the vasculature almost exclusively receives sympathetic innervation. The parasympathetic preganglionic neurons that innervate the heart travel through the vagus nerve (cranial nerve X) and exit the central nervous system above the spinal cord at the level of the brainstem. The postganglionic neurons lie in the cardiac ganglion, close to the heart, to then act on the sinus and atrial-ventricular nodes, the Purkinje fibres, and the atria. The heart receives sympathetic input from preganglionic neurons that lie in the upper thoracic spinal cord (T1-T5), via the postganglionic neurons in the paravertebral ganglia. The blood vessels are innervated by sympathetic fibres exiting the spinal cord from the levels T1-L2, depending on the region in which the blood vessels lie. The splanchnic vascular bed is particularly important in cardiovascular control due to its capacitance and resistance function, and potentially even more so after SCI when skeletal muscle mass in the lower extremities is reduced and this region therefore becomes less important in terms of control of total peripheral resistance. The splanchnic bed consists of highly compliant vessels and contains around 20-25% of the total circulating blood volume at rest²⁷. It is, therefore, the most important capacitance bed in the body. Sympathetically induced vasoconstriction of the arteries of the splanchnic bed causes a large reduction in blood flow, a vast increase in total peripheral resistance, and thus an increase in blood pressure. At the same time vasoconstriction of the veins reduces the blood volume in the region, leading to increased venous return, and thus increases blood pressure via the increased cardiac preload²⁷. Sympathetic preganglionic nerves originating in the spinal cord at the levels T6-T10 come together in the celiac ganglion where the postganglionic nerves exit to innervate this vascular bed¹⁷. See Figure 1.4 for an overview of the cardiovascular autonomic pathways.



Figure 1.4. Overview of cardiovascular autonomic pathways

Parasympathetic input to the heart runs via the vagus nerve (cranial nerve X) that exits at the level of the medulla, and the cardiac ganglion close to the heart. Baroreceptor afferents travel through the vagus nerve to reach the nucleus tractus solitarius. Sympathetic input to the heart originates from preganglionic neurons in the spinal cord at levels T1-T5 and reaches the heart via a paravertebral ganglion. The vasculature in the splanchnic region and the lower extremities receive sympathetic input from spinal levels T5-L2 via prevertebral ganglia. Abbreviations: RVLM; rostral ventrolateral medulla; NTS, nucleus tractus solitarius; NA, nucleus ambiguus. Adapted with permission from Inskip 2009²⁸.

Effects of spinal cord injury on cardiovascular autonomic pathways

Considering this introduction to the anatomy of the cardiovascular autonomic pathways, the following section will discuss the effects, including both acute effects of injury and adaptations over time, that SCI can have on these pathways and how it disrupts normal function. Differences between lesion levels and completeness will also be addressed.

Acute effects on cardiovascular autonomic control

SCI has an acute effect on cardiovascular autonomic control by separating the autonomic pathways below the injury from supraspinal control. The normal functioning of these pathways and the reflexes that use these pathways will, therefore, be affected. The most important reflex mechanism of cardiovascular autonomic control is the arterial baroreflex, which plays an important role in the regulation of blood pressure.

Arterial baroreflex and blood pressure control

As noted previously, normal baroreceptor reflex function (Figure 1.5) can be interrupted by damage to cardiovascular autonomic pathways in the spinal cord after SCI; the extent of impairment is dependent on the lesion level. Baroreceptors are a type of mechanoreceptors located in the carotid sinus, the aortic arch, and the coronary arteries^{29,30}. Depolarization of the baroreceptors results from stretch of the arterial wall due to an increase in blood pressure. This signal originating from the baroreceptors travels to neurons in the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS), and modulates two efferent components: a pathway limiting sympathetic excitation and a cardio-inhibitory pathway³¹. The first pathway involves increased activity from inhibitory neurons in the NTS, directed, via interneurons, towards neurons in the rostral ventrolateral medulla that without this inhibition would cause excitation of the preganglionic sympathetic neurons in the spinal cord. Inhibition of this pathway ultimately leads to limited excitation of the postganglionic sympathetic neurons innervating both the vasculature and the heart, causing vasodilation and a decrease in heart rate and force of contraction³². The cardio-inhibitory pathway includes the input from the NTS to vagal preganglionic neurons located in the nucleus ambiguus. These neurons project onto cardiac postganglionic vagal neurons that inhibit cyclic AMP production in the sinus node, and thus inhibit the open probability of the hyperpolarized-activated cyclic nucleotide-gated (HCN) channels, which are in turn responsible for the diastolic depolarization of the pacemaker cells of the sinus node³²⁻³⁴. This slowing down of the diastolic depolarization of the sinus node results in a slower heart rate³²⁻³⁴. This pathway remains intact after SCI as it lies completely outside the spinal cord. The sympathetic pathway on the other hand can be affected by the injury; the input from the NTS cannot reach the spinal sympathetic neurons below the lesion. Depending on the level of the lesion some preganglionic sympathetic neurons can still be reached. As the cardiac preganglionic neurons are located in the spinal levels T1-T5, lesions below T5 will leave these pathways intact, but lesions in this region can partially damage them, and cervical lesion can completely disrupt these pathways. As noted previously, sympathetic control over the splanchnic vasculature is extremely important for blood pressure control and SCI above T6 can therefore lead to pronounced impairments to blood pressure control. Completeness of injury is an also important factor, as these impairments to autonomic control only occur when the lesion affects spinal sympathetic descending pathways.



Figure 1.5. Overview of the baroreceptor reflex

Baroreceptors send signals to the nucleus tractus solitarius resulting in adaptations in sympathetic activity (via the rostral ventrolateral medulla and the spinal cord) as well as the parasympathetic activity (via the nucleus ambiguous and the vagus nerve). Changes in autonomic activity result in changes in cardiac output and total peripheral resistance, and thus blood pressure. Baroreceptors respond to these changes in blood pressure, completing the feedback loop. Abbreviations: A1, group of noradrenergic cells; CVL, caudal ventrolateral medulla; IX, glossopharyngeal nerve; X vagus nerve. Adapted with permission from Benarroch 2008³¹.

Adaptations to cardiovascular autonomic pathways

In addition to the acute effects of SCI on cardiovascular autonomic pathways, interruption of these pathways leads to adaptations in many structures involved in autonomic control. Damage to sympathetic pathways reduces overall sympathetic activity and therefore catecholamine levels (specifically the neurotransmitter noradrenaline). However, the reduced input to the α -adrenoreceptors due to reduced activity from sympathetic postganglionic axons^{35,36}, makes those receptors more sensitive to noradrenaline. This hypersensitivity has been shown in both animal and human experiments. In humans it is known that individuals with cervical SCI have an enhanced pressor response to noradrenaline^{37,38}. These studies showed that the blood pressure response to a known concentration of noradrenaline was larger, and the concentration needed to increase blood pressure by a given amount was less in individuals with cervical SCI, indicating hypersensitivity of the α -adrenoreceptors^{37,38}. Another study showed α -adrenoreceptor hyperresponsiveness by determining the concentration of noradrenaline required to vasoconstrict the dorsal foot vein to half of the baseline diameter³⁹. They found that the concentration needed was six to seven times lower in individuals with cervical SCI compared to able-bodied controls³⁹.

In addition, sympathetic preganglionic neurons undergo morphological changes in response to reduced input from supraspinal centres. In a small study in humans, atrophy of the soma of sympathetic preganglionic neurons early after injury has been shown, which recovers with time after injury⁴⁰. The recovery can possibly be explained by sprouting of primary afferents in the dorsal root ganglion, which increases the input to the sympathetic preganglionic neurons⁴⁰. Investigations in rats have shown that the primary afferents in the dorsal root ganglion indeed show sprouting after complete spinal transection^{41,42} as well as after a severe compression induced SCI⁴³.

Other adaptations that contribute to counteract the limited ability to vasoconstrict due to damage to cardiovascular sympathetic autonomic pathways are seen in endothelin-1 and angiotensin II function^{44,45}. Endothelin-1 is an endothelium-derived factor that causes vasoconstriction and thus affects peripheral resistance. Thijssen et al. showed that blocking the receptors for endothelin-1 induced an increase in blood flow (e.g. vasodilation) in individuals with SCI, but not in able-bodied controls, suggesting an increased contribution of endothelin-1 to vascular tone⁴⁴. The same study showed that an exercise program reduced the effects of endothelin-1 on vascular tone, suggesting that the adaptations are in response to inactivity after SCI⁴⁴. Similarly angiotensin II is a hormone that causes vasoconstriction, but in able-bodied controls it does not regularly

contribute extensively to vascular resistance during orthostatic stress. In individuals with SCI, it has been shown that the effects of angiotensin II on vascular resistance are enhanced as the same blood pressure increase is reached with lower concentrations of angiotensin II^{38,45}.

Consequences for cardiovascular function

The main concerns of the altered cardiovascular autonomic control after SCI are the unopposed vagal activity to the heart, and the lack of sympathetic control over the vasculature. The consequences are most detrimental after lesions above T5, when sympathetic control over the splanchnic vascular bed is lost. Also, lesions above this level can lead to damage to the sympathetic control over the heart. This section describes how the functionality of the cardiovascular system is altered as a consequence of the changes in autonomic control.

Altered cardiac function

The unopposed vagal activity to the heart brings about a low resting heart rate and a limited heart rate reserve. These heart rate changes are accompanied by a decrease in contractility of the cardiac tissue, negatively affecting stroke volume and cardiac output^{46,47}. After a complete lesion of the autonomic pathways above T1, the predominant mechanism intact to increase heart rate (e.g. in response to exercise) is the withdrawal of the vagal tone. It has been shown that with maximum vagal withdrawal in the absence of sympathetic activity, the maximum heart rate is around 100 beats per minute⁴⁸. This is similar to peak heart rates found in individuals with cervical SCI⁴⁹.

Consequences of altered blood pressure control

Three main consequences of impaired blood pressure control after SCI are: a low supine blood pressure; orthostatic hypotension; and autonomic dysreflexia.

Low supine blood pressure

At rest in the supine position, the unopposed vagal activity to the heart and the sympathetic hypoactivity to the vasculature innervated by spinal sympathetic nerves below the lesion level, lead to a lower than normal blood pressure. Sympathetic activity at rest is generally low (but dependent on the severity of the injury), as quantified by

low resting plasma noradrenaline and adrenaline levels in individuals with a cervical SCI⁵⁰. These low blood pressures are seen in individuals with either acute or chronic SCI. In the acute phase, when the individual goes into spinal or neurogenic shock, the muscles undergo flaccid paralysis and neurogenic shock induces profound vasodilation and associated severe hypotension^{51,52}. However, neurogenic shock is not the only cause for the lowered blood pressure, because this phenomenon is seen in individuals with chronic SCI when the neurogenic shock has been relieved. Supine resting systolic arterial pressures between 95 and 114 mmHg in individuals with cervical lesions are reported, significantly lower than able-bodied controls⁵³⁻⁵⁶. In reality, values for resting blood pressure can actually be much lower taking a few considerations into account. These values are group averages including individuals with complete and incomplete lesions, who can have a normal supine blood pressure. Also, the clinical standard for blood pressure measurement is to record blood pressure in a seated position. The research studies in SCI populations normally record blood pressure in a supine position, because there is the risk for orthostatic hypotension and fainting in the seated position.

Orthostatic hypotension

In addition to a low supine blood pressure, individuals with SCI can also experience orthostatic hypotension (OH, see the example trace in Figure 1.6A). This refers to a further drop in blood pressure that occurs with a change in posture, often leading to symptoms such as light-headedness, dizziness and nausea, and can ultimately result in syncope (fainting). OH is traditionally defined as a decrease in systolic arterial pressure of 20 mmHg or more, or in diastolic arterial pressure of 10 mmHg or more⁵⁷ upon the transition from a supine to an upright posture. The mechanism underlying the development of OH in individuals with SCI is not well understood, however, there are likely multiple contributing factors. One of those factors is the disturbance of the normal baroreceptor reflex (Figure 1.5). A blood pressure drop due to venous pooling in the legs during a postural change is sensed normally by the baroreceptors, but when the reflex loop is interrupted in the spinal cord, heart rate and vascular resistance will fail to increase. Another contributing factor could be the enhanced venous pooling due to diminished skeletal muscle pump activity as a result of paralysis⁵⁰. During activation, skeletal muscles compress the veins and thus promote venous return to the heart when upright. This pumping action of the muscle is an important means of maintaining cardiac output during orthostatic stress in able-bodied individuals⁵⁰. The blood flow to the extremities is highly affected by muscle mass, and active muscle needs a greater blood supply. Blood flow into the paralyzed legs would therefore be decreased⁵⁸, but the effect of losing the muscle pump activity seems to override this decrease in blood flow. Spasticity in the muscles below the lesion is common after SCI and can be seen as a type of muscle pump activity (although not under voluntary control), but the influence of spasticity on venous return and OH is unknown.

Given the changes in blood pressure control described above, the problem of OH after SCI could be expected to be even more severe than reported. The most likely explanation for this less than expected severity of OH, is an increase in peripheral resistance during orthostatic stress, which appears despite the loss of sympathetic control over those vessels⁵⁹. Different mechanisms can potentially underlie this increase in peripheral resistance. Recent studies have ruled out the following mechanisms: a release of catecholamines from the adrenal medulla, because plasma catecholamine levels are low at rest and do not improve during orthostatic stress⁵⁰; reduced responses to endothelium-derived nitric oxide⁶⁰. Although an increase in catecholamine levels in response to orthostatic stress has been refuted, the α -adrenoreceptor hypersensitivity that occurs after SCI induces a stronger vasoconstriction response to a given plasma catecholamine III also contribute to the increased peripheral resistance during orthostatic stress^{44 45}.

The repeated episodes of hypotension that occur throughout the day have severe implications for quality of life, leading to feelings of general fatigue^{61,62}, difficulty in participating in activities of daily living⁶³ and even impaired cognitive function^{64,65}. OH is a very prevalent condition in individuals with lesions above T5, reported to occur in around 50% of the population⁵³. Another major implication of this condition is the fact that it interferes with rehabilitation. Illman et al. showed that the prevalence of OH was as high as 73.7% during rehabilitation sessions⁶³. In 33% of these sessions the signs and symptoms of OH were so severe that they were perceived as limiting the treatment⁶³.

Autonomic dysreflexia

In contrast to the two conditions described above, AD encompasses episodes of extremely high blood pressure evoked by sensory stimuli from below the lesion (see an example in Figure 1.6B). Systolic arterial pressures as high as 250-300 mmHg and diastolic arterial pressures of 200-220 mmHg have been reported⁶⁶. These episodes can be evoked by many different sensory stimuli, both noxious and non-noxious, such as a full urinary bladder, bowel stimulus, ingrown toenails, sexual stimuli, pressure sores or a bone fracture among many more⁶⁷. Common symptoms are pounding headache, sweating and flushing above the lesion and the opposite, goose bumps and pallor below the lesion. However, in some cases individuals with SCI do not experience any symptoms during an episode of AD. This is called 'silent' AD, and it is actually a very dangerous presentation of AD, because an asymptomatic individual will not seek treatment, and the hypertension can be left unchecked⁶⁸. AD is a condition that is specific to those with lesions above T6, because these lesions lead to impairment of sympathetic splanchnic vascular control and thus have the largest effect on blood pressure control⁶⁹.

A clear definition of AD has not yet been established. The first description of the condition involved symptoms such as sweating, and a rash of the head and the neck⁷⁰. Only much later did researchers start to include a measure of blood pressure into their criteria⁷¹, but the magnitude of the blood pressure increase considered diagnostic for AD still varies widely, ranging between a 20 to 40 mmHg rise in systolic pressure⁷². Including a measure of the magnitude of the blood pressure rise seems necessary, particularly given that symptoms are not always reported, as discussed above. The reported prevalence of AD in individuals with lesions above T6 is dependent on many factors, such as the definition used, research technique (laboratory examination or a survey), and completeness of the lesions⁶⁶. The variation in the reported prevalences is therefore large, but all reported values are high, ranging from 48% to 70%^{66,73}. Perhaps the most distressing aspect of this condition is that it is unavoidable, as it occurs in response to stimuli common in activities of daily living, and individuals thus experience episodes (almost) on a daily basis. The symptoms can be so profound and disturbing that it interferes with activities of daily living and normal sexual experiences.

Reflex loop underlying autonomic dysreflexia

The episodes of AD are caused by a spinal reflex (Figure 1.7), which in the able-bodied is normally inhibited by supraspinal centres. The sensory stimulus triggers a spinal reflex arc that induces widespread sympathetic activity, leading to elevated blood pressure in response to massive vasoconstriction. This increased blood pressure would, in an intact system, trigger baroreflex-mediated reduction of sympathetic excitation. Due to the disruption in the spinal sympathetic pathway, sympathetic activity below the lesion remains high. Therefore vasodilation arises above the lesion, as these regions are still under normal supraspinal control (resulting in facial flushing and a headache)⁶⁶.



Figure 1.6. Example traces of abnormal reflex control of blood pressure after spinal cord injury.

- A. Blood pressure recording from a 26-year-old male with a C5 AIS B SCI during an orthostatic challenge. During orthostasis the blood pressure progressively declines, meeting criteria for OH, with a nadir of 78 mmHg systolic pressure. Blood pressure recovers upon return to supine.
- B. Blood pressure recording from a 34-year-old male with C6 AIS A SCI during bladder voiding that triggered AD. During bladder voiding the blood pressure rapidly increases, with a peak of 173 mmHg systolic pressure. Blood pressure recovers after bladder voiding is completed.

Severe vasoconstriction and pilomotor activity as part of extreme general sympathetic activity emerges below the lesion, often resulting in pallor and goose bumps respectively⁶⁶. Extremely high sympathetic activity below the lesion level is accompanied by high vagal activity to the heart, as the vagal component of the efferent baroreflex arc continues to function normally. Therefore, it has classically been thought that AD is accompanied by bradycardia. However, when the connection between the brain and the sympathetic pathways to the heart is impaired (cervical lesions), a pathophysiological state arises where both sympathetic and parasympathetic activity to the heart are simultaneously elevated. In individuals with lesion levels between T1-T5 this connection between the brain and the cardiac spinal sympathetic neurons and excitation of the vagal nerve to the heart in response the blood pressure increase can thus still occur, leading to a decrease in heart rate. Figure 1.6 illustrates the reflex loop and how the disruption of sympathetic supraspinal control leads to AD.

AD has generally been thought to develop in a later phase of SCI, while it is believed that the damage to descending sympathetic pathways is not the only mechanism underlying this phenomenon. The adaptations in response to the damaged spinal sympathetic pathways, such as α -adrenergic hyper-responsiveness and sprouting of primary afferents, are proposed to play a role in the development of AD. In the same line of thought, reduced reuptake of noradrenaline is thought to contribute to increased response to sympathetic activity and development of AD⁷⁴. However, more recently, AD has also been identified during the acute phase of injury SCI, but the underlying mechanism remains unknown⁷⁵.



Figure 1.7. Schematic of the spinal reflex underlying autonomic dysreflexia

A sensory stimulus below the lesion triggers reflex sympathetic activity resulting in vasoconstriction and an increase in blood pressure. This increase in blood pressure triggers the baroreceptor reflex, but the spinal cord lesion blocks the inhibition of sympathetic activity. Adapted with permission from Blackmer 2003⁷⁶.

Impaired blood pressure responses to exercise

Similar to the heart rate response to exercise, the blood pressure response to exercise is also blunted. The normal increase in blood pressure with exercise is not seen in individuals with complete lesions to autonomic pathways above T6^{77,78}. This limits the performance of athletes with SCI (above T6). Some athletes use intentional induction of AD, commonly called 'boosting', to enhance their performance. This tactic has been shown to be effective in a research setting. Tetraplegic athletes were tested on a 7.5 kilometer simulated road race (wheeling) and performed significantly better in the boosted condition (over-distended bladder) improving their time by 9.7%⁷⁹. In this setting blood pressure was recorded and a safety protocol was in place, but of course this would not be the case in regular training or competition settings. The concept of

boosting is therefore still a topic of debate, where clinicians are concerned about the devastating medical consequences of the induced AD, and athletes are cognizant of the improvements in performance associated with boosting. The international Paralympic Committee prohibits athletes from competing in a dysreflexic state (intentionally induced or not), because of its classification as a health risk.

Assessment of autonomic function after injury

The standard assessment of severity of neurologic injury is primarily focused on motor and sensory function based on the American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) Impairment Scale (AIS). However, Claydon et al. showed that individuals with a complete injury to motor and sensory pathways (AIS A) did not necessarily have a complete injury with respect to autonomic pathways⁸⁰. Conversely, individuals with incomplete lesions determined by AIS score can show signs of damage to descending autonomic pathways. This neglect of assessing autonomic consequences of injury in the clinical setting is very worrisome. A separate assessment of autonomic function in addition to the AIS assessment is pertinent. In order to address this issue a group of experts from ASIA and the International Spinal Cord Society (ISCoS) created a document that provides diagnostic criteria for the symptoms of SCI with respect to cardiovascular, sudomotor, bladder, bowel, broncho-pulmonary and sexual function⁸¹. However, although this tool is a great benefit to implement evaluation of symptomatic clinical components of autonomic dysfunction after SCI, a quantitative tool for assessment of cardiovascular autonomic function is not (yet) incorporated in the standard clinical examination of SCI.

At present, there is no gold standard for measuring cardiovascular autonomic function after SCI. Several techniques for autonomic function testing such as the Valsalva manoeuvre, heart rate responses to deep breathing, and cardiovascular responses to sustained hand grip are not suitable for individuals with SCI in whom hand function as well as breathing can be impaired. The cold pressor test is another autonomic function test that is not suitable for those with SCI, because the cold-water stimulus when applied below the level of the lesion can trigger an episode of AD, masking the normal cardiovascular response.

22

Plasma noradrenaline

One technique that provides measurement of general sympathetic activity is measurement of the resting level of plasma noradrenaline, or noradrenaline spillover. Noradrenaline in the plasma represents (mostly) the spillover from noradrenaline released from sympathetic postganglionic fibres. It is the most used marker for sympathetic activity in humans, especially with the use of high-pressure liquid chromatography to determine plasma levels with strong accuracy⁸². Plasma noradrenaline can be tested at rest as well as during an orthostatic stress test, to determine the ability to increase sympathetic activity in response to an induced stress. Individuals with high-level SCI have been shown to have low resting levels of noradrenaline, and fail to increase plasma noradrenaline with orthostatic stress⁵³, compatible with severe injury to descending spinal sympathetic pathways. However, there are limitations to this technique: firstly, it is an invasive test and it provides a global index of sympathetic activity with no information on regional sympathetic function. Other limitations are at a more physiological level. The noradrenaline level in the plasma is not purely dependent on the secretion of the neurotransmitter from the nerve terminals, but also on clearance and reuptake processes^{83,84}. Thus, increased plasma NA may reflect not only increased release, but also decreased clearance or reuptake, and vice versa. However, in practice this caveat applies more to findings of unexpectedly high noradrenaline level, when clearance from the plasma is impaired⁸².

Muscle sympathetic nerve activity

Microneurography is a method which allows direct recording of spontaneous muscle sympathetic nerve activity from efferent postganglionic sympathetic nerve fibres (commonly from the peroneal or the brachial nerves)⁸⁵. This technique involves inserting a microelectrode into a single nerve fascicle with a reference electrode placed subcutaneously⁸⁶. The amplitude and the number of bursts of sympathetic activity are determined and multiplied to get the total burst amplitude. Sometimes the number of bursts is corrected for heart rate and expressed as burst incidence (the number of bursts per 100 heart beats)⁸². The main advantage of this technique is the ability to directly measure sympathetic activity and to record changes in activity with different manoeuvres stressing the system. The outcomes have also been shown to be highly reproducible in healthy volunteers⁸⁷. The major downside to this technique is that it is
an invasive and time-consuming procedure. It might therefore be a more useful technique in the laboratory setting than in a clinical setting.

Sympathetic skin responses

Another test of sympathetic activity is the measurement of sympathetic skin responses. This technique measures changes in electrical conduction of the skin (from the hands and feet) resulting from sympathetic sudomotor activity. Electrical stimuli imposed on the median nerve or tibial nerve trigger a reflex via afferents to the dorsal root ganglion and into the spinal cord, where input from intra- and supraspinal pathways is received, and finally to the sympathetic postganglionic neurons eliciting sudomotor activity. Cariga et al. found the involvement of supraspinal pathways to be necessary to elicit the sympathetic skin response, as their results showed that the isolated spinal cord could not generate the response, making this a technique suitable to identify the integrity of spinal sympathetic pathways⁸⁸. There remains some controversy in the literature regarding the involvement of supraspinal pathways as these responses have occasionally been found after stimulation below the lesion⁸⁹⁻⁹¹. The main limitation of this technique is that it investigates a cholinergic pathway and thus cannot be used to directly determine adrenergic function. Also, the response has been shown to be variable and dependent on the strength of the electrical stimulus (and habituation to the stimulus), and therefore the test usually needs to be repeated a number of times⁹².

Cutaneous vasomotor responses

In the same line as measuring sympathetic skin responses (sudomotor), the cutaneous vasomotor responses (e.g. decreased skin blood flow) to arousal stimuli have been proposed as a measurement to assess autonomic function after SCI^{89,91,93}. The vasomotor responses rely on sympathetic adrenergic pathways in contrast to the cholinergic pathways involved in the sudomotor response. Another difference between the two responses is that the vasomotor response involves a spinal reflex without necessary involvement of the supraspinal centres⁸⁹. A stimulus below the lesion would thus cause a response below the lesion, but when spinal sympathetic pathways are disrupted, a stimulus above the lesion would not cause a response below the lesion. Either laser Doppler flowmetry or pulse plethysmography can be used for detection of cutaneous vasomotor responses non-invasively⁹⁴.

Heart rate and blood pressure variability

Heart rate and blood pressure are not static signals; they undergo spontaneous fluctuations that are caused by different control systems, one of which is the autonomic nervous system. Analyzing these fluctuations in heart rate and blood pressure can therefore be used to determine autonomic function.

Spectral analysis is a mathematical operation that can be used to break down the measured heart rate variability (HRV) and blood pressure variability (BPV) into their frequency components. Three main frequencies have typically been identified; a high frequency (HF, ~ 0.25 Hz), a low frequency (LF, ~ 0.1 Hz), and a very low frequency $(VLF, \sim 0.01 \text{ Hz})^{95,96}$. The spectral powers at these frequencies, as quantified by spectral analysis, are used as parameters of autonomic function. The HF component of BPV has been shown to result from changes in intrathoracic pressure due to breathing, while the LF component results from sympathetic activity to resistance vessels^{95,96}. The VLF power is influenced by many different factors (e.g. heat stress, catecholamine levels, and hypovolemia), that seem to be linked to one common mechanism: the myogenic vascular response via L-type Ca^{2+} channel function⁹⁷. The mechanisms underlying the frequency components of HRV are different from those underlying BPV fluctuations. The HF component of HRV represents cardiovagal control, mediated largely through respiratory sinus arrhythmia^{95,96}. The VLF is (similar to the VLF in BPV) influenced by many different control systems such as thermoregulation, the renin-angiotensin system and endothelial factors. The origin of the LF power of HRV is still controversial, but is thought to be due to both vagal and sympathetic components of the baroreflex and to be linked to LF oscillations in BPV^{98,99}.

Given that systemic blood vessels that are important in blood pressure control are supplied exclusively by sympathetic axons, quantification of sympathetic function can be determined from the spectral power of the LF component of BPV. This measure has been shown to be well correlated with supine plasma noradrenaline¹⁰⁰. The advantage of this technique is that it is non-invasive and fairly easy to record in a clinical setting. It can also be used to quantify changes in autonomic function from the resting state to different stress situations. A downside to this technique is that different algorithms can be used, as well as different lengths of data recordings, that could influence the

results⁸⁶. The technique also requires data recordings in a 'steady' state⁹⁵; inherently there will be fluctuations in the signal, but data should be recorded in a fairly steady state instead of during a sudden change in blood pressure or heart rate (e.g. during a stress manoeuvre).

We chose to use plasma noradrenaline and spectral analyses of HRV and BPV to determine autonomic function in individuals with SCI. Both have been well documented as measurements of sympathetic function, and both are easy to measure in a clinical setting. Spectral values of HRV and BPV are shown to be highly reproducible in individuals with SCI¹⁰¹ and can also detect alterations in cardiovascular autonomic function in rodents with SCI²⁸. As there is not yet a gold standard for the evaluation of autonomic function after SCI, using these two techniques in combination can be beneficial in providing a more comprehensive assessment of autonomic function.

Relationship between cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction and cardiovascular disease risk

As discussed previously, the evidence is slowly growing that the increased risk of CVD after SCI is related to cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction. There are many different ways in which cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction can have an impact on CVD risk. Firstly, episodes of AD can have devastating consequences like stroke, cardiac arrest, myocardial ischaemia, or even death¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁶. High level SCI and the related abnormal autonomic control of the cardiovascular system has also been associated with modulations in cardiac electrophysiology and increased risk of cardiac arrhythmias^{107,108}. In addition to these direct relationships between autonomic dysfunction and CVD risk, the blood pressure control issues and inability to increase heart rate normally may lead to both decreased participation in physical activity and poor exercise tolerance. These changes in lifestyle might lead to increases in adiposity and abnormalities in metabolism. The next paragraphs describe these links in more detail, starting with the consequences of AD.

Consequences of autonomic dysreflexia

Episodes of AD can be severe and even life threatening. It is important to recognize the symptoms and subsequently discover the stimulus that triggers the reflex. When this

stimulus can be found and relieved, the blood pressure will return to the resting level quickly. Particular problems arise when the individual does not have any symptoms (silent AD⁶⁸) or when the stimulus cannot be quickly removed (e.g. a bone fracture or when the individual has limited motor function and is unable to address the triggering stimulus without assistance). In these cases an episode of AD can become life threatening. Serious events like seizures and cerebral hemorrhage have been described, in some cases even leading to death^{109,110}. Another serious complication reported is myocardial ischemia, and angina pectoris, that may go untreated due to loss of sensory function as a consequence of SCI¹¹¹. Also, neurogenic pulmonary edema has been reported as a complication of AD; this was thought to be due to the prolonged vasoconstriction, specifically in the pulmonary veins, which increases the capillary hydrostatic pressure producing pulmonary edema¹¹².

Even in the cases that the episodes are recognized and the stimuli found and relieved fairly quickly, the frequent episodes of very high blood pressure have a negative impact on the vasculature. The high pressures are in great contrast to the low resting blood pressure and could cause increased shear stress and related damage to the endothelial layer of the vascular wall.

Elevated risk of cardiac arrhythmias

The occurrence of arrhythmias in individuals with SCI is more apparent during episodes of AD, when both parasympathetic and sympathetic tone are high⁸⁰. Widespread and uncontrolled sympathetic activity leads to extreme hypertension, but also increases the dispersion of ventricular repolarization between the different layers in the ventricular wall, increasing the likelihood of re-entry arrhythmias¹¹³. An increase in transmural dispersion of ventricular repolarization (TDR) has been shown to be a substrate for ventricular arrhythmias, specifically Torsade des Pointes^{114,115}.

TDR corresponds to the difference in timing and duration of repolarization in the different layers of the ventricular wall. The myocardium is heterogeneous in composition of cells and these different cell layers repolarize at different rates. The epicardium is the first to repolarize, followed by the endocardium, leaving the mid-myocardial (M) cells to repolarize last. Antzelevitch et al. have shown in canine wedge models that the differences in repolarization between the layers of the ventricular wall determine the

morphology of the T wave on the electrocardiograph (ECG)¹¹⁴. The peak of the T wave corresponds to when the epicardial cells are fully repolarized and the end of the T wave to when the M cells finally return to the resting membrane potential. The T_{peak} - T_{end} interval on the ECG is consequently thought to correspond to TDR, the duration between the first layer to be repolarized and the last cell layer to return to resting potential (Figure 1.8). The differences in repolarization properties of the different layers of the ventricular wall can be accentuated by extreme autonomic nervous system activity (both sympathetic and parasympathetic) to the heart (such as during AD)¹¹³. When TDR increases, a substrate for re-entry between the different layers of the ventricular wall is created, because current can flow from the depolarized ventricular cells to the repolarized ventricular cells, which could lead to a new action potential (afterdepolarisation). Hence, T_{peak} - T_{end} can be used as a risk assessment parameter for ventricular arrhythmias¹¹⁶.

In addition to a higher risk of ventricular arrhythmias, atrial arrhythmias such as atrial fibrillation are more common in individuals with SCI, and this also particularly occurs during AD¹¹⁷. The predisposition to atrial fibrillation during AD is thought to be related to an altered pattern of repolarization in the atria¹¹⁷. The pattern of repolarization in the atria can be studied in two different domains, the spatial domain and the time domain. In the spatial domain, an inhomogeneous prolongation of propagation of sinus impulses in the atria is associated with atrial fibrillation¹¹⁸. It is proposed that this inhomogeneous atrial conduction could be identified by variation in P wave duration in differently oriented surface ECG leads, a measure called P wave dispersion (PWD). P wave dispersion is defined as the difference between the maximum P wave duration and the minimum P wave duration on a 12-lead ECG^{118,119}. PWD is therefore thought to be a predictor for atrial fibrillation. In the time domain, we propose to study atrial conduction by means of the variability over time in atrial conduction is associated with atrial arrhythmia and this parameter could be used as a predictor for risk of atrial arrhythmia.



Figure 1.8. Action potentials of ventricular cell layers and the corresponding electrocardiograph.

A schematic representation of the action potentials of the different layers of the ventricular wall (top panel) on the same timeline with a schematic representation of an electrocardiograph (bottom panel). The action potential of the endocardium (green line) is initiated first, followed by the action potential of the M cells (red line) and the epicardial action potential (black line). When the first cell layer (the epicardium) completes repolarization, the potential difference between the cell layers is largest, which correlates to the peak of the T wave. As the other cell layers repolarize, the potential difference decreases, correlating to decreasing T wave amplitude. The end of the T wave occurs when the last cell layer has returned (end of the action potential of the M cells) to resting membrane potential.

Interaction effects between autonomic dysfunction and lifestyle

In addition to paralysis, secondary complications due to autonomic dysfunction may cause individuals with SCI to lead a more sedentary lifestyle. Fatigue and concentration problems associated with supine and orthostatic hypotension can limit the ability for individuals with SCI to participate in physical activity. Concurrently, the limited ability to increase heart rate and blood pressure may lead to poorer exercise tolerance even in the presence of a strong motivation to exercise. The associations between features such as a sedentary lifestyle, abnormalities in metabolism, and subsequent increases in adiposity, and risk for CVD, is well established in the able-bodied population¹²⁰⁻¹²². In a large longitudinal study following individuals with SCI from the start of rehabilitation, de Groot et al^{26,123} showed a correlation between lipid profiles and physical capacity, indicating that individuals who are better able to engage in physical activity have more favourable lipid profiles. People with higher-level lesions, less motor control and greater severity of autonomic dysfunction, who are more likely to be limited in engaging in

strenuous physical activity, would thus be more prone to adverse lipid profiles. The same group also showed a relationship between physical activity levels and CVD risk factors²³. They did not, however, examine the impact of autonomic dysfunction on these outcome measures.

Impaired glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes are more prevalent in individuals with SCI compared to able-bodied controls¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶. Fasting glucose levels are mostly within the normal range, but individuals with SCI are shown to be more insulin resistant¹²⁵⁻¹²⁷. Interestingly, in the able-bodied population, β -adrenergic stimulation induces insulin resistance^{127,128}. Accordingly, the low resting sympathetic activity in individuals with autonomic dysfunction after SCI would be expected to be favorable in terms of insulin resistance, although the extremely high levels of sympathetic activity encountered during AD might worsen insulin resistance.

The susceptibility to adverse lipid profiles is greater for individuals with SCI. Both increased low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) as well as reduced levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) are shown to be more prevalent in individuals with SCI, particularly in those with tetraplegia¹²⁵. Similar to the able-bodied population, a larger abdominal circumference increases the likelihood of an adverse HDL-C level^{124,129}. Physical activity also favourably impacts lipid profiles in individuals with SCI in a similar manner to the able-bodied population; regular moderate-intensity wheelchair ergometry exercise improves HDL-C¹³⁰. However, any potential relationships between lipid profiles and autonomic function after SCI remain to be investigated.

Obesity and obesity-related cardiovascular disease risk factors

As mentioned previously, individuals with SCI tend to have more sedentary lifestyles, in part due to secondary complications after injury. Also, resting metabolic rate (RMR) is decreased in individuals with SCI ¹³¹. The decrease in RMR could be explained in several ways. RMR is associated with lean body mass, and individuals with SCI who experience muscle atrophy and thus lose lean mass, will consequently have a lower RMR. Another explanation entails the effect of autonomic dysfunction after SCI on the normal action of leptin. Leptin is a protein that is produced primarily by adipocytes and it regulates body adiposity by inhibiting food intake and increasing energy expenditure. Leptin acts indirectly via the central nervous system, where it causes an increase in sympathetic

activity. When supraspinal control of the sympathetic pathways is disturbed, leptin's action to regulate energy expenditure will be impaired. Jeon et al. showed an increase in leptin levels in individuals with cervical SCI, but the normal correlation between leptin and RMR was not present in the SCI group¹³². Thus, the higher plasma leptin levels in individuals with SCI did not lead to an increase in RMR as would be expected in the able-bodied, indicating an impaired action of leptin.

For these reasons, the prevalence of obesity has been thought to be elevated in this population, and studies have reported a prevalence ranging between 40 and 66%¹³³. However, it remains challenging to accurately determine obesity in individuals with SCI¹³⁴. Commonly used parameters such as body mass index (BMI) and waist circumference (WC) have limitations in practicality of use and accuracy to determine obesity¹³⁵⁻¹³⁷. Measuring BMI in individuals with SCI requires the use of wheelchair scale and an accurate measure of height (or length). Furthermore, the BMI cut-offs for obesity used in the able-bodied population are thought to underestimate obesity in individuals with SCI^{136,137}. Other direct measures of body fat mass such as dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA), hydrostatic weighing or MRI are valid methods, but are very expensive and not readily available to most individuals with SCI.

In summary, SCI remains a devastating, lifelong condition that impairs quality of life and is associated with impaired autonomic function. Cardiovascular dysfunction is a common complication of SCI, and cardiovascular morbidity and mortality is amplified and has an earlier onset and more rapid progression than in the general population²². The mechanisms underlying these consequences of SCI remain unclear. Injury to cardiovascular autonomic pathways may play an important role, but this is not well studied. The general aim of my thesis is, therefore, to explore the role of cardiovascular autonomic impairment after SCI in CVD in individuals with SCI.

Outline of this thesis

In order to address the main question of this thesis, it is important to evaluate the full extent of cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction after SCI. As explained above, autonomic function is not incorporated in the standard neurological assessment of injury. Therefore, not much is known about the prevalence or changes over time in cardiovascular dysfunction. In *Chapter 2*, the aim is to investigate the time course of changes in cardiovascular parameters and the prevalence of hypotension over time after injury.

Next, in *Chapter 3* the aim is to evaluate the relationship between cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction and risk factors for CVD following SCI, as well as the interactions between these variables and physical activity levels.

Chapters 4 and 5 aim to explore new risk assessment parameters that are specific to the SCI population, for obesity related CVD risk and for cardiac arrhythmias.

Obesity is well established as an important risk factor for CVD. In individuals with SCI, obesity is believed to be more prevalent as a result of a more sedentary lifestyle and altered metabolism due to autonomic dysfunction. However, an anthropometric marker to define obesity and obesity-related CVD risk including a cut off specific to this population is not available. *Chapter 4* aims to identify the best marker to detect adiposity and elevated CVD risk, considering practicality of use for individuals with SCI.

Modulation of cardiac electrophysiology as a consequence of autonomic dysfunction is associated with increased risk for cardiac arrhythmias after SCI. The electrocardiograph (ECG) can potentially be used to identify those individuals at risk for developing arrhythmias, particularly during episodes of AD. The aim in *Chapter 5* is therefore to evaluate the relationships between cardiovascular autonomic control and new ECGbased risk assessment parameters for the propensity to develop arrhythmias after SCI.

Chapter 2.

Prevalence and progression of cardiovascular dysfunction after spinal cord injury

Introduction

Autonomic dysfunction is common after spinal cord injury (SCI), but this has traditionally been an under-researched area compared to motor and sensory dysfunction. Indeed, these issues have only recently gained significant attention in the research arena¹³⁸. This is particularly pertinent given that two surveys have shown that individuals with SCI consider that their quality of life would improve significantly with regaining autonomic functions like bowel, bladder, sexual function^{21,139} and the resolution of cardiovascular dysfunction such as autonomic dysreflexia (AD, sudden and profound hypertension in response to sensory stimuli from below the lesion)²¹.

Cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction is a particular concern after SCI⁵². With high-level lesions (at or above the fifth thoracic level, T5), disruption of descending spinal sympathetic pathways can result in basal sympathetic hypoactivity with unopposed parasympathetic control to the heart¹⁷. This leads to impaired blood pressure control, manifested by low supine blood pressure, orthostatic hypotension (OH, further profound falls in blood pressure when upright) and bouts of extremely high blood pressure during AD⁵³. There may also be an increased risk for cardiac arrhythmia due to autonomic imbalance after SCI^{107,140}. Although AD and arrhythmia can have serious consequences, the repeated episodes of severe hypotension that occur throughout the day can be particularly troublesome in terms of quality of life, leading to feelings of general fatigue^{61,62}, difficulty participating in activities of daily living and rehabilitation⁶³, and impaired cognitive function^{64,65}.

Impairment of cardiovascular autonomic pathways is not quantified by the standard assessment of severity of SCI, the AIS assessment¹⁴¹. Resting blood pressure and heart

rate can, however, be used as relatively simple measures indicating severity of impairment to cardiovascular sympathetic pathways. A negative correlation between resting blood pressure and the level of the SCI has been shown previously^{53,138,142}. The peak heart rate that can be achieved during exercise is decreased if sympathetic control of the heart is abolished after SCI (usually only in those with lesions at or above T5), with exercise-induced increases in heart rate presumably achieved by vagal withdrawal. Indeed, the peak exercise heart rate achieved after autonomically complete SCI above T5 (approximately 105 BPM)⁴⁹ is comparable to that of able-bodied controls during complete vagal blockade (approximately 100 BPM)⁴⁸.

To the best of our knowledge it is unknown how the prevalence of hypotension and resting blood pressure and heart rate change with time after acute SCI. One recent cross-sectional study did examine cardiovascular parameters in a large cohort of individuals with SCI⁵⁴ and found that individuals with high level lesions or who had been injured for longer periods of time had lower blood pressures. Men with SCI were reported to have higher blood pressures and lower heart rates than women. However, in this study only individuals with incomplete lesions to motor and sensory pathways were examined, and any changes in cardiovascular control with time after injury, or during inpatient rehabilitation were not examined. Therefore, the objectives of our study are: (i) to determine the prevalence of hypotension in individuals with SCI during and after inpatient rehabilitation; (ii) to investigate the time course of resting blood pressure and heart rate, and peak heart rate changes with exercise, during inpatient rehabilitation and for up to 5 years after discharge; (iii) to evaluate the influence of personal (age, sex) and lesion (level and completeness) characteristics on hypotension, resting blood pressure and heart rate, and peak heart rate.

Methods

Participants

This study was part of the Dutch prospective cohort study "Physical strain, work capacity and mechanisms of restoration of mobility in the rehabilitation of persons with SCI"¹⁴³. The study comprised five measurement sessions. Ethics approval was received from the medical ethics committee of SRL/iRv Hoensbroeck for the first four measurements and the medical ethics committee of the University Medical Center Utrecht approved the addition of the fifth measurement. This study also received ethical approval from the Simon Fraser University Department of Research Ethics for retrospective analysis of the data. All investigations were performed in association with the Declaration of Helsinki of the World Medical Association. All participants gave written informed consent.

We recruited participants from eight rehabilitation centres that are specialized in SCI rehabilitation in the Netherlands. Individuals were eligible to participate if they: had an acute traumatic or non-traumatic SCI; were between the ages of 18 and 65 years; were classified as A, B, C or D on the AIS scale¹⁴⁴; were expected to remain wheelchair dependent; did not have a progressive disease or psychiatric problem; had sufficient understanding of the Dutch language to understand the purpose of the study and the testing methods. In this study we excluded participants with known pre-existing cardiovascular disease, diabetes mellitus or cardiac diseases from our analyses. We included participants on whom we obtained data for blood pressure and supine and peak heart rate on at least two of the five occasions.

Design

Data were collected at five different occasions: at the start of active rehabilitation, when participants could sit for three-to-four hours (start of rehabilitation); three months later (3 months); at discharge from inpatient rehabilitation (discharge); one year after discharge (1 year); and five years after discharge (5 years). Trained research assistants with paramedical backgrounds collected the data using standardized procedures at the different sites.

Cardiovascular parameters

A physician recorded resting systolic (SAP) and diastolic (DAP) arterial pressure using a manual sphygmomanometer while participants were seated in their wheelchair. The measurements were recorded once, at the same time of the day during every visit. Participants were asked to eat a light meal only, to refrain from smoking and drinking caffeine or alcohol for 2 hours before testing, and to void their bladders. Participants continued taking their regular medications. We determined prevalence of hypotension using World Health Organization (WHO) criteria¹⁴⁵: for men: SAP <110 mmHg; for women: SAP<100 mmHg. Resting heart rate (HR_{rest}) and peak heart rate (HR_{peak}) were recorded using a heart rate monitor (Polar Sport tester, Polar Electro Inc., Kempele,

Finland) before and during a graded maximal aerobic capacity test. The prevalence of resting bradycardia (using two cut-offs: <60 BPM and <50 BPM) was determined, as well as the prevalence of elevated resting heart rate (>80 BPM) and tachycardia (>100 BPM). Prevalence data are reported for the SCI group as a whole, and for three subgroups defined according to lesion level.

Measures of maximal aerobic capacity were obtained during a standardized peak wheelchair exercise test on a treadmill¹⁴⁶. The test was preceded by five minutes of rest, seated in the testing wheelchair. As before, participants had a light meal before testing, abstained from caffeine and alcohol for at least two hours before the test, and emptied their bladder before the test. The HR_{rest} was determined as the mean over the last 30 seconds of this five-minute rest period (this rest period was not immediately followed by the onset of exercise, to avoid an anticipatory heart rate response to upcoming peak physical activity). During the determination of the maximal capacity the speed of the treadmill stayed constant and was set at 2 km/h for individuals with tetraplegia and at 4 km/h for individuals with paraplegia; 3 km/h was used in cases where the other options were too slow or too fast for the individual. The treadmill incline was increased by 0.36° every minute until the test was terminated due to exhaustion or inability to keep pace with the speed. The complete testing protocol and equipment used for the aerobic capacity test have been described previously by Kilkens et al.¹⁴⁶. The HR_{peak} was determined as the highest five-second average HR measured during the entire test.

Personal and lesion characteristics

Age, sex and lesion characteristics were collected at the start of rehabilitation and at discharge. A physiatrist determined lesion characteristics (level and motor/sensory completeness) using AIS criteria¹⁴⁴. Cardiac sympathetic innervation arises from spinal segments T1-T5¹⁷. Therefore, participants were divided into three subgroups according to lesion level at discharge from rehabilitation: individuals with cervical lesions (cervical); lesions at the levels T1-T5 (high thoracic) and lesions at T6 or below (low). In the cervical lesion group supraspinal control to sympathetic pathways to both the heart and vascular system can be impaired; the high thoracic group can have damage to some sympathetic pathways to the heart and the main components of the vascular system in terms of blood pressure control; the low injury level group will have spared control of

the sympathetic pathways to the heart and major vascular beds controlling blood pressure ^{17,52}. We defined a lesion as complete when participants were graded as AIS A and incomplete when they were graded as AIS B, C or D at discharge from rehabilitation.

Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics (means and standard deviations (SD)) were determined for SAP, DAP, HR_{rest} and HR_{peak} for all test occasions and per subgroup. Changes in SAP, DAP, HR_{rest} and HR_{peak} were studied using random coefficient analysis (MLwiN)^{147,148}, with three levels (centre, participant, test occasion). The dependent variables of this regression analysis were the blood pressure or heart rate variables. Firstly, SAP, DAP, HR_{rest} or HR_{peak} were modelled over time using time periods as categorical variables (dummy) with discharge as the reference, to be able to distinguish between changes the predicted change in blood pressure or heart rate over that time period.

Secondly, the longitudinal relationships were investigated between blood pressure or heart rate with lesion and personal characteristics, using univariate analyses. Lesion level (two dummies with the low lesion group as reference and then in a subsequent analysis with the cervical lesion group as reference to be able to compare all three groups), motor completeness of the lesion (incomplete=0, complete=1), age (continuous variable), and sex (women=0, men=1) were used as independent variables in this second phase of analysis. Independent variables that showed a p-value below 0.1 were added to the multivariate model, followed by a backward elimination technique until only significant determinants remained (p<0.05). This final multivariate model, however, always included the two lesion dummy variables using the low lesion group as reference.

To study the interaction effects of personal or lesion characteristics with time, the time dummies, the personal or lesion characteristics, and their interactions were entered in models with SAP, DAP, HR_{rest} and HR_{peak} as dependent variables.

The same analyses were performed with a binomial random coefficient analysis to investigate the change in the percentage of participants that were hypotensive (no hypotension=0, hypotension=1) during and after rehabilitation. These analyses were

also performed for bradycardia (<60 BPM and <50 BPM), elevated heart rate (>80 BPM) and tachycardia (>100 BPM).

Results

Participants

A total of 197 individuals participated in the study on two or more test occasions. Participant characteristics are described in Table 2.1. The total number of participants per test/occasion (blood pressure and maximal aerobic capacity test) varied between 59 and 194 (Table 2.2). Of all participants at discharge, 40% had a cervical lesion, 19% a high thoracic and 41% a low level lesion. At discharge, 47% of the participants had a complete lesion (AIS A) and 53% had incomplete lesions (AIS B, C or D). The average age at discharge was 40.0 years (SD 14.1) and the average time since injury was 322.4 days (SD 159.7). Of our sample, 74% were male.

	Sta rehabi (n=	rt of ilitation 194)	3 mo la (n=	onths ter 143)	Discharge from rehabilitation (n=174)		1 year after discharge (n=136)		5 years after discharge (n=110)	
	%	Mean (SD)	%	Mean (SD)	%	Mean (SD)	%	Mean (SD)	%	Mean (SD)
Male sex	73.2		75.5		72.4		72.1		74.5	
Age (years)		40 (14)		41 (14)		40 (14)		41 (14)		44 (13)
Time since injury (days)		100 (75)		204 (75)		322 (160)		716 (172)		2379 (256)
Lesion level										
Cervical	39.7		47.6		37.9		35.3		36.4	
High thoracic	19.6		21.7		19.5		22.1		16.4	
Low level	40.7		30.7		42.4		42.6		47.2	
Lesion complet	eness									
AIS A	45.7		46.5		51.4		53.3		59.3	
AIS B,C,D	53.3		53.5		48.6		48.6		40.7	

Table 2.1.	Participant characteristics
------------	-----------------------------

	Stal reh	rt of active abilitation	3 m	onths later	Disc reh	charge from abilitation	, ,	year after lischarge	5 years	after discharge
	۲	Mean (SD)	۲	Mean (SD)	L	Mean (SD)	L	Mean (SD)	L	Mean (SD)
All participants										
SAP (mmHg)	194	119 (16)	143	120 (16)	174	119 (16)	136	120 (20)	110	121 (20)
DAP (mmHg)	194	70 (11)	143	70 (11)	174	71 (12)	136	77 (12)	110	76 (12)
HR _{rest} (BPM)	109	85 (15)	94	80 (14)	122	77 (14)	06	78 (13)	60	72 (13)
HR _{peak} (BPM)	97	142 (26)	89	144 (29)	121	143 (29)	85	150 (31)	59	149 (31)
Participants with	n cervic	al lesions								
SAP (mmHg)	17	115 (17)	68	117 (17)	66	117 (18)	48	111 (22)	40	111 (21)
DAP (mmHg)	77	65 (10)	68	67 (11)	66	68 (12)	48	72 (12)	40	70 (13)
HR _{rest} (BPM)	27	74 (13)	29	71 (12)	36	67 (11)	18	67 (12)	15	59 (12)
HR _{peak} (BPM)	19	111 (17)	25	114 (22)	36	114 (19)	17	118 (27	14	109 (15)
Participants with	n high tl	horacic lesion:	6							
SAP (mmHg)	38	122 (17)	31	124 (18)	34	118 (15)	30	124 (21)	18	122 (15)
DAP (mmHg)	38	72 (12)	31	73 (13)	34	72 (12)	30	78 (12)	18	78 (7)
HR _{rest} (BPM)	24	90 (19)	23	83 (16)	21	83 (16)	21	82 (12)	13	75 (8)
HR _{peak} (BPM)	24	146 (27)	23	152 (26)	21	153 (25)	20	148 (27)	13	146 (25)
Participants with	n low le	vel lesions								
SAP (mmHg)	79	121 (14)	44	121 (12)	74	122 (14)	58	125 (16)	52	127 (18)
DAP (mmHg)	79	73 (10)	44	74 (10)	74	73 (10)	58	80 (12)	52	80 (10)
HR _{rest} (BPM)	58	88 (11)	42	85 (12)	65	80 (11)	51	81 (12)	32	77 (11)
HR _{peak} (BPM)	54	151 (20)	41	159 (18)	64	157 (22)	48	161 (26)	32	167 (19)

 Table 2.2.
 Cardiovascular variables at all test occasions according to lesion level

Note Systolic (SAP) and diastolic arterial pressure (DAP), peak (HR_{peak}) and resting heart rate (HR_{rest}), on different test occasions. Data are presented for the group as a whole and for the subgroups divided according to lesion level.

Time course and determinants of systolic and diastolic arterial pressure

The time course of changes in SAP and DAP can be seen in Table 2.2. We found no significant change over time in SAP (Figure 2.1 and Table 2.3). DAP did not change during the period of rehabilitation, but increased in the first five years after discharge. Of the personal and lesion characteristics, age and lesion level were related to both SAP and DAP. For every 10-year increase in age, the SAP increased 3.6 mmHg and the DAP increased 1.7 mmHg (Table 2.3). Both SAP and DAP were significantly lower in those with cervical lesions compared to those with high thoracic and low-level lesions. Also, the DAP in the high thoracic group was significantly lower compared to the low level group (Figure 2.1A and B).

We found an interaction effect between time and lesion level for SAP but not for DAP. In those with cervical lesions, SAP decreased after discharge, whereas in those with low lesions it increased. Also, the time course of the blood pressure change between discharge and one year was different in those with cervical and high thoracic lesions; SAP in those with high thoracic lesions increased from discharge to one year afterwards (Figure 2.1A), whereas in those with cervical lesions it did not. The time course from discharge to five years after did not differ between those with cervical and high thoracic lesions. No other interaction effects between time and any personal or lesion characteristics were found.



Figure 2.1. Modelled data for systolic and diastolic arterial pressure.

- A. Modelled interaction between time course and lesion level for SAP. The change over time from discharge to 1 year is significantly different (p= 0.03 and 0.02 respectively) between the cervical and low lesion groups (*) and between cervical and high thoracic groups (†). The change over time from discharge to 5 years is significantly different (p= 0.02) between cervical and low lesion groups (*). In the cervical group SAP decreases after discharge, while in the high thoracic and low level lesion group it increases.
- B. Modelled time course for DAP during and after rehabilitation. DAP is significantly lower (p < 0.001 and p = 0.03 respectively) in both cervical and high thoracic groups compared to the low lesion group (§) and significantly higher (p < 0.001) in the high thoracic lesion group compared to the cervical group (‡).

Time course and determinants of resting and peak heart rate

 HR_{rest} and HR_{peak} over time can be seen in Table 2.2. We did not find a significant change over time in HR_{peak} after discharge, but we found an increase during rehabilitation (Figure 2.2 and Table 2.3). HR_{rest} decreased significantly during inpatient rehabilitation and decreased further from time of discharge to five years after discharge. Of the personal and lesion characteristics, only lesion level was related to both HR_{peak} and HR_{rest} after the backward elimination technique. Both HR_{peak} and HR_{rest} were lower in those with cervical lesions compared to those with low level and high thoracic lesions (Figure 2.2A and B). Also, HR_{peak} was lower in those with high thoracic lesions compared to those with low lesions (Figure 2.2B). Age was related to HR_{peak} only; HR_{peak} decreased by 5.2 BPM for every 10-year increase in age. We found no significant interaction effects between time and any personal or lesion characteristics.

	S	AP	D	AP	HR _{peak}		HR _{rest}	
	ß (SE)	р	ß (SE)	р	ß (SE)	р	ß (SE)	р
Intercept	110.7 (2.41)		67.7 (1.46)		178.5 (3.92)		81.0 (1.72)	
Δ start-discharge	0.07 (1.67)	0.97	-1.15 (1.12)	0.30	-5.96 (2.84)	0.04	7.49 (1.58)	<0.001
Δ 3 month- discharge	1.72 (1.81)	0.34	0.01 (1.21)	0.99	0.55 (2.91)	0.85	3.60 (1.65)	0.03
Δ discharge-1 year	0.72 (1.83)	0.69	5.46 (1.22)	<0.001	1.18 (2.96)	0.69	0.34 (1.67)	0.84
Δ discharge -5 years	0.08 (1.95)	0.97	4.20 (1.31)	<0.001	5.77 (3.34)	0.08	-4.97 (1.92)	<0.01
Δ cervical-low level	-10.01 (1.35)	<0.001	-7.87 (0.87)	<0.001	-46.77 (2.48)	<0.001	-15.69 (1.39)	<0.001
Δ high thoracic-low level	-2.15 (1.62)	0.18	-2.23 (1.07)	0.03	-9.48 (2.53)	<0.001	-0.01 (1.45)	0.99
Completeness	-3.91 (1.25)	<0.01	NE		NE		NE	
Age	0.36 (0.04)	<0.001	0.17 (0.03)	<0.001	-0.52 (0.07)	<0.001	NE	

 Table 2.3.
 Blood pressure and heart rate regression analyses results

Note: Results from the random coefficient analysis for SAP, DAP, HR_{peak} and HR_{rest} after backward elimination. Shown are regression coefficients (β) and their standard errors (SE) representing the change in the outcome measure associated with an increase of one unit in the independent variable. The time and lesion level dummies indicate a change between the two test occasions and the two lesion levels respectively. NE: not entered.



Figure 2.2. Modelled data for resting and peak heart rate

- A. Modelled time course of HR_{rest} during and after rehabilitation. There is a minimal difference between low level and high thoracic groups (the lines are overlapping). The cervical group has significantly lower (p<0.001) HR_{rest} then the low lesion group (§).
- B. Modelled time course of HR_{peak} during and after rehabilitation. The cervical and high thoracic groups have significantly lower (p<0.001) HR_{peak} compared to the low lesion group (§). The high thoracic group has significantly higher (p<0.001) HR_{peak} compared to the cervical lesion group (‡).

Prevalence of hypotension

Overall, 33% of the participants had hypotension at the start of rehabilitation according to WHO criteria¹⁴⁵. Table 2.4 shows the prevalence of hypotension at the different test occasions and for the different lesion groups.

We did not find a significant change in the prevalence of hypotension over time. Table 2.5 shows the final regression model. The odds of having hypotension were 4.18 times greater in those with cervical lesions compared to those with low lesions and 1.64 times greater in individuals with high thoracic lesions compared to those with low lesions. The odds were 2.70 times greater in individuals with cervical lesions compared to high thoracic lesions. Also, the prevalence of hypotension decreased with age; the odds were 0.75 times greater for every 10-year increase in age. Men had 2.24 times the odds of having hypotension compared to women. Completeness of injury as determined by AIS classification did not influence the odds of having hypotension.

Prevalence of bradycardia, elevated heart rate, and tachycardia

Due to the low number of positive outcomes for bradycardia (<50 BPM) and tachycardia (>100 BPM), it was not possible to run the binomial random coefficient analysis on these variables. The descriptive values for these prevalence data are shown in Table 4. We did not find a significant change in the prevalence of bradycardia (<60 BPM) over time (Table 2.5). The odds of having bradycardia were significantly greater in those with cervical lesions compared to those with low lesions, and in those with high thoracic lesions compared to those with low lesions. Age, sex and completeness of injury by AIS classification did not influence the odds for bradycardia. The prevalence of an elevated HR decreased during and after rehabilitation (Table 2.4). The odds of having an elevated HR was significantly lower in those with cervical lesions compared to low lesions. Age, sex and completeness of injury by AIS classification did not influence the odds for bradycardia. The prevalence of an elevated HR decreased during and after rehabilitation (Table 2.4). The odds of having an elevated HR was significantly lower in those with cervical lesions compared to low lesions. Age, sex and completeness of injury by AIS classification did not influence the odds for an elevated HR. Table 2.5 shows the final regression model.

	Start of active rehabilitation	3 months later	Discharge from rehabilitation	1 year after discharge	5 years after discharge
All participants					
Hypotension (%)	33.0	21.3	27.4	18.3	13.7
Bradycardia <50 BPM (%)	0	2.1	1.6	2.2	6.7
Bradycardia <60 BPM (%)	4.5	8.5	8.1	6.7	16.7
Elevated HR >80 BPM (%)	62.4	48.9	33.6	40.0	26.7
Tachycardia >100 BPM (%)	13.8	8.5	6.6	6.7	1.7
Participants with cervical le	esions				
Hypotension (%)	45.6	33.0	38.0	27.8	25.3
Bradycardia <50 BPM (%)	0	3.4	5.6	11.1	26.7
Bradycardia <60 BPM (%)	14.8	24.1	27.8	27.8	60.0
Elevated HR >80 BPM (%)	37.0	27.6	8.3	11.1	6.7
Tachycardia >100 BPM (%)	0	0	0	0	0
Participants with high thor	acic lesions				
Hypotension (%)	26.3	18.4	26.3	18.4	7.9
Bradycardia <50 BPM (%)	0	4.3	0	0	0
Bradycardia <60 BPM (%)	4.8	3.7	0	0	0
Elevated HR >80 BPM (%)	58.3	47.8	42.8	57.1	23.0
Tachycardia >100 BPM (%)	33.3	11.1	23.8	4.8	0
Participants with low level	lesions				
Hypotension (%)	23.8	11.3	17.5	8.8	5.0
Bradycardia <50 BPM (%)	0	0	0	0	0
Bradycardia <60 BPM (%)	0	0	0	2.0	3.1
Elevated HR >80 BPM (%)	75.8	64.2	44.6	43.1	37.5
Tachycardia >100 BPM (%)	12.1	7.0	4.6	9.8	3.1

Table 2.4.Prevalence of hypotension, bradycardia, elevated heart rate and
tachycardia at all test occasions according to lesion level

Note: The prevalence of hypotension, bradycardia (<50 BPM and <60 BPM), elevated heart rate (HR, >80 BPM) and tachycardia (>100 BPM) are shown for each test occasion. Data are presented for the group as a whole and for the subgroups divided according to lesion level.

	Ну	potens	ion	Bradyca	rdia (<6	0 BPM)	Elevated HR (>80 BPM)			
	ቤ (SE)	OR	р	ቤ (SE)	OR	Р	ß (SE)	OR	р	
Intercept	-0.99 (0.38)			-5.09 (0.87)			-0.24 (0.27)			
Δ start- discharge	0.08 (0.24)	1.08	0.74	-0.47 (0.59)	0.63	0.43	1.26 (0.30)	3.53	<0.001	
Δ 3 month- discharge	-0.27 (0.27)	0.76	0.30	-0.05 (0.54)	0.95	0.93	0.74 (0.30)	2.09	0.01	
Δ discharge - 1 year	-0.24 (0.27)	0.79	0.39	0.14 (0.59)	1.15	0.82	0.16 (0.31)	1.17	0.61	
Δ discharge - 5 years	-0.24 (0.30)	0.78	0.41	1.06 (0.59)	2.89	0.07	-0.34 (0.37)	0.71	0.36	
Δ cervical - low level	1.43 (0.20)	4.18	<0.001	4.12 (0.80)	61.6	<0.001	-1.90 (0.29)	0.15	<0.001	
Δ high thoracic - low level	0.49 (0.25)	1.64	0.049	0.98 (1.06)	2.66	0.36	-0.40 (0.25)	0.67	0.11	
Completeness	NE			NE			NE			
Age	-0.03 (0.01)	0.97	< 0.001	NE			NE			
Sex	0.81 (0.22)	2.24	< 0.001	NE			NE			

Table 2.5.Prevalence of hypotension, bradycardia and elevated heart rate
regression analyses

Note: Results of the binomial random coefficient regression analysis with backward elimination for the prevalence of hypotension, bradycardia (<60 BPM) and elevated heart rate (HR, >80 BPM). Shown are regression coefficients (β) and their standard errors (SE), and the odds ratios (OR) for the models. The time and lesion level dummies indicate a change between the two test occasions and the two lesion levels respectively. NE: not entered.

Discussion

This is the first study to investigate the time course of blood pressure, HR_{rest} and HR_{peak} over the first 5 years after SCI using a longitudinal approach, and to provide normative data in a relatively large cohort that is subdivided according to time after injury over five years, and by lesion level. We are also the first to not only identify associations between lesion or personal characteristics and cardiovascular dysfunction, but also to quantify the magnitude of increased risk associated with these traits. We found that the prevalence of hypotension did not change during and after rehabilitation: however, it was related to lesion level (positively), age (negatively) and sex. We found no change in SAP over time,

but DAP increased during the first five years after discharge. SAP and DAP were related to age (positively) and lesion level (negatively). The time course for SAP was different between the different lesion levels. HR_{peak} only changed during rehabilitation, whereas HR_{rest} decreased during and after rehabilitation. Lesion level was negatively associated with both peak and resting HR, and age was negatively associated with HR_{peak} . The prevalence of bradycardia remained the same over time, while the prevalence of elevated HR improved (decreased) during and after rehabilitation. The prevalence of bradycardia (<60 BPM) was positively correlated to lesion level, and the prevalence of elevated HR (>80 BPM) was negatively correlated to lesion level.

We found a greater prevalence of hypotension in those with cervical and high thoracic lesions compared to those with injury levels below T5. The prevalence was greatest in those with cervical lesions. This is not surprising, because individuals with cervical lesions can lose control over spinal sympathetic pathways to the heart and vasculature, and therefore a consequent reduction in resting blood pressure and a greater susceptibility to hypotension might be expected. Individuals with high thoracic lesions can retain sympathetic control over the heart, but control of the splanchnic vasculature may be impaired. This can explain the effective titration of resting blood pressure across lesion levels after SCI. Age and sex influenced the odds of hypotension after SCI, whereby older individuals had lower odds compared to younger individuals, and men had higher odds compared to women. In the able-bodied, increasing age has been shown to be related to higher blood pressures due to arterial stiffening^{149,150} and a higher prevalence of hypertension¹⁵¹, and this is in agreement with our finding of a lower prevalence of hypotension with aging after SCI. We do not know why men had higher odds of hypotension compared to women. We considered the possibility that the men in our study had more severe injuries than the women, but this was not the case. The completeness of injury based on AIS score had no effect on the prevalence of hypotension, indicating that AIS completeness is not a strong predictor for impairment to cardiovascular autonomic pathways, as previously reported by our laboratory^{53,80,152}.

The increase in SAP found in those with low level and high thoracic lesions could be related to adopting a more sedentary lifestyle after injury, as shown in a subset of this study population¹⁵³. The failure of SAP to increase with time in those with cervical SCI can be explained by the lack of sympathetic control to the heart and vasculature. In this

case, an increase in SAP due to a more sedentary lifestyle is unlikely, as this increase has been related to elevated sympathetic tone, and coordinated control of sympathetic tone after cervical SCI is often lost¹⁵⁴. This finding is in agreement with several cross-sectional studies of individuals with chronic SCI^{49,56,155-157}, which reported resting BP and HR to continue to be lower in those with high lesions compared to lower lesions in the chronic phase after injury. Some studies^{53,56} report lower SAP, DAP and HR_{rest} compared to our findings, which can be explained by the fact that their studies included a greater proportion of individuals with complete injuries compared to our mixed population. Other studies with more similar lesion characteristics to our study in terms of completeness of injuries found similar SAP, DAP and resting HR^{54,158,159}. However, a major limitation of these studies is that they do not show changes in cardiovascular parameters over time but rather a snapshot in the chronic phase of injury.

The HR_{peak} in individuals with cervical lesions was low (111 ± 17.1 BPM at the start of rehabilitation and 109 ± 15.4 BPM five years after discharge). This diminished heart rate response to exercise is most likely due to impaired supraspinal control of cardiac sympathetic outflow in this group. In the absence of coordinated sympathetic control of heart rate, the remaining heart rate response to exercise in these individuals is presumably largely mediated by vagal withdrawal. Indeed, the peak exercise heart rate in this group is comparable to that of able-bodied controls during complete vagal blockade (approximately 100 BPM)⁴⁸. The slight increase in HR_{peak} in participants with all injury levels during rehabilitation is in line with the previously reported increase physical fitness parameters, VO_{2max} and peak power output, in this cohort^{160,161}.

The variability in HR_{peak} in the group with cervical lesions is likely to be due to the fact that not all of these participants had a complete injury, and therefore some of them would have preserved cardiovascular autonomic function and higher peak heart rates.

The greater prevalence of bradycardia in those with cervical lesions underscores the vagal predominance in this group, in whom there is a greater potential for injury to descending spinal cardiac sympathetic pathways. Similarly, those in both other groups had higher resting heart rates. Interestingly, the prevalence of elevated heart rates in the low lesion group decreased with time after injury, and there are numerous factors (including the influence of rehabilitation, recovery of cardiovascular deconditioning,

improved blood volume status, medication adjustment) that could underlie this change. The prevalence of bradycardia in those with cervical injuries was a consistent feature, compatible with lack of improvement in cardiac sympathetic function over time, and this is also reflected in the failure of the impaired HR_{peak} to improve with time in this group.

There are no prior longitudinal studies that have examined changes in these cardiovascular parameters with time after injury. However, there are cross-sectional studies that predominantly focus on chronic SCI (> 1 year after injury). Prevalence of resting hypotension is not frequently reported in these studies. One study showed a prevalence of 33% in their overall sample (482 individuals with SCI) and 51% in a subset of those with AIS complete tetraplegia, but this was based on self-reported hypotension (by a questionnaire)¹⁶². The prevalence of OH is more commonly reported. OH is a variable related to resting blood pressure measured in a seated position (as it incorporates a gravitational effect), and is defined as a drop in SAP of 20 mmHg or a drop in DAP of 10 mmHg or more when moved from supine to seated/upright. We have previously reported a prevalence of OH of 50% in individuals with cervical lesions⁵³ and 47% in individuals with lesions above T5¹⁵⁹. Recently, Sisto et al.⁵⁴ reported a lower prevalence of OH of 21% in individuals with mostly cervical injuries. This lower prevalence can be explained by including only individuals with highly preserved function (AIS C and D). In these types of injuries, spinal sympathetic pathways may be more likely to remain intact, and individuals might thus be protected from the cardiovascular abnormalities that often accompany high-level injuries. Even though they did not report prevalence of resting hypotension, this group found lower resting blood pressure in those with cervical lesions compared to those with high and low thoracic injuries, suggesting a higher risk for resting hypotension in this subgroup.

Several studies have investigated cardiovascular adaptations after SCI^{44,45}. They found an increased leg vascular resistance in individuals with SCI, even though sympathetic control over the heart and vasculature was impaired, due to vascular⁴⁴ and hormonal adaptations after injury⁴⁵. These adaptations were proposed to counteract the deleterious effects of the loss of normal sympathetic regulation of blood pressure. The findings of the present study indicate that these adaptations might not be sufficient to prevent hypotension; it is tempting to speculate that without these adaptations, we might predict even more severe and prevalent hypotension.

Strengths and limitations

The main strength of the present study is the relatively large sample size, incorporating all levels and completeness of injury, and its longitudinal design. All participants were prone to cardiovascular deconditioning due to the use of a wheelchair, making level of injury and autonomic dysfunction the primary factors underlying any differences in blood pressure and heart rate at each time point. No previous studies have investigated the time course of changes in these cardiovascular variables after SCI. An additional strength of the study is the identification not only of associations between lesion or personal characteristics and cardiovascular dysfunction, but the quantification of the magnitude of increased risk associated with these traits.

One limitation of this study is that not all participants completed the test protocols at all time points. While of course this is not the ideal scenario, it is the clinical reality of these types of studies. We chose to analyse the full data set with a statistical approach that is validated for use with incomplete data sets^{147,148}. This approach has two advantages: the statistical power is greater, and it avoids the selection bias encountered by analyzing only those who performed all measurements (often healthier persons or those that are unemployed, for example). This selection bias would also not be desirable when it comes to the generalizability of the results to clinical practice. However, we also completed repeated measures analysis of variance on only those participants who completed all testing sessions (data not shown), and found no meaningful differences between the outcomes of the two approaches, further supporting the validity of our findings. Similarly, another limitation is the higher dropout rates for the maximal aerobic capacity test, leading to a lower sample size for this variable¹⁴³. The heart rate data may, therefore, be biased towards those who were willing and/or able to perform the maximal aerobic capacity test (without cardiovascular or musculoskeletal complaints; and likely excluding those using power wheelchairs), potentially overestimating HR_{peak} and HR_{rest}.

Our statistical analyses of the prevalence data for bradycardia and elevated heart rate/tachycardia were limited by the low number of positive responses. This was particularly so for the sub group analyses, and for the prevalence of bradycardia (<50 BPM) and tachycardia (>100 BPM). The analysis of the prevalence of bradycardia (<60

BPM) was also somewhat constrained by this issue, and should be interpreted with caution.

Another limitation is that some of the resting blood pressure measurements might have been obscured by episodes of AD. As it is challenging to accurately determine the occurrence of these episodes retrospectively, it is conceivable that some resting blood pressure values might be artificially elevated by episodes of AD. This could lead to an overestimation of the mean SAP and DAP in individuals with cervical and high thoracic lesions and consequently an underestimation of the prevalence of hypotension in these groups. To estimate how often this occurred, in those at risk for AD (lesions at or above T5), we qualified AD as a SAP value of 30 mmHg above the average SAP over the test occasions for that individual. Using this approach we estimated that episodes of AD occurred in a total of 23 tests out of 757 tests analyzed. As we could not be sure that these represent true episodes of AD because of the retrospective nature of this study, we included all SAP measurements in our analyses. However, it should be kept in mind that this could lead to a modest underestimation of the prevalence of hypotension in our sample.

Conclusion

At the start of active rehabilitation 33% of the participants had resting hypotension and this did not significantly improve over time, at least until 5 years after rehabilitation. Individuals with cervical lesions are most prone to resting hypotension and bradycardia compared to high thoracic and low-level injuries. In previous studies it has been shown that OH is even more prevalent (~50 %) in this population of individuals with cervical or high thoracic SCI^{53,159}. This combination of resting hypotension and OH can lead to intolerably low blood pressures, with subsequent reductions in cerebral blood flow, presyncope, syncope, cognitive impairment and fatigue¹⁵⁹. We also showed that the impaired HR responses to exercise in those with cervical lesions do not improve over time, with a prolonged negative impact on exercise tolerance and ability to participate in physical activity. These complications have a significant negative impact on quality of life in this population⁶³. The assumption that these are issues related primarily to deconditioning in the acute stage after injury and that they recover with time is incorrect and should be challenged. These findings suggest that management of (orthostatic)

hypotension and cardiac dysfunction should remain a priority for those with injuries above T5 into the chronic phase of injury.

We are the first to provide data on the time course of cardiovascular changes after injury. These data can be used to guide clinical practice, and to place changes in cardiovascular function due to interventions in perspective, relative to that expected with standard treatment alone, as has been shown for motor and sensory function¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁵. We also identified those individuals at greatest risk for cardiovascular dysfunction considering age, sex, level and completeness of injury. These specific odds of cardiovascular dysfunction may be useful to guide targeted patient therapy.

Chapter 3.

Complex relationships between autonomic dysfunction, lifestyle changes and cardiovascular disease risk

Introduction

In addition to the search for a 'cure' for spinal cord injury (SCI), one sizeable challenge in SCI research now lies in improving the secondary complications injury. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is one of the leading causes for morbidity and mortality after SCI, and it has an earlier onset and more rapid progression compared to the general population²². The underlying mechanisms for the elevated risk of CVD remain unclear. Lifestyle changes after SCI have classically been thought to be the main contributor to the increase in prevalence of obesity and related CVD risk. However, we propose that other factors may play an important role.

In addition to the impact of paralysis, secondary complications due to autonomic dysfunction after SCI may cause individuals to lead a more sedentary lifestyle. Damage to spinal sympathetic pathways can occur due to SCI, and this can affect many organ systems, dependent on the level of the lesion. Disruption of these pathways results in basal sympathetic hypoactivity and impaired cardiovascular autonomic control. Cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction is a particular concern in individuals with lesions above the fifth thoracic level, manifested as low resting blood pressure, orthostatic hypotension (OH, further falls in blood pressure with a change in posture), and episodes of extremely high blood pressure, autonomic dysreflexia (AD) associated with sensory stimulation below the lesion. Fatigue and concentration problems associated with resting and orthostatic hypotension^{61,62,64} can be barriers to participation in physical activity after injury. In addition, the limited ability for many individuals with SCI to increase

heart rate and blood pressure physical activity can cause poorer exercise tolerance, even in the presence of a strong motivation to exercise.

The correlation between a sedentary lifestyle, accompanied by gains in adiposity and abnormalities in metabolism, and CVD risk is well established in the general population¹²⁰⁻¹²². More recently, this association has been shown in individuals with SCI. A large longitudinal study showed a correlation between lipid profiles and physical activity, indicating that individuals with SCI who were more physically fit had more favourable lipid profiles^{26,123}. Moreover, this group showed a direct relationship between physical activity levels and CVD risk²³. However, until now, the contribution of autonomic dysfunction to these associations has not been investigated.

In addition to the described indirect effect of autonomic dysfunction on CVD risk via the effects on physical activity, there may also be a direct impact on CVD risk arising from autonomic dysfunction. There are different mechanisms that support this hypothesis. Blood pressure control problems due to autonomic dysfunction, in particular episodes of AD, can have potentially devastating consequences such as stroke, cardiac arrest, myocardial ischaemia and cardiac arrhythmia^{80,102-106}. Autonomic impairments after SCI also interfere with the action of the protein leptin that is produced by adipocytes and regulates food intake and stimulates energy expenditure. Normally, leptin acts on the arcuate nucleus in the hypothalamus, thereby increasing sympathetic activity, and stimulating energy expenditure. When supraspinal input to the spinal sympathetic pathways is blocked, this action of leptin is also lost. Indeed, the decreased resting metabolic rate (RMR) that is commonly seen in individuals with SCI, who have damage to spinal sympathetic pathways¹³¹, might be explained in part by the diminished action of leptin. Jeon et al. confirmed this by showing that leptin levels in individuals with SCI were elevated, but the correlation between leptin and RMR was lost in this group compared to able-bodied controls¹³².

Impaired glucose tolerance and diabetes mellitus are also more prevalent in individuals with SCI compared to able-bodied controls¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶, and this may be related to autonomic dysfunction. Even though fasting glucose levels are usually within the normal range, individuals with SCI are more often insulin resistant¹²⁵⁻¹²⁷. Interestingly, in the able-bodied population, β -adrenergic stimulation induces insulin resistance^{127,128}. Accordingly,

the low resting sympathetic activity in individuals with autonomic dysfunction after SCI would be expected to be favourable in terms of insulin resistance, although the extremely high levels of sympathetic activity encountered during AD might worsen insulin resistance.

As such, despite considerable research suggesting a role for autonomic impairment on CVD risk factors and potentially overall risk for CVD, no study to date has investigated the complex relationships between autonomic impairment, CVD risk factors and overall CVD risk. Therefore, one aim of this study is to first determine whether there are differences in CVD risk factors between able-bodied controls and individuals with autonomically complete and autonomically incomplete SCI. We also aimed to investigate the contribution of autonomic impairment, physical activity levels, and their interaction, on CVD risk parameters in individuals with SCI.

We hypothesize that individuals with SCI have a more adverse risk profile for CVD compared to able-bodied controls, and that individuals with autonomic impairments have an even more adverse risk profile compared to those without autonomic impairments. We hypothesize that autonomic dysfunction contributes to CVD disease risk parameters both directly, and through an interaction with physical activity levels.

Methods

This study received ethical approval from the Research Ethics Board at Simon Fraser University, and the Vancouver Coastal Health Research Institute, and was performed in association with the Declaration of Helsinki of the World Medical Association.

Participants

Studies were performed on 33 individuals with a chronic (>1 year) SCI and 19 ablebodied controls. All participants gave written informed consent, and were apparently healthy and not taking any cardiovascular medications. Individuals with SCI were recruited from posters displayed at rehabilitation centres, and through local SCI support groups. Able-bodied individuals were recruited from posters displayed at Simon Fraser University. Females were not tested during menstruation. Individuals with pre-existing (prior to SCI) cardiovascular disease were excluded from participation. Participants made two visits to the laboratory. They were instructed to fast for 12 hours overnight, except for drinking water, before both visits. The first visit started with a brief medical history to obtain participant characteristics including age, sex, time since injury, smoking and alcohol status, and medication use. A standard assessment for neurological level and severity of injury was performed, unless the participant underwent this assessment previously and could report the results. This visit was concluded with a passive orthostatic stress test as described previously^{53,63,159}, that included 15 minutes of supine rest after which the participant was passively moved into a 90° seated position with their legs pendent for another 15 minutes or until they experienced symptoms or signs of presyncope. The second visit was composed of an oral glucose tolerance test, completion of a physical activity questionnaire, and a whole-body dual energy X-ray absorptiometry scan (DEXA).

The SCI group was subsequently divided into those with autonomically complete and incomplete injury to cardiovascular autonomic pathways (referred to as 'complete' and 'incomplete' respectively). These groups were not based on level of injury, but on the outcomes of our tests for cardiovascular autonomic impairment.

Measurements of severity of injury

Standard neurological classification

Neurological classification of level and severity of SCI was determined using the standard classification tool: the American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) Impairment Scale (AIS). This scale assesses motor and sensory function after SCI, but does not incorporate a quantitative measure of autonomic function. AIS A score reflects complete loss of motor and sensory function; the B, C and D scores reflect gradually less severe impairments. Level of injury and impairment score together form the classification of the injury (e.g. T5A).

Cardiovascular autonomic impairment

At present there is no gold standard technique to determine autonomic impairment after SCI. Therefore, we used two techniques that have previously been used to determine cardiovascular autonomic completeness of injury, one invasive and one non-invasive technique. The first one is a resting plasma noradrenaline concentration measurement

and the second one is systolic arterial pressure variability analysis. Both measurements were determined from the passive orthostatic stress test during the first visit.

Plasma noradrenaline

A butterfly catheter was inserted into an antecubital vein and blood samples were withdrawn after 15 minutes of supine rest, and 5 minutes after the passive assumption of a seated position. The samples were centrifuged at 3°C and 3000 rpm for 10 minutes and the plasma component withdrawn for subsequent analysis. The plasma samples were then sent to the clinical laboratory of Vancouver General Hospital for determination of noradrenaline levels with high-pressure liquid chromatography (ESA Coulochem II detector, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Sunnyvale, CA, USA).

Low noradrenaline (NA) levels due to sympathetic hypoactivity, are indicative of injury to descending sympathetic pathways. Therefore, autonomic completeness was defined as a supine plasma NA level below the cut off that was determined as the lower limit of the normal range for our laboratory (<0.56 nmol/L)¹⁰⁰.

Systolic arterial pressure variability analysis

Throughout the orthostatic stress test, blood pressure was measured using finger plethysmography (Finometer Pro, Finapress Medical Systems, Amsterdam, The Netherlands) and a lead II electrocardiogram (ECG) was recorded using the integrated Finometer ECG. Recordings were made using an analog-to-digital converter (Powerlab 16/30, AD Instruments, Colorado Springs, CO) with a sampling frequency of 1 kHz, and stored for offline analysis using LabChart (LabChart 7, AD Instruments, Colorado Springs, CO) and Matlab (Matlab 2012b, MathWorks, MA, USA) software. Systolic, diastolic and mean arterial pressures (SAP, DAP and MAP) were determined using the peak detection function in LabChart. Heart rate (HR) was determined from the lead II ECG using the same technique. Resting SAP (SAP_{rest}) was determined as the average SAP during the seated phase. Resting HR (HR_{rest}) was determined as the average HR during the supine phase.

Beat-to-beat values for SAP, DAP, MAP and RR intervals (RRI) from the ECG were used to create a time series for these parameters for both the supine and the upright phase of the test separately. Outliers due to ectopic beats were substituted by linear

interpolation of adjacent beats and any obvious trends in the time series were removed by subtracting the best polynomial function fitted to the data. Autoregressive monovariate modelling was used to create a power spectral density plot. Low frequency (LF, 0.05-0.15 Hz), high frequency (HF, 0.15-0.3 Hz) and very low frequency (VLF, <0.03 Hz) peaks¹⁶⁶ were identified for the spectra of SAP and RRI. The power and the central frequency of each peak was calculated as well as a normalized power, calculated by dividing the power by the total variance minus the VLF power and multiplied by 100^{166} .

Dependent on the level of the lesion, some sympathetic control of blood pressure can remain, mostly in lesions between T1 and T5. Therefore, we choose to use a conservative cut-off for LF SAP power of $<1.0 \text{ mmHg}^2$ was used to determine autonomic completeness, which has been shown to be the cut-off with the highest sensitivity and specificity to discriminate between SCI individuals with and without autonomic dysfunction¹⁰⁰.

Cardiovascular disease risk factors

Heart rate variability

Total HRV and very low frequency power (VLF, < 0.05 Hz) power were calculated for RRI time series using the technique described above for SAP variability.

Blood lipid profiles, insulin and glucose levels

A second venous blood sample was collected at the start of the orthostatic stress test. This sample was centrifuged as described above and sent to the clinical laboratory at Vancouver General Hospital where high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), total cholesterol (TC), triglyceride (TG) and glucose levels were determined by enzymatic assays (Dimension Vista system, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc, USA). Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) levels were calculated using the Friedewald method¹⁶⁷. TC/HDL-C was calculated from TC and HDL-C levels. Plasma insulin was determined at the same laboratory using an immunoassay, ADVIA Centaur assay (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc. USA). Insulin resistance (IR) was calculated using the homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) method¹⁶⁸.

Oral glucose tolerance

Participants came in for a second visit to the laboratory for an oral glucose tolerance test. A finger prick method was used to determine blood glucose levels (Contour, Bayer Inc., Toronto, Canada) in the fasting state and 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes following consumption of a 75 g glucose solution (Glucodex 75 g, Rougier Pharma, Canada). The glucose level at 120 minutes after consumption was taken as the main outcome measure for glucose tolerance.

Framingham 30-year risk for cardiovascular disease score

The Framingham 30-year risk for cardiovascular disease score¹⁶⁹ was used as a measure of overall risk of CVD. This risk score is validated from the Framingham Heart study data. It incorporates the following risk factors: age, sex, smoking status, diabetes, HDL-C, TC, resting SAP, and the use of antihypertensive treatment. However, instead of including the measured SAP, we entered a SAP value of 120 mmHg into the risk score formula for all participants. This decision was based on the knowledge that SCI can impair normal blood pressure control with lesions at or above the 5th thoracic level, leading to lower resting blood pressure^{50,52}. The known relationship between SAP and CVD risk might, therefore, not exist in the same way in this population. Entering a value of 120 mmHg is neutral to the score, and therefore excludes any effect of SAP on the risk score generated. A risk score under 10% is considered low risk, a score between 10 and 20% an intermediate risk and above 20% a high risk¹⁷⁰.

Physical activity level

The Physical Activity Scale for Individuals with a Physical Disability (PASIPD) questionnaire was used to determined physical activity levels of the participants with SCI. This 13-item questionnaire asks about any physical activity during the past 7 days including, for example, household work, leisure time activity and sports. The questionnaire results in a total physical activity score in metabolic equivalent (MET) hours per day (MET hours/day). This questionnaire has been shown to correlate strongly to the gold standard outcome measure for physical fitness, maximal oxygen consumption $(VO_{2max})^{171}$. We elected to utilize an activity scale rather than a physiological assessment because the VO_{2max} test can be technically challenging for
individuals with SCI, and the form of exercise chosen for the test might not be representative of daily activity.

Body composition

Total body fat mass in kg was determined from the whole body DEXA scan (QDR 4500, Hologic Inc., Bedford, MA, USA) and total body fat percentage was calculated by dividing the fat mass by total body mass multiplied by 100. Standardized landmarks were used to distinguish the trunk region on the DEXA scan (QDR software, Hologic Inc. Bedford, MA, USA) and determine abdominal fat mass from that region¹⁷². Abdominal fat percentage was determined as abdominal fat mass divided by total mass in the defined region multiplied by 100.

BMI was calculated from weight (kg), determined from the DEXA scan, divided by height squared (m²), determined using an electronic ruler (Matlab 2012b, MathWorks, MA, USA) on the DEXA images. Waist circumference (WC) was measured in cm at the narrowest part of the waist after a normal expiration, while lying supine¹³⁵.

Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using JMP (JMP 10, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Descriptive statistics (means and standard deviations [SD]) were determined for participant characteristics, and all dependent and independent variables, for the three different groups (able-bodied controls, the autonomically complete SCI group and the autonomically incomplete SCI group). The sample sizes within the three groups were relatively small, and therefore, a non-parametric alternative for ANOVA, the Kruskal-Wallis test, was used to determine differences between the three groups. Steel-Dwass post-hoc tests were used to determine differences between pairs, when an initial significant outcome for the Kruskal-Wallis test was found. We used one-sided hypothesis testing (for $\alpha = 0.05$), to evaluate whether the SCI groups had worse outcomes compared to the autonomically incomplete SCI group and whether the autonomically complete group had worse outcomes compared to the autonomically incomplete SCI group.

Secondly, we investigated the effects of autonomic function and physical activity on CVD risk factors in individuals with SCI. Multiple linear regression analyses were performed to determine effects of the independent variables (autonomic function and physical activity), confounder variables (age, sex, visceral adiposity), and interactions effects of

60

autonomic function and physical activity on the dependent variables (Framingham Risk score and other CVD risk factors that showed significant differences between SCI groups). A backward elimination technique was used, eliminating variables that showed a p-value >0.1, to determine the final model. Age and sex were included as confounders in the models for CVD risk factors, but not in the model for the Framingham risk score (as these factors are already incorporated within the risk score). Visceral adiposity has been shown to be an independent risk factor for CVD, and was therefore included as a confounder. Supine plasma NA level was included as the index of sympathetic autonomic function, and WC as an index of visceral adiposity¹⁷³.

Results

Participants with SCI were subdivided into an autonomically complete group (complete) and an autonomically incomplete group (incomplete). Three individuals with SCI tested positive for a urinary tract infection on the day of the orthostatic stress test. As this phenomenon is a known trigger for AD, we excluded all blood pressure data (including LF SAP) for these participants.

Participant characteristics

We found no significant differences in age and sex between the three groups. BMI was also not different between the groups. Levels of injury ranged from C5 to L3 in the incomplete SCI group, while the complete group consisted of only cervical injury levels.

LF SAP, LF SAP % and LF SAP_{nu} were all lower in the complete SCI group compared to the control group and the incomplete SCI group. Plasma NA during supine and seated positions was lower in the complete SCI group compared to the control group and the incomplete SCI group. SAP_{rest} and SAP_{min} were also lower in the complete SCI group compared to both other groups, confirming autonomic dysfunction in this group. HR_{rest} was lower in the complete compared to the incomplete SCI group. Participant characteristics per group are shown in Table 3.1.

	Control	Incomplete SCI	Complete SCI		
General characteristics					
Sample size	19	16	17		
Age (years)	34 (3)	43 (3)	39 (3)		
Sex (% males)	68.4	56.3	82.4		
Lesion level range	-	C5-L3	C4-C7		
Cardiovascular variables					
SAP _{rest} (mmHg)	133 (12)	126 (19)	109 (14) *†		
SAP _{min} (mmHg)	118 (13)	113 (29)	88 (15) *†		
HR _{rest} (BPM)	62 (10)	67 (9)	56 (5) †		
Autonomic markers					
Plasma NA supine (nmol/L)	1.67 (0.72)	3.41 (2.24)	0.42 (0.23) *†		
LF _{SAP} (mmHg ²)	2.73 (1.67)	3.98 (3.53)	0.66 (0.57) *†		
Heart rate variability parameters					
HRV (ms ²)	6797 (6839)	5620 (5585)	3656 (3118)		
VLF (ms ²)	2486 (3272)	1959 (1784)	1966 (1178)		
Body composition and physical activity					
BMI (kg/m²)	23.9 (3.4)	23.3 (4.9)	23.1 (3.9)		
Fat (%)	21.1 (9.2) †	29.0 (7.2) *	26.9 (9.0)		
Abdominal fat (%)	20.4 (9.5)	26.7 (7.0)	26.9 (9.6)		
PASIPD (MET hours/day)		13.1 (10.0)	17.6 (12.4)		
Framingham risk score	10.3 (9.9)	16.1 (7.3)	15.3 (8.5)		

Table 3.1. Participant characteristics

Note: * Significantly different (p<0.05) from controls ⁺ significantly different between SCI groups. Data are shown as mean (SD). SAP: systolic arterial pressure; HR: heart rate; NA: supine noradrenaline; LF: low frequency; HRV: heart rate variability; VLF: very low frequency; BMI: body mass index; PASPID: physical activity scale for individuals with a physical disability.

Group differences in cardiovascular risk factors

We found no significant differences in the total or VLF power of HRV between the three groups (Table 3.1). Glucose tolerance (measured as 120-minute glucose) was impaired in both SCI groups compared to the control group (Figure 3.1A). We found no significant difference between the two SCI groups. We also found no significant differences in IR between any of the groups (Figure 3.1B). Fasting plasma insulin was greater in the complete SCI group compared to controls (Figure 3.1C), but fasting plasma glucose levels were not significantly different (Figure 3.1D). We found no significant differences in Framingham risk score between all three groups, however, the SCI group as a whole had a greater (p=0.02) risk score (16 [7.9]) compared to the control group (10.3 [9.9]).





A. 120-minute glucose. B. Insulin resistance. C. Fasting insulin. D. Fasting glucose.

Horizontal lines indicate significant differences between groups (p<0.05). The white line in the box represents the median and the full box represents the first to the third quartiles. The whiskers represent the full range of the data.

Plasma TG levels were significantly higher in those with incomplete SCI compared to the control group, but we found no significant difference between the complete SCI group and the other two groups (Figure 3.2A). TC/HDL-C ratio was significantly higher in those with incomplete, but not complete SCI, compared to the controls (Figure 3.2B). Plasma HDL-C levels were lower in both SCI groups compared to the control group, but we found no difference between the SCI groups (Figure 3.2C). We found no significant differences in plasma TC and LDL-C level between any of the groups (Figure 3.2D).



Figure 3.2. Group differences in plasma lipid variables

A. Triglyceride level (TG).B. Total cholesterol to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol ratio (TC/HDL-C).C. HDL-C level.D. Low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) level.

Horizontal lines indicate significant differences between groups (p<0.05). The white line in the box represents the median and the full box represents the first to the third quartiles. The whiskers represent the full range of the data.

Multiple linear regression models for cardiovascular risk factors

After backward elimination in the multiple regression analyses including the independent variables (plasma NA and PASIPD score), the interaction between them, and confounder variables (age, sex and waist circumference), we found significant effects of the independent variables on the following outcome variables: Framingham risk score, 120-minute glucose, IR and plasma insulin. We did not find significant effects of autonomic function from the regression models for TG, HDL-C and TC/HDL-C ratio, but only significant effects of the confounder variables (Table 3.2).

For the Framingham risk score, we found a direct effect of WC and an interaction effect of autonomic function with physical activity. An increase in WC was related to a higher risk score, and a lower NA in combination with lower physical activity was also related to a higher risk score. The final regression model explained 57% of the variance in the data ($R^2 = 0.57$). When the original Framingham risk score (including systolic arterial pressure) was used as the outcome measure, the same variables were included in the final regression model, and the variance explained was similar ($R^2 = 0.53$).

We found a significant effect of age and autonomic function on 120-minute glucose. 120-minute glucose increased with age and decreased with increases in plasma NA (and thus impaired autonomic function). The final regression model for 120-minute glucose explained 54% of the variance in the data ($R^2 = 0.54$). Also, we found a significant interaction effect between plasma NA and PASIPD score on both IR and plasma insulin. A lower plasma NA level in combination with a lower physical activity level was related to increases in IR and plasma insulin. The final regression models for IR and plasma insulin explained 21% and 26% of the variance in the data respectively.

For the plasma lipid variables, we did not find significant effects of autonomic function, physical activity or their interaction. We did find significant effects of age and WC on the plasma TG level. Plasma TG level decreased with age and increased with greater WC. The final regression model for TG explained 37% of the variance in the data. In addition, we found significant effects of age and WC on both plasma HDL-C and TC/HDL-C ratio. HDL-C decreased with greater WC and younger age, while TC/HDL-C ratio increased. The final regression models for HDL and TC/HDL explained 50% and 57% of the variance in the data respectively.

	Framir risk s	igham core	120 gluc	min ose	R		Insul	i	TG		Н		TC/H	DL
	ß (SE)	d	ß (SE)	d	ß (SE)	d	ß (SE)	d	ß (SE)	d	ß (SE)	d	ß (SE)	þ
	-27.7		4.1		1.4		7.0		-0.58		1.32		-1.28	
Intercept	(10.4)		(1.0)		(0.2)		(0.7)		(0.0)		(0.4)		(1.5)	
Noradrenaline	Ч	I	-0.37 (0.12)	<0.01	Ч	ł	ВЯ	I	NE	ł	ВК	I	ВК	ł
PASIPD score	ВN	ł	ШN	ł	ШЯ	ł	ШN	1	ШN	ł	ШN	ł	ШN	ł
Interaction	-0.17	0.04			0.02	0.04	0.1	0.02						
noradrenaline & PASIPD score	(0.08)		R	ł	(0.01)		(0.04)		ШN	ł	R	ł	NE	ł
Age	NE	ł	0.1 (0.02)	<0.001	ШЯ	ł	RE	I	-0.02 (0.01)	0.05	0.02 (0.01)	0.003	-0.04 (0.02)	0.04
Sex	NR	ł	ШN	ł	Ш	ł	BR	I	ШN	ł	ШN	ł	ШN	ł
Waist circumference	0.47 (0.12)	<0.001	NE	ł	NE	ł	NE	ł	0.03 (0.01)	0.003	-0.01 (0.005)	0.05	0.08 (0.02)	<0.001

 Table 3.2.
 Cardiovascular disease risk factor regression analyses results

Note: Results from the regression analyses after backward elimination for Framingham risk score, 120 min glucose, insulin resistance (IR), triglycerides (TG), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), and total cholesterol to HDL ratio (TC/HDL). Shown are regression coefficients (β) and their standard errors (SE) representing the change in the outcome measure associated with an increase of one unit in the independent variable. NE: not entered.

Discussion

This is the first study to explore the complex relationships between autonomic dysfunction after SCI and overall CVD risk using regression modelling to identify contributions of autonomic impairment, physical activity, and interactions between these parameters. We first determined differences between able-bodied controls and two groups of individuals with SCI divided according to cardiovascular autonomic impairment. We found poorer glucose tolerance and reduced HDL-C in both SCI groups compared to the control group. Plasma insulin was elevated only in those with complete SCI compared to the control group. On the other hand, TG level and TC/HDL-C ratio were only significantly elevated in those with incomplete SCI compared to the control group.

The regression modelling gave more insight into the complexity of parameters contributing to CVD risk factors. Significant effects of autonomic function were found on the Framingham risk score, 120-min glucose, IR, and plasma insulin concentration. Factors contributing to an increased Framingham risk score were the interaction between impaired autonomic function and decreased physical activity as well as greater WC, but not autonomic dysfunction per se. We found impaired autonomic function and older age to be contributors to impaired glucose tolerance (increase in 120-minute glucose). The interaction between impaired autonomic function and decreased physical activity was the only factor that significantly contributed to both IR and plasma insulin concentration.

The subdivision of the SCI participants according to autonomic completeness was based on the normal range of plasma noradrenaline, and a cut-off for LF SAP shown to have the highest sensitivity and specificity to discriminate between individuals with and without autonomic dysfunction, as previously determined by our laboratory¹⁰⁰. The accuracy of the grouping was confirmed by the clear group differences in cardiovascular parameters such as resting blood pressure and heart rate and blood pressure during orthostatic stress. Resting heart rate was found to be lower in the autonomically complete SCI group compared to the incomplete group, but was not different from the controls. A potential explanation could be that the resting heart rate in the control subjects was somewhat low, likely related to higher physical activity levels and an

67

associated increase in resting cardiac parasympathetic outflow. Previous studies found comparable resting heart rates in individuals with cervical SCI compared to our complete SCI group, but found slightly higher heart rates (65 bpm compared to 61 bpm) for ablebodied controls^{53,100}, suggesting that the lack of difference in this study is probably due to a lower heart rate in the control group, rather than a higher heart rate in our SCI group.

The regression models for the Framingham risk score and 120-minute glucose showed contributions of one or both of the independent variables, while we did not find clear differences between the SCI groups with the Kruskal-Wallis tests. The latter analysis method is a more crude way to determine effects of autonomic function on our outcome variables. The grouping was purely based on autonomic function and did not strictly take the hypothesized independent variable physical activity and confounders such as age and sex into account. Even though these variables were not significantly different between the groups, the regression analysis is more sensitive in finding effects of multiple variables in combination or interaction effects. The relatively small sample size can attribute to this discrepancy, as finding significant differences between multiple pairs in any ANOVA test generally requires large sample sizes.

The regression model for the Framingham risk score showed contributions from the interaction between physical activity and autonomic function, but not autonomic function per se. The confounder variable WC as a marker for visceral adiposity had a large effect on the risk score, in line with many previous studies in the general population as well as in those with SCI¹⁷³⁻¹⁷⁵.

The regression models for glucose handling parameters (120-minute glucose, insulin and IR) gave a clear insight indicating that autonomic impairments play a role in worsening of glucose tolerance and IR, but a complete picture cannot yet be drawn from these results. The model did not explain all variance in the outcome measures, so there must be other factors that we did not include in the model contributing as well.

Previously, glucose tolerance and IR have been shown to be more prevalent in the SCI population^{126,176,177} than in able-bodied controls, and various explanations have been proposed. One explanation for impairments in glucose handling is the dramatic loss of muscle mass after injury, as muscle mass is the primary tissue contributing to insulin-

induced glucose uptake. This is supported by studies showing that glucose tolerance and IR were more pronounced in individuals with tetraplegia compared to paraplegia, who lose muscle mass over a larger region of the body^{124,178}. However, differences in autonomic function can also be proposed as a mechanism explaining these changes in glucose handling. Sympathetic activity induces IR and reduced uptake of glucose in muscles¹²⁸, but the reduction in blood flow due to sympathetically mediated vasoconstriction within the musculature has also been proposed as a mechanism explaining reduced insulin sensitivity¹⁷⁹. As mentioned previously, resting sympathetic activity is lower in individuals with autonomic dysfunction after SCI, which would be associated with less IR. In contrast, during episodes of AD, sympathetic activity is extremely high, which could potentially explain IR in these individuals. This explanation was also proposed by Karlsson et al., who showed impaired insulin sensitivity in individuals with tetraplegia, while measuring plasma noradrenaline for 24 hours that showed frequent episodes of high sympathetic activity (e.g. AD)¹²⁷. They did not show impaired glucose tolerance, in contrast to our findings. One explanation might be that they found no difference in resting plasma noradrenaline between SCI and control groups, suggesting that not all individuals with SCI had autonomic impairments. In combination with a very small sample size (n=7), this might explain the lack of a significant difference.

We did not find any significant effects of autonomic function, physical activity or the interaction between these variables on any of the plasma lipid variables. This suggests that lipid profiles are not affected by these independent variables, but we did show differences between the SCI groups and the control group, suggesting a more general effect of deconditioning after SCI on adverse lipid profiles. This is in line with previous findings of decreased HDL-C and increased TG in both paraplegic and tetraplegic participants^{180,181}. LDL-C concentrations were similar between all three groups, which is in accordance with previous findings that show no differences between individuals with SCI and able-bodied controls¹⁸².

Strengths and limitations

The main strength of the present study is the specific measurement of autonomic impairment of individuals with SCI, in contrast to using AIS assessments to characterize level and completeness of injury. It has been shown that AIS completeness does not necessarily correlate with completeness of injury to autonomic pathways⁸⁰. We are the first to explore the complex relationships between autonomic dysfunction after SCI and overall CVD risk using regression modelling to identify contributors to this relationship. Previously, most studies determined differences between SCI groups divided by level of injury for CVD risk factors, which would fail to capture the interactions with autonomic impairment. Also, in addition to investigating individual risk parameters, we included the Framingham risk score to explore the overall risk of CVD.

One limitation of our study is that the sample size was relatively small. Unfortunately, this is inherent to research in this population. This might in part explain why we did not find significant differences between the SCI groups for every parameter that did show an effect of autonomic function in the regression analysis. Another reason for these discrepancies could be that other factors that were not constant between the two SCI groups masked the effects of autonomic function on our outcome measurements.

Another limitation is that we did not use a direct measurement of aerobic capacity such as VO_{2max} , or measurements of physical activity from accelerometers, but instead used a recall questionnaire, the PASIPD, to determine physical activity levels. Although this score has been validated against VO_{2max} , it does require an individual to subjectively assess the intensity of an activity and so may be subject to recall bias.

We excluded individuals from this study with known pre-existing (prior to injury) CVD, because we were interested in the risk of CVD associated with SCI. The average risk score for all participants with SCI was 16 (7.9) indicating a moderate risk for the group as a whole, which was significantly different from the control group with a score of 10 (9.9). This elevated risk score fits with the known high morbidity and mortality due to CVD after SCI, and the fact that individuals with SCI experience an earlier onset and faster progression of CVD than in the general population^{22,183}. However, it is likely that this is an underestimation of the true CVD risk in a larger cohort of individuals with SCI,

incorporating those with known pre-existing cardiovascular disease. Underestimations would be expected for adverse values for the individual risk factors as well.

Conclusion

We provide evidence that autonomic function contributes to overall CVD risk, and that it seems to play a particularly important role in impaired glucose regulation after SCI. The regression models for glucose regulation parameters all showed an effect of autonomic function, although whether there was a direct effect or an interaction effect with physical activity was not the same across the different variables. The present study explored effects on many different risk factors and, to minimize the burden on the participants, we chose to use minimally invasive and less time-consuming tests in order to collect information on as many variables as possible in as many participants as possible. The insight gained from this study can now be used to explore the identified relationships in a larger population, potentially including those individuals with SCI and known pre-existing CVD. The use of a more sophisticated technique to determine glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity, such as the euglycemic hyperinsulinemic clamp, could give insight into the interactions between glucose and insulin and their relationships with autonomic dysfunction. Also, instead of a retrospective index for physical activity, a test for aerobic capacity or accelerometers could be used to explore these relationships in more depth.

Clinical implications resulting from these findings are that a sedentary lifestyle and associated obesity is not the only factor contributing to impaired glucose tolerance, insulin resistance, and overall CVD risk. More attention should be paid to the fact that individuals with autonomic dysfunction after SCI, even those who are lean, can have an elevated risk for CVD.

Chapter 4.

Waist circumference is the best index for obesity-related cardiovascular disease risk in individuals with spinal cord injury

Introduction

Great progress has been made in surgical techniques and initial care for individuals who sustain a spinal cord injury (SCI), but secondary complications after injury remain a major concern. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is one of these secondary complications, and is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in this population, with SCI patients experiencing an earlier onset and faster progression of CVD than in the general population^{22,183}. Obesity is an important and well-known risk factor for CVD, but it remains challenging to accurately determine obesity in this population¹³⁴. This is particularly important because following a SCI, individuals undergo changes in body composition, metabolic rate, and autonomic function. These alterations, coupled with a more sedentary lifestyle after injury, may lead to higher prevalence of obesity in this population.

A first step to address the issue of obesity after SCI is to find an accurate, simple, and meaningful assessment tool that can be used to identify obesity in this population. Two characteristics that are important in the assessment tool are the practicality and the accuracy of the tool. BMI (weight/height²) has been used worldwide and is promoted by the WHO as a simple indicator of obesity in the general population^{184,185}. Although BMI does not specifically measure fat mass, it has been shown to correlate well with measures of body fat at a population level¹⁸⁵. However, in the SCI population, BMI is not a very practical or accurate measure of obesity. Measuring height and weight is not possible in individuals with SCI without sophisticated tools. For example, to measure weight, a wheelchair scale is needed. Height can be inferred from length, while lying

supine with straight legs and flexed feet, but this position can be challenging due to contractures and spasticity. Not only is the use of BMI as a measure of obesity impractical in a SCI population; the proposed cut-offs have been shown to underestimate obesity in this population¹³⁵⁻¹³⁷. This is likely due to decreases in muscle mass below the lesion after injury, such that individuals with SCI with the same height and weight (and thus BMI) as an able-bodied individual will have greater fat mass.

Four other anthropometric measures that have been used as surrogate markers for obesity in the able-bodied population are waist circumference (WC), waist-to-hip ratio (WHR), waist-to-height ratio (WHtR), and neck circumference (NC). WC is simply measured in a standing position, using a tape measure around the abdomen after normal expiration. Although some groups advocate variations in the exact measurement location for WC, the strength of the correlations between WC and both fat percentage and CVD risk factors have been shown to be equally strong for several locations of WC measurements¹⁸⁶. In the able-bodied, WC has been shown to be a strong predictor for both total body fat and visceral adipose tissue^{174,187-189} and is highly correlated with CVD risk factors directly^{187,190,191}. In contrast to the standard in the able-bodied population, WC is measured in the supine position in individuals with SCI¹³⁵. This is because in the supine position WC is less dependent on abdominal muscle tone, which may be impaired in individuals with SCI. Several studies suggest strong correlations between WC and adiposity, and SCI and CVD risk¹⁹²⁻¹⁹⁴, and one study has shown correlations between visceral adiposity, WC and metabolic risk factors for CVD¹⁷³. However, no study to date has examined the relationships between multiple candidate markers of obesity, adiposity, and overall risk for CVD to determine the best index for obesity-related CVD in a SCI cohort. Although WC has been shown to be highly correlated to visceral fat in both the able-bodied population and in individuals with SCI, the latter have 42% more visceral adipose tissue at the same WC, suggesting the cut-off criteria for obesity should be lowered in this population 173 .

The disadvantage of WC is that it assumes that CVD risk is the same for everyone with the same WC regardless of their height, or body shape, and this might not be the case^{195,196}. Accordingly, WHR and WHtR are two parameters that are commonly used to "correct" WC to account for these differences. In the able-bodied, both have been

73

shown to be better predictors of CVD than WC in a large meta-analysis, with WHtR being the strongest predictor¹⁹⁷. However, WHR is arguably more suitable for an SCI population as the difficulties with measuring height are avoided. To date, only one study has examined the validity of the corrected WC markers in the SCI population¹⁹³. They showed that WHR is strongly correlated with visceral adiposity in individuals with SCI, but not how this relates to the presence of other adverse CVD risk factors¹⁹³.

Finally, several recent studies in the able-bodied identified a strong correlation between NC and visceral adipose tissue, as well as a correlation with CVD risk above and beyond the risk related to visceral fat¹⁹⁸⁻²⁰¹. Whether NC is also a predictor for obesity or other adverse cardiovascular risk factors in individuals with SCI is unknown.

Thus, it remains unclear, which of these suggested markers is the strongest predictor of obesity in individuals with SCI. Furthermore, since arguably the more relevant information is not just whether a marker can detect obesity, but whether this increased adiposity is associated with increased risk of CVD, additional studies examining their relationships with CVD risk factors after SCI are warranted. The aim of this study was, therefore, to identify the best marker for obesity related CVD risk profile in individuals with SCI, considering both practicality of use, and ability to detect: (i) adiposity and (ii) CVD risk factors.

Methods

This study received ethical approval from the Research Ethics Committee at Simon Fraser University, and the Vancouver Coastal Health Research Institute, and was performed in association with the Declaration of Helsinki of the World Medical Association.

Participants

Studies were performed on 27 individuals with chronic SCI (> 1 year), who gave written informed consent, had no known pre-existing (prior to injury) cardiovascular disease, and were not taking any cardiovascular medications. Individuals with SCI were recruited from posters displayed at rehabilitation centres, and through local SCI support groups. All participants abstained from drinking alcoholic beverages from the night before testing and from caffeine on the morning of testing. They did not participate in vigorous exercise on the morning of testing. Females were not tested during their menstrual period. Neurological classification of the level and severity of the injury was determined using the AIS assessment¹⁴¹. An AIS A score reflects complete loss of motor and sensory function; the B, C and D scores reflect progressively less severe impairments. Level of injury and impairment score together form the classification of the injury (e.g. T5A). Smoking status was recorded.

Anthropometric variables

BMI was calculated from weight (kg), determined using a Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DEXA) whole body scan (QDR 4500, Hologic Inc., Bedford, MA, USA), divided by height squared (m²), determined using an electronic ruler (Matlab 2012b, MathWorks, MA, USA) on the DEXA images. Length as determined using a similar method has been shown to correlate well with measured height in the able bodied population (Pearson's correlation coefficient of 0.996)¹³⁷. In cases where participants could not fully stretch their legs due to contractures or spasticity, a self-reported measure of height was used (n=4). WC was measured in cm at the narrowest part of the waist after a normal expiration¹³⁵. This site was chosen for ease of localization and measurement when the participant was lying supine. Hip circumference (HC) was measured in cm around the widest portion of the buttocks. Both WC and HC were measured while lying supine on the DEXA scanner bed, and using a stretch-resistant measuring tape¹³⁵. WHR was determined by dividing the measured WC by the measured HC. WHtR was determined by dividing the measured WC by height. NC in cm was measured at the middle of the neck.

Body composition

Total body fat mass in kg and total body fat percentage were determined using the whole body DEXA scan. Abdominal fat was determined using standardized landmarks to distinguish the truck region¹⁷², and abdominal fat percentage was determined as abdominal fat mass divided by total mass in the defined region multiplied by 100.

Fasting plasma levels of lipids, glucose and insulin

A venous blood sample was collected following a 12-hour overnight fast (excluding water). Samples were centrifuged immediately at 3 °C and 3,000 rpm for 10 minutes and the plasma component withdrawn for subsequent analysis. The plasma samples were sent to the clinical laboratory at Vancouver General Hospital where high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), total cholesterol (TC), triglyceride (TG) and glucose levels were determined by enzymatic assays (Dimension Vista system, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc, USA). Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) levels were calculated using the Friedewald method¹⁶⁷. TC/HDL-C was calculated from TC and HDL-C levels. Plasma insulin was determined at the same laboratory using an immunoassay, ADVIA Centaur assay (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc. USA). Insulin resistance was calculated using the homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) method¹⁶⁸.

Oral glucose tolerance test

Participants fasted for 12 hours overnight prior to the test, with the exception of drinking water. A finger prick method was used to determine blood glucose levels (Contour, Bayer Inc., Toronto, Canada) in the fasting state and 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes following consumption of a 75 g glucose solution (Glucodex 75 g, Rougier Pharma, Canada).

Framingham 30-year risk for cardiovascular disease score

We used the Framingham 30-year cardiovascular disease risk score¹⁶⁹ as a measure of overall risk of CVD. This risk score incorporates the following risk factors: HDL-C, TC, age, sex, systolic arterial pressure (SAP) at rest, smoking status, diabetes, and antihypertensive treatment. However, instead of including the measured SAP, we entered a SAP value of 120 mmHg into the risk score formula for all participants. This decision was based on the knowledge that SCI can impair normal blood pressure control with lesions at or above the 5th thoracic level, leading to lower resting blood pressure^{50,52}. The known relationship between SAP and CVD risk might, therefore, not exist in the same way in this population. Entering a value of 120 mmHg is neutral to the score, and therefore excludes any effect of SAP on the risk score generated. A risk score under 10% is considered low risk, a score between 10 and 20% an intermediate risk and above 20% a high risk¹⁷⁰.

Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using SigmaPlot version 12 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA). Data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Correlations were performed using Pearson Product Moment analyses (parametric data) or Spearman Rank Order tests (nonparametric data) to examine the relationships between the anthropometric parameters and abdominal fat percentage, individual risk factors, or the Framingham risk score. Receiver Operator Characteristic (ROC) curves were generated for the anthropometric measures that were significantly correlated with both abdominal fat percentage and the Framingham risk score. A Framingham 30-year risk score of more than 10% was considered a positive outcome. Significance was assumed at p<0.05; data are reported as mean \pm SD.

Results

Participants

Twenty-seven individuals (19 men and 8 women) with a range of injury levels from the 4^{th} cervical level to the 12^{th} thoracic level, including both complete and incomplete injuries, participated in this study. Fifteen individuals had a cervical lesion and 12 had a thoracic lesion. There were 14 individuals with AIS A scores, 6 with AIS B, 5 with AIS C and 2 with AIS D. The average age was 39.8 ± 10.8 years. Participant characteristics are shown in Table 4.1.

Anthropometric measures and body composition

The anthropometric parameters BMI, WC, and WHtR were significantly and positively correlated with both abdominal fat percentage (Figure 4.1A-C) and with total body fat percentage. The correlations between both WHR (Figure 4.1D, r = 0.35 p = 0.08) and NC (r = 0.39 p = 0.08) with abdominal fat percentage did not quite achieve statistical significance. WHR and NC were not significantly correlated with total body fat percentage (p = 0.52 and p = 0.11 respectively).

Table 4.1.	Participant characteristics.
------------	------------------------------

	Mean (SD)	Number of participants
Age (years)	40 (11)	27
BMI (kg/m2)	23.7 (4.4)	27
Waist circumference (cm)	87 (12)	27
Waist-to-height ratio	0.51 (0.07)	27
Waist-to-hip ratio	0.87 (0.10)	27
Neck circumference (cm)	39 (3)	22
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	3.80 (0.79)	23
High density lipoprotein cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.13 (0.32)	23
Low density lipoprotein cholesterol (mmol/L)	2.23 (0.73)	23
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	0.96 (0.44)	23
Total / high density lipoprotein cholesterol ratio	3.60 (1.19)	23
Insulin (mU/L)	6.48 (3.39)	23
Glucose (mmol/L)	4.5 (0.46)	20
Insulin resistance	1.28 (0.66)	23
120 min glucose (mmol/L)	7.4 (1.39)	27
Framingham risk score	15 (8)	23

Anthropometric measures and cardiovascular disease risk factors

The correlation coefficients between the anthropometric variables and CVD risk factors are shown in Table 4.2. BMI was positively and significantly correlated with only one of the CVD risk factors; fasting TG level. WC was positively and significantly correlated with five CVD risk factors: fasting glucose; TG; TC; LDL-C; and TC/HDL-C ratio. WHR correlated positively with four CVD risk factors: fasting glucose; TC; LDL-C; and TC/HDL-C; and TC/HDL-C ratio. WHR correlated positively correlated with four CVD risk factors: TC; TG; TC/HDL-C; and TC/HDL-C; and TC/HDL-C ratio. WHTR was positively correlated with four CVD risk factors: TC; TG; TC/HDL-C ratio; and 120-minute glucose. NC was not significantly correlated with any of the CVD risk factors.



Figure 4.1. Correlations between abdominal fat percentage and anthropometric markers for obesity

A. Body mass index (BMI) was significantly correlated to abdominal fat percentage.

- B. Waist circumference (WC) was significantly correlated to abdominal fat percentage.
- C. Waist-to-height ratio (WHtR) was significantly correlated to abdominal fat percentage.
- D. Waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) was not significantly correlated to abdominal fat percentage.

Regression lines and confidence intervals are shown for significant (p<0.05) correlations.

		Insulin	Glucose	TG	TC	HDL-C	LDL-C	TC/HDL ratio	120 min glucose
RMI	r	0.286	0.402	0.421	0.386	0.146	0.201	0.218	0.143
DIVII	р	0.22	0.06	0.045	0.07	0.51	0.35	0.32	0.48
wc	r	0.247	0.463	0.461	0.575	- 0.118	0.429	0.564	0.318
WC	р	0.29	0.03	0.03	0.004	0.59	0.04	0.005	0.11
WUD	r	0.403	0.503	0.402	0.610	- 0.248	0.470	0.622	0.300
WITK	р	0.08	0.01	0.056	0.002	0.25	0.02	0.002	0.13
	r	0.349	0.360	0.409	0.532	0.077	0.321	0.424	0.394
WILK	р	0.13	0.09	0.052	0.009	0.73	0.13	0.04	0.04
NC	r	- 0.174	0.409	0.342	0.306	- 0.098	0.388	0.352	0.332
NC	р	0.49	0.07	0.14	0.18	0.67	0.08	0.12	0.13

Table 4.2.Correlations between anthropometric variables and individual risk
factors

Note: WC: waist circumference; WHtR: waist-to-height ratio; WHR: waist-to-hip ratio; NC: neck circumference; TG: triglyceride; TC: total cholesterol; HDL-C: high density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C: low density lipoprotein cholesterol. Data in bold text represent significant correlations.

Anthropometric measures and the Framingham 30-year risk score

Of the anthropometric measures, only BMI was not significantly correlated to the Framingham risk score. WC had the strongest correlation (r = 0.66, p < 0.001) with the risk score, but WHtR (r = 0.60, p < 0.01), WHR (r = 0.56, p < 0.01) and NC (r = 0.51, p = 0.02) also showed significant correlations. ROC curves were generated for WC and WHtR as those measures were correlated with both the Framingham risk score, and abdominal and total fat percentages. The area under the curve (AUC) for WC was 0.92 and the optimal cut off was determined at 94 cm (95% confidence interval [CI] 0.72-0.99 and p < 0.0001), with a specificity of 100% and a sensitivity of 79%. For WHtR, the area under the curve was 0.87 (95% CI 0.66-0.97 and p < .0001) and the optimal cut off was determined at 94 cm (100%) and a sensitivity of 71%. The ROC curves for a subgroup of only male participants showed the optimal cut off for WC at 94 cm and 0.51 for WHtR. Correlations and ROC curves for WC and WHtR with the Framingham risk score are shown in Figure 4.2.

When the original Framingham risk score (including systolic arterial pressure) was used as the outcome measure, WC remained to have the strongest correlation with the risk score (r=0.55, p=0.006) and the ROC for WC had an AUC of 0.92 and an optimal cut-off at 94 cm.



Figure 4.2. Correlations between anthropometric measures and Framingham risk score and corresponding receiver operator characteristic curves

- A. Correlation with waist circumference (WC);
- B. Correlation with waist-to-height ratio (WHtR);
- C. Receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve for WC;
- D. ROC curve for WHtR.

A regression line and confidence intervals are shown for the significant (p<0.05) correlations. The areas under the curves (AUC) of the ROC curves are shown.

Discussion

The main findings of this study are that BMI, WC and WHtR were correlated with both total and abdominal fat percentage. In addition, we found WC and its normalized versions, WHtR and WHR, to be correlated with several CVD risk factors. Two of these measures, WC and WHtR, were significantly correlated with both abdominal adiposity and the Framingham 30-year cardiovascular disease risk score. Of these two measures, WHtR is the least practical measure for individuals with SCI, because height is challenging to accurately determine in those with contractures or spasticity. We, therefore, suggest that WC is the best marker for obesity-related CVD risk in this population. The stronger correlation with the Framingham risk score and the slightly higher AUC of the ROC curve further support this conclusion. We showed that a cut-off for WC at 94 cm was optimal to predict a positive outcome of >10 % risk on the 30-year risk score.

In the present study, we found that BMI was strongly related to body fat percentage, explaining 63% of the variance in abdominal fat percentage and 52% of the variance in total body fat percentage. Previously, studies in the SCI population showed that only 35-36% of the variance in total body fat percentage could be explained by BMI^{135,202}. Our finding is more similar to the 46-79% described in the able-bodied population¹³⁵. This might be because BMI was determined by length and weight measured from the DEXA scan in the present study, which may be more robust than using self-reported height or weight as in previous studies in SCI individuals¹³⁷. Indeed, we compared self-reported height and weight to height and weight determined from the DEXA scan (data not shown). Although height from these two methods correlated well (r = 0.912, p < 0.001), Bland-Altman analysis showed there was a bias of about 2 cm, where self-reported height was greater than that measured from DEXA. Self-reported weight also correlated well with weight from the DEXA scan (r = 0.945, p<0.05), but again Bland-Altman analysis showed a bias of 1.7 kg, where self-reported weight was greater than that measured from DEXA.

Although BMI was strongly related to abdominal fat percentage, it was not correlated with the CVD risk factors studied, or the Framingham risk score. This discrepancy has been documented previously^{124,135,203,204}. It could be due to errors in the calculation of BMI, or a lack of information about the distribution of abdominal fat using this measure. In our case the first explanation would be unlikely, because BMI determined by length and weight via the DEXA scan has been shown to be highly accurate¹³⁷. The second explanation is more likely, because despite being correlated with abdominal fat percentage, BMI provides no information about the distribution of adiposity within the abdomen. Even the "gold standard" of DEXA, which does provide specific fat percentages for the abdominal area, does not have the ability to differentiate between subcutaneous and visceral fat. This is important because visceral fat, rather than overall abdominal fat, is thought to be the main contributor to CVD risk, and cannot be discerned from either BMI or DEXA measurements¹⁷⁴. Our results show a stronger correlation between BMI and abdominal fat than WC and WHtR, however, this may or may not represent a strong relationship with the parameter of greatest interest, visceral fat. Unfortunately, we did not have access to techniques to quantify visceral fat. Previous studies that measured visceral fat using MRI or computed tomography in the able-bodied showed that WC and WHtR are strongly associated with visceral fat, and so are better predictors of CVD risk^{174,205}.

All three measures of waist circumference (WC, WHtR and WHR) were strongly correlated with the individual risk factors. However, based on the individual risk factors, none of these measures emerged as a superior predictor of an adverse CVD risk profile. Subsequently, we found that these three measures were also correlated with the Framingham 30-year risk score. Only WC and WHtR were correlated to both adiposity and the risk score, suggesting these represent stronger markers for obesity-related CVD risk. WC was more strongly correlated with all the cardiovascular risk factors and the Framingham risk score than WHtR, but had a slightly weaker (although still highly significant) correlation with abdominal adiposity. On balance, and incorporating practicality of use, we conclude that WC is the best marker for the presence of obesity-related CVD factors in individuals with SCI.

The Framingham risk score is a validated score from the Framingham Heart study, predicting 30-year risk of CVD¹⁶⁹. The score includes the following risk factors: HDL-C, TC, age, sex, systolic arterial pressure at rest, smoking status, diabetes, and antihypertensive treatment. We adapted the use of the score slightly by entering a neutral value for SAP (120 mmHg) for all participants. In this way, we eliminated the effects of blood pressure on the risk score. Ordinarily, a SAP above 120 mmHq would increase the risk score and below this level would lower the risk score. This incorporates the relationship between hypertension, a component of metabolic syndrome, and its known contribution to the increased CVD risk associated with obesity²⁰⁶. However, SCI can affect resting blood pressure levels as well as the normal regulation of blood pressure. Individuals with an injury at or above the 5th thoracic level may have loss of descending spinal sympathetic drive to the heart and blood vessels of the skeletal muscles and the gut⁵⁰. The sympathetic hypoactivity leads to low resting blood pressure and impairs blood pressure control^{50,52}. Given the effect of SCI on normal blood pressure control, the presence or absence of hypertension might not be as tightly related to risk of CVD in those with SCI as in the able-bodied population. The lowered SAP in individuals with damage to these autonomic pathways might be hypothesized to have a 'protective' effect in the risk score, but the associated blood pressure dysregulation also manifests in abnormal cardiovascular reflex control^{53,66} that may be detrimental in terms of CVD risk²², and this delicate balance would not be captured using the Framingham risk score. Therefore, it is unclear whether hypotension is necessarily cardioprotective in the SCI population. We, therefore, decided to exclude effects of SAP on the CVD risk score entirely.

We excluded individuals from this study with known pre-existing (prior to injury) CVD, because we were interested in the risk of CVD associated with SCI. The average risk score for our sample was 15 (8) indicating a moderate risk for the group as a whole. This elevated risk score fits with the known high morbidity and mortality due to CVD after SCI, and the fact that individuals with SCI experience an earlier onset and faster progression of CVD than in the general population^{22,183}. However, it is likely that this is an underestimation of the true CVD risk in a larger cohort of individuals with SCI, incorporating those with known pre-existing cardiovascular disease.

The optimal cut-off for WC was determined to be 94 cm. This cut-off is slightly lower than the 102 cm cut off for males used in the able-bodied population¹⁷⁰. We did not provide separate criteria for males and females, due to the low number of women in our study; the majority of our sample was male. This is representative of the population of individuals with SCI as a whole, in whom the incidence of injury is known to be higher in men than women¹. The ROC curve for a subgroup of just the males revealed the same optimal cut off of 94 cm for WC, indicating that the cut off is not artificially lower due to inclusion of women in the sample.

The lower cut off for WC is in line with studies that have shown that general cut-offs for BMI and WC underestimate obesity in individuals with SCI^{135,136,173}. This underestimation is probably due to the fact that individuals with SCI lose muscle mass, gain fat mass after injury, and thus have a different body composition with the same WC. This has been confirmed using computed tomography to determine visceral fat, where individuals with SCI had more visceral adipose tissue compared to able-bodied controls matched for WC, BMI, weight and total abdominal tissue. This supports the need for a lower cut off for WC in this population. In addition, the WC criteria might be expected to be slightly smaller in our study because we conducted measurements in the supine position instead of the upright position as in the general population, and this would be associated with reduced gravitational effects on abdominal distension. The concept of using a population-specific cut-off is not new, and in fact has already been proposed for different ethnicity^{205,207}, sex, and age categories²⁰⁸.

The main limitation of this study is the fairly small sample size in this population. Studies on obesity indices in the able-bodied population are usually very large, but in a specific population such as this one, the sample size is restricted. However, we were still able to detect substantial correlations between body composition, CVD risk factors, and our anthropometric measures. The main limitation of the small sample size is that we were not able to differentiate our optimal cut-off for men and women, or specific age categories. Another limitation is that we used the presence of an adverse cardiovascular risk profile as the main outcome measure for correlation with our obesity-markers, instead of the presence of CVD itself. We, therefore, provide a tool to predict the presence of an adverse risk profile and not risk of CVD per se.

Conclusion

We propose that WC can provide a simple, and more sensitive alternative to BMI that is easy to use in general medical practice, research, or at home. This measure is well suited for use in individuals with SCI because it does not require measures of height or weight that are more challenging to determine in this population. We also provide an optimal WC cut-off for determining the presence of an adverse cardiovascular risk profile at 94 cm. This cut-off provides a simple tool to predict adverse CVD risk profiles related to obesity, that can be used to guide risk management, and as a practical aid for individuals with SCI to maintain a healthy body composition.

Chapter 5.

Electrocardiogram-based predictors for cardiac arrhythmia are related to autonomic impairment after spinal cord injury

Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of mortality and morbidity in individuals with spinal cord injury (SCI)^{22,209}. Furthermore, CVD after SCI has an earlier onset and more rapid progression than in the able-bodied²².

One possible cause of this increased risk for CVD is altered autonomic function after SCI, with associated modulations in cardiac electrophysiology and increased risk of cardiac arrhythmias¹⁰⁸. Rats with high thoracic lesions demonstrate changes in protein expression that increase sarcoplasmatic reticulum calcium load and lead to ectopic activity¹⁰⁸. These changes are associated with a decreased electrical stimulation threshold to induce ectopics¹⁰⁸.

The extent of cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction is related to the level and severity of injury to spinal cardiovascular sympathetic pathways²¹⁰. Injuries above the fifth thoracic level (T5) can impair sympathetic regulation of the heart and splanchnic vasculature (a key site for blood pressure regulation) with particularly pronounced effects on cardiovascular control²¹⁰. Cardiovascular parasympathetic pathways do not pass through the spinal cord, and thus are not affected by SCI. As such, the normal coordinated pattern of activity of the autonomic nervous system can become dyssynchronous, with devastating effects on cardiovascular function^{80,113,117}.

Case reports in humans^{71,105,211} as well as studies in rodents²¹² have documented ventricular and/or atrial arrhythmias after SCI, particularly during episodes of autonomic dysreflexia (AD , sudden onset of profound hypertension triggered by sensory stimuli

below lesion). During AD the precipitating stimulus triggers massive sympathetic discharge through a spinal reflex that is no longer subject to regulation by the injured descending spinal autonomic pathways. This leads to extreme hypertension, and increases the spatial dispersion of ventricular repolarization, increasing the likelihood of re-entry arrhythmias¹¹³. In addition, unique to SCI, this elevated cardiac sympathetic activity is coupled with elevated cardiac vagal activity during AD, through hypertension-induced stimulation of the arterial baroreflex and subsequent increases in efferent parasympathetic activity mediated via the cardiac vagus nerves⁶⁹, and this may be particularly proarrhythmogenic.

The electrocardiograph (ECG) can potentially be used to identify those individuals at risk of developing arrhythmias during episodes of AD. Prolonged transmural dispersion of ventricular repolarization has been shown to be a substrate for ventricular arrhythmias, specifically Torsade des Pointes¹¹⁵. Transmural dispersion of repolarization corresponds to the difference in timing and duration of repolarization in the different layers of the ventricular wall¹¹⁴ which is reflected by the T_{peak} - T_{end} interval of the ECG¹¹⁴. Hence, T_{peak} - T_{end} can be used as a risk assessment parameter for ventricular arrhythmias^{114,213}. Another ECG-derived parameter that is believed to identify increased risk for ventricular arrhythmias is the QT variability index (QTVI)²¹⁴.

In addition to an increased risk of ventricular arrhythmias, atrial arrhythmias such as atrial fibrillation are common in individuals with SCI¹¹⁷. Prolongation of intra-atrial conduction time is associated with atrial fibrillation attributable to inhomogeneous propagation of sinus impulses in the atria¹¹⁸. It has been proposed that this could be identified by variation in P-wave duration in differently oriented surface ECG leads, or P-wave dispersion (PWD)¹¹⁹. Another approach would be to study P-wave variability in the time and frequency domain (by assessing the P-wave duration in the same ECG lead over time), and we propose that this parameter could also be a predictor for atrial arrhythmias.

A previous report in humans has investigated differences in ECG parameters²¹⁵ between individuals with high and low level SCI, but failed to account for injury to cardiovascular autonomic pathways, which would be expected to influence both the ECG characteristics, and susceptibility to arrhythmia. Accordingly, our goal was to explore the

88

proposed ECG predictors for ventricular and atrial arrhythmias in individuals with chronic SCI with different levels and severities of injury to cardiovascular autonomic pathways. We hypothesized that those with severe autonomic injury would have increased T_{peak} - T_{end} , QTVI, PWD and P-wave variability compared to those with incomplete autonomic injury and able-bodied controls.

Methods

The study received ethical approval from the Simon Fraser University and the University of British Columbia Research Ethics Committees, and was performed in association with the Declaration of Helsinki of the World Medical Association.

Participants

Studies were performed on 28 individuals with chronic (>1 year) SCI, and 27 ablebodied controls. All participants gave written informed consent, and were apparently healthy and not taking any cardiovascular medications. Females were not tested during their menstrual period. Participants abstained from drinking alcoholic beverages starting the night before testing and drinking caffeine and smoking on the morning of testing.

Measures of completeness of injury

Motor and sensory impairment

Neurological classification of level and severity of SCI was determined from the AIS. This scale assesses motor and sensory function after SCI^{141,216}, but does not incorporate a quantitative measure of autonomic function⁸¹. An AIS A score reflects complete loss of motor and sensory function; the B, C and D scores reflect gradually less severe impairments. Level of injury and impairment score together form the classification of the injury (e.g. T5A).

Autonomic impairment

At present there is no gold standard for the quantitative assessment of autonomic completeness of SCI. Therefore, to assess severity of injury to spinal autonomic pathways in individuals with SCI we used three methods: sympathetic skin responses (SSR); plasma noradrenaline levels; and low frequency power of systolic arterial pressure (LF SAP). The SSR scores were used to subdivide the SCI group for the

categorical analyses, while plasma noradrenaline and LF SAP were used as continuous variables for the correlation analyses.

Sympathetic skin responses

This test assesses sympathetic cholinergic pathways, which are dependent on central and peripheral sympathetic input⁸⁸. Impaired supraspinal control of sympathetic pathways leads to an impaired SSR, and therefore this can be used to evaluate autonomic injury following SCI. Recordings were conducted simultaneously and bilaterally from both hands in response to a pulse applied ten times to the left median nerve⁸⁰. Each stimulus was a single 0.2 ms duration pulse and had an intensity of 8-10 mA. The time delay between stimuli was variable in order to eliminate habituation to the stimuli. The outcome measurement is a sum score of the normal elicited SSR with a maximum response of 10 for each stimulation site. The maximum score (20) is considered a normal SSR. For categorical analyses, autonomic completeness of injury was determined based on the SSR⁵³.

Plasma noradrenaline levels

We used an orthostatic stress test⁵³ to assess severity of cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction from plasma noradrenaline responses to orthostasis. Low noradrenaline levels, due to sympathetic hypoactivity, are indicative of injury to descending sympathetic pathways⁵⁰. A butterfly catheter was inserted into an antecubital vein and samples were withdrawn after 15 minutes of supine rest, and then five minutes after the passive assumption of a seated position. Samples were centrifuged at 3°C and 3000rpm for 10 minutes and the plasma component withdrawn for subsequent analysis. The plasma samples were then sent to the clinical laboratory of Vancouver General Hospital for determination of noradrenaline levels with high-pressure liquid chromatography (ESA Coulochem II detector, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Sunnyvale, CA, USA).

For correlative analyses we used the absolute noradrenaline level, as described by our group previously⁵³.

Low frequency power of systolic arterial pressure

The power of LF SAP variability reflects sympathetic drive to the resistance vessels⁵⁰, and is markedly reduced in individuals with autonomically complete SCI²¹⁷. Continuous beat-to-beat blood pressure was recorded using finger plethysmography (Finometer, Finapres Medical Systems BV, Arnhem, The Netherlands) during 15 minutes of supine rest. We fitted autoregressive monovariate models to the time series of the beat-to-beat systolic arterial pressure signal and identified the low frequency peak (at ~0.1Hz) from the power spectrum. We calculated central frequency, attributed power, percentage power and power in normalized units:

$$LF_SAP_{nu} = \frac{LF_SAP_{power}}{Total_{power} - VLF_SAP_{power}} \times 100$$

For correlative analyses we used the absolute value of the LF SAP, as described by our group previously⁵³.

Continuous electrocardiogram

A resting lead II ECG (Finometer ECG module, Finapres Medical Systems BV, Arnhem, The Netherlands) was continuously recorded in the supine position for 15 minutes. Data acquisition was performed with a sampling frequency of 1KHz using an analog-to-digital converter (Powerlab 16/30, AD Instruments, Colorado Springs, CO).

Electrocardiogram interval detection

ECG parameters (RR interval, QT, QTc, using the method of $Bazett^{217}$, T_{peak} - T_{end} , QTVI and P-wave duration) were determined for every beat using customized software (LabView 2009, National Instruments) (Figure 5.1).

The location and amplitude of the R-wave was determined from the point of zero slope at the maximum amplitude of the derivative of the signal. The stable T-P section was identified by linear regression of the signal between two consecutive R-waves. The T_{peak} was determined from the maximum value of a 3rd order polynomial applied 100ms after the preceding R up until the midpoint of the T-P section. The Q-wave was identified from the minimum value of a 3rd order polynomial applied to the 50ms of data preceding the R-wave. The P_{peak} was determined from the maximum point of a polynomial regression of the 20ms of data preceding the Q-wave. The T_{end} was determined from the point at which two regression lines intersect, applied from the T_{peak} forwards and from the middle of the T-P section backwards. Finally, the P_{end} was identified from the point at which regressions applied to the section between the P_{peak} and Q-waves intersect.



Figure 5.1. Example graphical representation of the customized ECG interval detection.

Different coloured markers are used for the different points of interest. The program outputs time and amplitude of coordinates for each point of interest as well as the corresponding intervals. The shaded areas represent P-wave duration (light grey), QT interval (grey) and T_{peak} - T_{end} duration (dark grey).

Variability analyses

We determined variability for each of the ECG intervals (T_{peak}-T_{end} and P-wave duration) using autoregressive spectral analysis. QTVI was determined using the following equation:

$$QTVI = \log 10 \frac{(QT_v / QT_m)^2}{(RR_v / RR_m)^2}$$

Where QT_v is the QT variability, QT_m the mean QT interval, RR_v the variability of RR interval, and RR_m the mean RR interval²¹⁴. QTVI is typically a negative value, with values closer to zero being considered abnormal ¹¹⁵.

12-lead electrocardiogram

To determine PWD, we collected 12-lead ECG's during seated rest from seventeen participants with cervical SCI. In fifteen age and sex matched able-bodied controls a 12-lead ECG (Burdick Atria 6100, Cardiac Science Corporation, Hannover, Germany) was recorded during supine (n=14) and seated (n=10) rest. Digital calipers were used to measure the P-wave duration in every lead from the signal averaged 12-lead ECG's scanned in high resolution (600 dpi) from a paper print. According to convention¹¹⁸, P-wave duration in a single lead was discarded when the beginning and end of the P-wave could not be accurately determined. PWD was calculated for every ECG with more than 9 measurable leads¹¹⁸.

Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using SigmaPlot version 11 (Systat Software Inc, San Jose, CA). Data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Comparisons between two groups were performed using unpaired Student's t-tests or Wilcoxon tests for parametric and nonparametric data respectively. One-way ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis test with Tukey or Steel-Dwass post-hoc tests were performed for comparisons between three groups. Correlations between variables were performed using Pearson Product Moment analyses or Spearman Rank Order tests. Possible differences in sex and the number of discarded leads in each group (PWD analysis) were determined using the Pearson Chi-squared test. All data are reported as mean \pm SD. Statistical significance was assumed at the level of p<0.05.

Results

Participants with SCI were subdivided into different groups for analyses: (1) by region of injury - cervical or thoracic; (2) by level of injury – below or above (and at) T5; (3) by autonomic impairment as determined from the SSR – complete (score of zero) or incomplete (score greater than zero); (4) by motor and sensory impairment according to the AIS score – complete (AIS A) or incomplete (AIS B, C or D).

Participant characteristics

We found no significant age or sex differences between groups. Levels of injury in the cervical SCI group ranged from C4 to C7 and motor/sensory impairment defined by AIS grades¹⁴¹ was as follows: grade A, n=7; grade B, n=5; grade C, n=2; and grade D, n=1. Levels of injury in the thoracic group ranged from T3 to T11 and motor/sensory impairment was as follows: grade A, n=11; grade B, n=1; and grade D, n=1. Not all participants opted to complete all test procedures. Participant characteristics can be found in Table 5.1.

	Age (years)	Sample size	Males
Able-bodied Controls	30 (10)	27	14 (52%)
All SCI Participants	35 (7)	28	21 (75%)
SCI subdivided by level of injury			
Cervical SCI	34 (7)	15	12 (80%)
Thoracic SCI	35 (8)	13	9 (69%)
SCI subdivided according to injury a	bove or below T5		
SCI Above T5	34 (6)	22	16 (73%)
SCI Below T5	37 (10)	6	5 (83%)
SCI subdivided according to autonomic	mic completeness of	injury	
Autonomically Complete SCI	35 (7)	13	11 (85%)
Autonomically Incomplete SCI	35 (7)	15	10 (67%)

Table 5.1. Participant characteristics.

Note: Data are shown as mean (SD).

Continuous electrocardiogram

Electrocardiogram interval analyses

Resting RR interval was significantly longer in the cervical SCI group compared to controls (p=0.04), consistent with modest bradycardia. RR interval was significantly shorter in the thoracic SCI group compared to the cervical SCI group (p=0.02). There were no differences between groups for all other parameters (QT, QTc, T_{peak} - T_{end} and P-wave duration). Absolute values for all intervals are summarized in Table 5.2.

Variability analyses

 T_{peak} - T_{end} variability was significantly greater in the SCI group compared to controls (p=0.04, Figure 5.2A). Level of injury influenced T_{peak} - T_{end} variability, with significantly greater T_{peak} - T_{end} variability only in those with lesions above T5 compared to controls (p=0.02, Figure 5.2B). T_{peak} - T_{end} variability was also significantly greater in those with autonomically complete injuries compared to controls (p=0.02, Figure 5.2C). We found no significant differences in T_{peak} - T_{end} variability between SCI groups and controls when grouped according to AIS scores (Figure 5.2D).

	RRI (ms)	QT (ms)	QTc (ms)	T _{peak} -T _{end} (ms)	P-wave duration (ms)
Able-bodied Controls	951 (109)	373 (22)	384 (22)	69 (7)	100 (15)
All participants with SCI	991 (137)†	379 (29)	382 (22)	69 (7)	102 (14)
SCI subdivided by level of injury					
Cervical SCI	1047 (112)†	389 (25)	381 (20)	68 (8)	
Thoracic SCI	925 (138)‡	367 (30)	383 (28)	69 (7)	
SCI subdivided according to inju	iry above or bel	ow T5			
SCI Above T5	1006 (124)	381 (29)	381 (20)	68 (7)	
SCI Below T5	933 (179)	371 (33)	388 (36)	70 (10)	
SCI subdivided according to aut	onomic comple	teness of inj	ury		
Autonomically Complete SCI	1039 (131)	392 (24)	387 (19)	69 (7)	
Autonomically Incomplete SCI	949 (133)	367 (29)	378 (26)	68 (8)	

Table 5.2.ECG intervals: RRI, QT, QT_c, T_{peak}-T_{end} and P-wave duration.

Note Data are shown as mean (SD). [†] denotes p<0.05 compared to controls; [‡] denotes p<0.05 compared to the cervical SCI group


Figure 5.2. T_{peak}-T_{end} and T_{peak}-T_{end} variability compared between groups.

A. T_{peak} - T_{end} and variability T_{peak} - T_{end} compared between the SCI and control groups.

- B. T_{peak}-T_{end} variability compared between SCI groups above and below T5 and the controls group.
- C. T_{peak} - T_{end} variability compared between autonomically complete and incomplete SCI groups and the control group.
- D. T_{peak}-T_{end} variability compared between SCI groups divided by AIS score and the control group.

The bars represent the groups mean and the error bars represent SEM.

QTVI was significantly greater (closer to zero) in the SCI group compared to controls (p=0.02). Again, this was related to the level of injury, with greater QTVI in those with lesions above T5 compared to controls (p=0.02, Figure 5.3A). We found no significant difference between those with lesions below T5 and controls. Similarly, QTVI was significantly greater in those with autonomically complete injuries compared to controls (p=0.01). Responses in those with autonomically incomplete injuries were not significantly different from both other groups (Figure 5.3B). We found no significant differences in QTVI between control and SCI groups when grouped according to AIS scores (Figure 5.3C). In addition, QTVI and $T_{peak}-T_{end}$ variability were significantly correlated with each other (r=0.734, p<0.001, Figure 5.3D).



Figure 5.3. QTVI compared between groups

A. QTVI compared between SCI groups above and below T5 and the controls group.

B. QTVI compared between autonomically complete and incomplete SCI groups and the control group.

- C. QTVI compared between SCI groups divided by AIS score and the control group.
- D. A correlation between QTVI and T_{peak} - T_{end} variability.

The bars represent the groups mean and the error bars represent SEM.

P-wave duration variability was greater in SCI individuals compared to controls (p<0.01, Figure 5.4A). ANOVA testing with the different SCI subgroups was not conducted for this parameter due to a smaller sample size for this measure (control n=17 and SCI n=16). P-wave variability was correlated with both T_{peak} - T_{end} variability (r=0.608, p<0.001, Figure 5.4B) and QTVI (r=0.421, p=0.01). There was no correlation between P-wave variability and the average cycle length (RR interval) (r=0.074, p=0.07). All variability data are summarized in Table 5.3.

	T _{peak} -T _{end} variability (ms²)	QTVI	P-wave variability (ms ²)
Able-bodied Controls	45 (66)	-1.31 (0.41)	29 (19)
All SCI Participants	91 (78) †	-1.03 (0.53) †	105 (63) †
SCI subdivided by level of injury			
Cervical SCI	92 (88)	-0.97 (0.62)	
Thoracic SCI	90 (71)	-1.09 (0.41)	
SCI subdivided according to injury above or below T5			
SCI Above T5	94 (79) †	-1.02 (0.56)†	
SCI Below T5	83 (84)	-1.12 (0.43)	
SCI subdivided according to autonomic completeness of injury			
Autonomically Complete SCI	103 (89) †	-0.87 (0.62) †	
Autonomically Incomplete SCI	80 (70)	-1.17 (0.40)	
SCI subdivided according to AIS score			
AIS A	77 (58)	-1.08 (0.43)	
AIS B, C or D	101 (100)	-0.98 (0.63)	

 Table 5.3.
 Variability parameters: T_{peak}-T_{end}, QTVI and P-wave variability.

Note: [†] denotes p<0.05 compared to controls. Data are shown as mean (SD).

Correlations with autonomic impairment

We found a significant negative correlation between upright noradrenaline and P-wave variability (r=-0.496, p=0.04, Figure 5.4C). In addition, T_{peak} - T_{end} variability (r=-0.341, p=0.01) and P-wave variability (r=-0.497, p<0.01) were significantly correlated with the severity of autonomic impairment, as determined from the LF SAP_{nu} (Figure 5.4D).

12-lead electrocardiogram

We found no significant differences in PWD between the SCI group ($37 \pm 13 \text{ ms}$) and controls ($32 \pm 13 \text{ ms}$, p=0.35). In more individuals with SCI (n=15; 88%) one or more leads were rejected for analysis than in controls (n=2; 14%) (X^2 =2.26 and p<0.001). Since the 12-lead ECG was recorded while seated in SCI participants, but while supine in controls according to convention, we evaluated whether alterations in autonomic tone associated with postural changes could have influenced our results, in a subset (n=10) of controls. We found no significant differences in supine and seated PWD in controls ($32 \pm 13 \text{ ms}$ and $29 \pm 5 \text{ ms}$ respectively, p=0.61). Also, when compared to the SCI group, the seated PWD in controls remained similar (p>0.05).



Figure 5.4. P-wave variability over time compared between groups.

- A. P-wave variability compared between the SCI group and the control group.
- B. A correlation between P-wave variability and $T_{\text{peak}}\text{-}T_{\text{end}}$ variability.
- C. A correlation between P-wave variability and upright noradrenaline (NA).
- D. A correlation between P-wave variability and LF $\mathsf{SAP}_{\mathsf{nu.}}$

Discussion

We evaluated different ECG-based parameters that might be used as risk assessment tools for the propensity to develop cardiac arrhythmias after SCI. Not only did we observe differences in these parameters between individuals with SCI and able-bodied controls, but we also found correlations between these measures and the severity of autonomic impairment after injury. Our main finding was that T_{peak} - T_{end} variability and QTVI were greater in the SCI group, particularly in those with high-level and autonomically complete lesions. The relationship between the severity of autonomic impairment could underlie the increased risk for ventricular arrhythmias after SCI. The abnormal variability of T_{peak} - T_{end} and QTVI was independent of the AIS score, confirming that completeness of injury to motor or sensory pathways does not necessarily correlate with completeness of injury to autonomic pathways. This is consistent with our earlier findings⁸⁰ and highlights the need for quantitative autonomic function testing after SCI.

Our data are supported by a recent study that reported increased QTVI in individuals with SCI²¹⁸. However, their data did not show differences in QTVI between different SCI groups. The grouping strategy in this study was purely based on injury level, not taking into account completeness of injury in general terms or specifically to caradiovascular autonomic pathways. The lack of difference in QTVI between their groups could reflect this failure to account for completeness of injury to cardiovascular autonomic pathways, as we found that QTVI was correlated to measures of autonomic function.

P-wave duration variability in a continuous ECG recording was increased in the SCI group compared to controls. The increase in P-wave variability was significantly correlated with measures of severity of injury to autonomic pathways. Unfortunately, due to a smaller amplitude of the P-wave in general, occasional background noise, and axis shifts, faithful detection of P-wave duration was difficult, reducing the sample size for this measure (SCI n=16; control n=17), and rendering subanalyses invalid. Nevertheless, we can exclude the possibility that the increased P-wave variability in the SCI group was artefactual due to increased background noise in this group because we quantified the noise levels at the isoelectric T-P sections of the ECG and they were not

100

signficantly different between groups (control 0.0002 ± 0.0001 ms² and SCI 0.0007 ± 0.0001 ms², p=0.29). In addition, these noise levels are neglicable compared to the variability in P-wave duration of 29 ms² and 105 ms² in the control and SCI groups respectively We propose that the increased P-wave variability observed is compatible with abnormal repolarisation properties within the atria in those with loss of the normal sympathetic modulation of the heart, and may be associated with an increased risk of experiencing atrial arrhythmia.

PWD is thought to be correlated with risk for atrial arrhythmia. In this study, we found no difference in PWD between the SCI group and controls. This can be explained in two ways: either the SCI group is not at greater risk for atrial arrhythmias, or PWD is not a good risk assessment parameter for atrial arrhythmias after SCI. In a subgroup (n=9) of individuals with autonomically complete SCI (and thus a high likelihood of experiencing atrial arrhythmia) the PWD remained similar to controls, making the first explanation unlikely. The second explanation is supported by some technical difficulties in measuring this parameter; more leads were discarded in the ECG of SCI individuals than in controls. This could have led to an artificial decrease in PWD in the SCI group, and may have masked any true differences between groups in this parameter. Since the determination of P-wave variability over time on a continuous ECG requires measureable P-waves in only one ECG lead, we suggest it may provide a better parameter for risk of atrial arrhythmias after SCI.

One limitation of this study is that not all parameters were collected in every participant; some participants declined to participate in all tests. A second limitation is that we could not measure a direct correlation between T_{peak} - T_{end} variability, QTVI and P-wave variability and the occurrence of cardiac arrhythmias. There is good evidence, however, that AD, and thus autonomic impairment after SCI, is associated with cardiac arrhythmias^{80,117}. The relationship shown between autonomic impairment and these ECG parameters implies that a correlation between these measures and susceptibility to cardiac arrhythmias may exist, but does not confirm it. Therefore, at present we acknowledge that we have not demonstrated a link between these measures and propensity to experience arrhythmia, but rather that we have identified ECG-based characteristics in individuals with SCI that are associated with an increased risk of arrhythmia in other populations^{114,214,218}. However, preliminary data during AD from four

101

individuals with autonomically complete cervical SCI (in whom resting QTVI and T_{peak}-T_{end} variability were already increased, similar to the present findings) reveal further marked increases in both QTVI (+0.43±0.1; p<0.05) and T_{peak}-T_{end} variability (+300±97ms²; p<0.05) compared to baseline, associated with marked ventricular ectopy. These data need verification in a larger population, but do support our hypothesis that these measures are related to arrhythmia risk. Future directions would, therefore, be to determine the relationships between these ECG-based parameters at rest and the occurrence of cardiac arrhythmias during episodes of AD, when risks for arrhythmia are highest.

Conclusion

We have observed abnormal ECG characteristics in individuals with autonomically complete SCI that, at least in able-bodied populations, are associated with increased susceptibility to cardiac arrhythmia. The increases in T_{peak} - T_{end} variability, P-wave variability and QTVI observed occurred only in those individuals with complete lesions to descending cardiac sympathetic pathways, who also experience episodes of AD during which risk for arrhythmia is high. Furthermore, the magnitude of impairment to cardiac autonomic pathways was directly correlated with the severity of these ECG abnormalities. We propose that these ECG characteristics provide useful measures of severity of injury to cardiovascular autonomic pathways, and may prove to be indicative of susceptibility to cardiac arrhythmia after SCI.

Chapter 6.

General discussion

In this chapter the main findings disseminated from this thesis will be placed in perspective with other studies in this field. This is followed by the implications for the clinical field and individuals living with SCI and future directions for research arising from this thesis.

Prevalence and progression of cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction after spinal cord injury

Chapter 2 outlines the prevalence and progression of cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction after SCI. At the time that individuals with SCI first started inpatient rehabilitation, 33% of them had resting hypotension. As hypothesized, the prevalence of hypotension and bradycardia was greatest in the participants with cervical lesions. Most importantly, I found that the prevalence of cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction did not significantly improve over time until 5 years after discharge from the rehabilitation clinic.

Although this was the first longitudinal study to examine cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction after SCI, there have been several cross-sectional studies in cohorts of individuals with chronic SCI (>1 year). Prevalence of resting hypotension is not frequently reported, but orthostatic hypotension (OH, additional drop in blood pressure upon a change in posture) is quite commonly reported. One study, which evaluated prevalence of (self-reported) resting hypotension, showed similar findings of 33% prevalence within their overall cohort and 51% in a subset of individuals with AIS complete tetraplegia¹⁶². The prevalence of OH reported in individuals with chronic SCI varies between 21% and 50%, and this is probably influenced by the composition of the sample in terms of the levels and severity of injury of the participants. A prevalence of OH of 50% was reported in individuals with cervical lesions⁵³, 47% in individuals with

lesions above T5¹⁵⁹, and 21% in individuals with cervical lesions⁵⁴, but restricted to those with highly preserved function (AIS C and D) in whom spinal sympathetic pathways may be more likely to remain intact.

These findings on prevalence of resting hypotension and OH in individuals with chronic SCI support the lack of improvement in cardiovascular parameters over time in the present study. Moreover, this might explain in part why individuals living with a SCI have ranked the improvement of autonomic dysfunction as a high priority for improving quality of life. With this knowledge foundation, I went on to investigate whether cardiovascular autonomic impairments have an additional and long-term effect on CVD risk.

Role of autonomic impairment on cardiovascular disease risk

In Chapter 3, evidence is provided that autonomic impairment after SCI affects overall risk of CVD, and particularly influences glucose regulation. In terms of the overall risk of CVD, it was shown that there was an interaction effect between autonomic impairment and physical activity level. As described previously, autonomic dysfunction can negatively impact physical activity both through limiting participation in physical activity as a consequence of general feelings of fatigue, and through limited exercise tolerance due to the minimal ability to increase heart rate and blood pressure during physical activity. This interaction contributes to the risk of CVD after SCI.

In addition, it was shown that variables related to glucose regulation were affected by autonomic impairments, in contrast to the plasma lipid markers, which were mostly explained by known indicators such as, age, sex and waist circumference. This suggests that adverse lipid profiles after SCI are mostly related to general effects of aging and additional effects of deconditioning and related obesity. These findings are in line with many previous studies that showed decreased HDL-C levels and increased TG levels in both paraplegic and tetraplegic participants^{125,177,181}. Significant correlations between adverse lipid profiles, WC, and physical fitness have also been shown previously^{129,177,219}. Also, exercise training improves the adverse lipid profiles in individuals with SCI¹³⁰.

The intricacies of the role of autonomic impairments on glucose regulation remain unclear. Glucose tolerance was directly affected by autonomic impairment, whereas there was an indirect effect through physical activity level on plasma insulin and IR. Many different mechanisms by which SCI can impact insulin mediated glucose uptake have been proposed; some related to general deconditioning after SCI and some related to autonomic dysfunction (Figure 6.1). As muscle is one of the main tissues responsible for insulin mediated glucose uptake from the blood, the extreme loss of muscle mass due to SCI will impair total insulin mediated glucose uptake. Cellular defects affecting insulin receptor sensitivity have been proposed to be mediated by obesity²²⁰. As mentioned previously, increased sympathetic activity has been related to IR, and therefore IR might develop after SCI as a consequence of repeated episodes of autonomic dysreflexia (AD) when sympathetic activity is extremely high. One way that AD might impair the effect of insulin is through a reduction in blood flow due to vasoconstriction impairing glucose uptake by tissues¹⁷⁹. In addition, it is proposed that sympathetic activity during AD promotes IR by activating α 1 receptors in adipose tissue, increasing protein-kinase C concentrations, which interferes with insulin signalling²²¹.



Figure 6.1. Overview of proposed mechanisms leading to insulin resistance after spinal cord injury

Many different mechanisms have been proposed by which spinal cord injury can impact insulin mediated glucose uptake that can cause insulin resistance. On the left side of the figure, the mechanisms related to general deconditioning are shown. On the right side are those mechanisms shown that are specifically related to autonomic dysfunction after spinal cord injury. Insulin mediated glucose uptake in individuals with autonomic dysfunction after spinal cord injury can thus affected by the mechanisms listed on both sides.

These complicated relationships between SCI and IR have not been addressed. One study showed increased IR in individuals with tetraplegia¹²⁷. They did not find resting noradrenaline nor resting blood pressure and heart rate in the SCI group to be lower compared to controls, indicating that not all individuals had autonomic impairments¹²⁷. This study measured noradrenaline throughout a 24-hour period and showed episodes of AD as identified by spikes in noradrenaline. These episodes of AD were proposed to be related to IR, as they measured an increase in insulin during induced mild AD. The complexity of the effects of SCI on IR, were not addressed by this study.

In this chapter I have shown that many different factors contribute to risk of CVD after SCI. It is therefore challenging to determine the level of risk for each individual with SCI. For the general population, tools for predicting CVD risk have been developed and are widely used. However, these tools might not have the same accuracy in determining risk in individuals with SCI, as many factors contributing to CVD have changed after SCI. In Chapters 4 and 5 of this thesis, the goal was to explore options for predictors of CVD specific to SCI.

Obesity indices specific for individuals with spinal cord injury

In Chapter 4, I explored whether any of the proposed indices for obesity is superior in terms of the ability to detect adiposity and CVD risk, and practicality of use, for individuals with SCI. Waist circumference (WC) and waist-to-height ratio (WHtR) both showed strong correlations with abdominal adiposity and the Framingham risk score. WC had the strongest correlation with CVD risk, but most importantly, it is most practical to use for individuals with SCI as it does not require any measurement of height or weight. An optimal cut-off for WC was provided at 94 cm for both men and women.

These findings are supported by previous studies reporting strong correlations between WC and visceral adiposity, both in the general population and in individuals with SCI^{173,174,188}. Visceral adiposity has been shown to be the more important than other measures of adiposity in predicting CVD risk. The proposed cut-off for individuals with SCI is lower than the cut-off for men in the general population (102 cm), but slightly higher than the cut-off for women (88 cm)¹⁷⁰. Analysis of only male participants from

our study indicated the optimal cut-off to remain the same (94 cm), which could be explained by the large percentage of males in our sample, representative of the population of individuals with SCI as a whole.

The lower cut-off for WC is in line with a study that showed an underestimation of adiposity when standard cut-offs for BMI were used in individuals with SCI¹³⁶. It is also supported by a study that showed that individuals with SCI had more visceral adipose tissue compared to able-bodied controls with the same WC, BMI, and weight¹⁷³.

Cardiac arrhythmias and autonomic function

Cardiac arrhythmias have been shown to occur during episodes of AD and are thus related to autonomic impairment after SCI. In addition to an index for obesity, which can be used as a tool to predict adverse CVD risk profiles, a marker to predict the risk for cardiac arrhythmias would be valuable in order to stratify risk management towards those at highest risk for cardiac arrhythmias specifically.

In Chapter 5, abnormal electrocardiogram (ECG) characteristics were observed in individuals with SCI. The increases in T_{peak} - T_{end} variability, P-wave variability and QTVI observed occurred only in those with cardiovascular autonomic impairment. The fact that cardiac arrhythmias in individuals with SCI have been shown to occur mostly during AD, a condition specific to those with cardiovascular autonomic dysfuntion, provides a strong link between these altered ECG markers and risk for cardiac arrhythmia, even though we did not show a direct correlation with the occurrence of cardiac arrhythmias. In further support, it was shown that the magnitude of impairment to cardiac autonomic pathways was directly correlated with the severity of these ECG abnormalities. I, therefore, propose that these ECG characteristics provide useful measures of impairment of cardiovascular autonomic function, and may prove to be valuable in predicting susceptibility to cardiac arrhythmia after SCI.

Only one recent study has reported on these ECG characteristics in a SCI population. They showed that QTVI was increased in individuals with SCI compared to able-bodied controls, but they did not show a correlation with autonomic impairment (differences were only reported on the basis of lesion level²¹⁸). The two other ECG parameters that we evaluated have not previously been studied in this population.

As this study did not investigate direct correlations with the occurrence of arrhythmias, it is not yet possible to provide a clear recommendation for the use of these ECG characteristics to predict susceptibility to cardiac arrhythmia; a follow-up study is necessary to provide an optimal cut-off for these markers.

Implications and future directions

The study presented in Chapter 2 showed that signs of cardiovascular dysfunction (e.g. hypotension and bradycardia) are not improving with time after injury. Although this represents an important finding on its own, the question arises as to how these signs are related to symptoms of cardiovascular dysfunction, and what the consequences are in relation to activities of daily living. Perhaps individuals with SCI adapt to or learn to cope with these lower resting blood pressure and heart rate values in such a way that the impact on participation in activities of daily might improve with time after injury. It would be interesting to investigate how resting blood pressure and heart rate are related to participation in activities of daily living and whether any changes in this relationship occur with time after injury.

Another important implication demonstrated throughout this thesis is that completeness of injury as assessed by AIS scoring, does not necessarily relate to severity of autonomic impairment of injury. An important step has been made by incorporating a qualitative assessment of autonomic function in the 'Autonomic Standard Assessment Form' of the AIS assessment⁸¹. However, it is important for SCI research and clinical practice to have a standard method to quantify autonomic impairment after injury.

The most complex questions for future studies arise from Chapter 3. As explained, the relationship between changes in body composition, autonomic function after SCI, and altered insulin mediated glucose uptake is extremely complex. A future direction would be to explore these relationships in more depth using more sophisticated tools such as the insulin clamp technique to explore glucose and insulin changes in interaction with each other. It would be interesting to conduct these tests both at rest and during an episode of AD, to investigate the potential short-term effects of elevated sympathetic activity. In addition, the effects of physical fitness and muscle mass on these relationships should also be investigated.

The WC cut-off for predicting adverse CVD risk profiles can be used by individuals living with SCI as a simple and practical aid to maintain a healthy body composition. The main follow up question to this study is to define a cut-off for WC that is specific to females. In the able-bodied population sex-specific cut-offs are used and the cut-off for women is much lower than for men. Even though there are more men living with SCI, it is still important to determine these sex specific cut-offs. Conducting this research project might be challenging, as the recruitment of women with SCI will be more complicated due to the smaller population of women with SCI.

As mentioned previously, in Chapter 5 altered ECG-based markers for arrhythmias were detected in individuals with autonomic dysfunction after SCI compared to controls, but did not provide a correlation with occurrence of arrhythmias directly. A future direction would be to investigate the relationships between these markers and the occurrence of cardiac arrhythmias during an episode of AD, triggered in a controlled laboratory setting. Potentially these research studies can aid the identification of a simple tool to predict the risk for cardiac arrhythmias after SCI.

In broader terms, these insights into the role of autonomic dysfunction after SCI in the development of overall CVD, and perhaps more specifically in relation to abnormal glucose regulation, insulin resistance or even diabetes, can raise awareness for clinicians and individuals living with SCI of the seriousness of autonomic dysfunction after injury and the importance of managing signs of autonomic dysfunction early. In the longer term, this might lead to new strategies to manage signs and symptoms of autonomic dysfunction (e.g. prevention or relief of episodes of AD) and new therapies to improve autonomic function.

References

1. Noonan VK, Fingas M, Farry A, et al. Incidence and prevalence of spinal cord injury in Canada: a national perspective. *Neuroepidemiology* 2012; **38**(4): 219-26.

2. Dryden DM, Saunders LD, Rowe BH, et al. The epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury in Alberta, Canada. *Can J Neurol Sci* 2003; **30**(2): 113-21.

3. New PW, Sundararajan V. Incidence of non-traumatic spinal cord injury in Victoria, Australia: a population-based study and literature review. *Spinal Cord* 2008; **46**(6): 406-11.

4. Lenehan B, Street J, Kwon BK, et al. The epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury in British Columbia, Canada. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 2012; **37**(4): 321-9.

5. Pickett GE, Campos-Benitez M, Keller JL, Duggal N. Epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury in Canada. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 2006; **31**(7): 799-805.

6. Krueger H. The Economic Burden of Spinal Cord Injury: A literature review and analysis. Vancouver: Krueger and Associates Inc. , 2010.

7. Ruff RL, McKerracher L, Selzer ME. Repair and neurorehabilitation strategies for spinal cord injury. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2008; **1142**: 1-20.

8. Ramer LM, Ramer MS, Steeves JD. Setting the stage for functional repair of spinal cord injuries: a cast of thousands. *Spinal Cord* 2005; **43**(3): 134-61.

9. Ahn H, Singh J, Nathens A, et al. Pre-hospital care management of a potential spinal cord injured patient: a systematic review of the literature and evidence-based guidelines. *J Neurotrauma* 2011; **28**(8): 1341-61.

10. Wuermser LA, Ho CH, Chiodo AE, Priebe MM, Kirshblum SC, Scelza WM. Spinal cord injury medicine. 2. Acute care management of traumatic and nontraumatic injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2007; **88**(3 Suppl 1): S55-61.

11. Hurlbert RJ, Hadley MN, Walters BC, et al. Pharmacological therapy for acute spinal cord injury. *Neurosurgery* 2013; **72 Suppl 2**: 93-105.

12. Kwon BK, Okon E, Hillyer J, et al. A systematic review of non-invasive pharmacologic neuroprotective treatments for acute spinal cord injury. *J Neurotrauma* 2011; **28**(8): 1545-88.

13. Ragnarsson KT. Functional electrical stimulation after spinal cord injury: current use, therapeutic effects and future directions. *Spinal Cord* 2008; **46**(4): 255-74.

14. DeVivo MJ. Sir Ludwig Guttmann Lecture: trends in spinal cord injury rehabilitation outcomes from model systems in the United States: 1973-2006. *Spinal Cord* 2007; **45**(11): 713-21.

15. van den Berg ME, Castellote JM, de Pedro-Cuesta J, Mahillo-Fernandez I. Survival after spinal cord injury: a systematic review. *J Neurotrauma* 2010; **27**(8): 1517-28.

16. Cardenas DD, Hoffman JM, Kirshblum S, McKinley W. Etiology and incidence of rehospitalization after traumatic spinal cord injury: a multicenter analysis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2004; **85**(11): 1757-63.

17. Jänig W. The integrative action of the autonomic nervous system : neurobiology of homeostasis. Cambridge, UK ; New York: Cambridge University Press; 2006.

18. DeFrates S, Cook AM. Pharmacologic treatment of neuropathic pain following spinal cord injury. *Orthopedics* 2011; **34**(3): 203.

19. Spinal cord stimulation for neuropathic pain: an evidence-based analysis. *Ont Health Technol Assess Ser* 2005; **5**(4): 1-78.

20. Cardozo CP. Respiratory complications of spinal cord injury. *J Spinal Cord Med* 2007; **30**(4): 307-8.

21. Anderson KD. Targeting recovery: priorities of the spinal cord-injured population. *J Neurotrauma* 2004; **21**(10): 1371-83.

22. Myers J, Lee M, Kiratli J. Cardiovascular disease in spinal cord injury: an overview of prevalence, risk, evaluation, and management. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 2007; **86**(2): 142-52.

23. de Groot S, Post MW, Snoek GJ, Schuitemaker M, van der Woude LH. Longitudinal association between lifestyle and coronary heart disease risk factors among individuals with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 2012.

24. Buchholz AC, Horrocks J, Martin Ginis KA, et al. Changes in traditional chronic disease risk factors over time and their relationship with leisure-time physical activity in people living with spinal cord injury. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab* 2012; **37**(6): 1072-9.

25. Bauman WA, Spungen AM. Coronary heart disease in individuals with spinal cord injury: assessment of risk factors. *Spinal Cord* 2008; **46**(7): 466-76.

26. de Groot S, Dallmeijer AJ, Post MWM, Angenot ELD, van der Woude LHV. The longitudinal relationship between lipid profile and physical capacity in persons with a recent spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 2008; **46**(5): 344-51.

27. Robertson D, Biaggioni I. Primer on the autonomic nervous system. 3rd ed. Amsterdam ; Boston: Elsevier/AP; 2012.

28. Inskip JA, Ramer LM, Ramer MS, Krassioukov AV. Autonomic assessment of animals with spinal cord injury: tools, techniques and translation. *Spinal Cord* 2009; **47**(1): 2-35.

29. McMahon NC, Drinkhill MJ, Hainsworth R. Reflex vascular responses from aortic arch, carotid sinus and coronary baroreceptors in the anaesthetized dog. *Exp Physiol* 1996; **81**(3): 397-408.

30. Szentivanyi M, Juhasz-Nagy A. Two types of coronary vasomotor reflexes. *Q J Exp Physiol Cogn Med Sci* 1962; **47**: 289-98.

31. Benarroch EE. The arterial baroreflex: functional organization and involvement in neurologic disease. *Neurology* 2008; **71**(21): 1733-8.

32. Spyer KM. Annual review prize lecture. Central nervous mechanisms contributing to cardiovascular control. *J Physiol* 1994; **474**(1): 1-19.

33. DiFrancesco D. Funny channels in the control of cardiac rhythm and mode of action of selective blockers. *Pharmacological research : the official journal of the Italian Pharmacological Society* 2006; **53**(5): 399-406.

34. DiFrancesco D, Tromba C. Acetylcholine inhibits activation of the cardiac hyperpolarizing-activated current, if. *Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology* 1987; **410**(1-2): 139-42.

35. Yeoh M, McLachlan EM, Brock JA. Chronic decentralization potentiates neurovascular transmission in the isolated rat tail artery, mimicking the effects of spinal transection. *J Physiol* 2004; **561**(Pt 2): 583-96.

36. Yeoh M, McLachlan EM, Brock JA. Tail arteries from chronically spinalized rats have potentiated responses to nerve stimulation in vitro. *J Physiol* 2004; **556**(Pt 2): 545-55.

37. Mathias CJ, Frankel HL, Christensen NJ, Spalding JM. Enhanced pressor response to noradrenaline in patients with cervical spinal cord transection. *Brain* 1976; **99**(4): 757-70.

38. Krum H, Louis WJ, Brown DJ, Howes LG. Pressor dose responses and baroreflex sensitivity in quadriplegic spinal cord injury patients. *J Hypertens* 1992; **10**(3): 245-50.

39. Arnold JM, Feng QP, Delaney GA, Teasell RW. Autonomic dysreflexia in tetraplegic patients: evidence for alpha-adrenoceptor hyper-responsiveness. *Clin Auton Res* 1995; **5**(5): 267-70.

40. Krassioukov AV, Bunge RP, Pucket WR, Bygrave MA. The changes in human spinal sympathetic preganglionic neurons after spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 1999; **37**(1): 6-13.

41. Krenz NR, Weaver LC. Sprouting of primary afferent fibers after spinal cord transection in the rat. *Neuroscience* 1998; **85**(2): 443-58.

42. Wong ST, Atkinson BA, Weaver LC. Confocal microscopic analysis reveals sprouting of primary afferent fibres in rat dorsal horn after spinal cord injury. *Neurosci Lett* 2000; **296**(2-3): 65-8.

43. Weaver LC, Verghese P, Bruce JC, Fehlings MG, Krenz NR, Marsh DR. Autonomic dysreflexia and primary afferent sprouting after clip-compression injury of the rat spinal cord. *J Neurotrauma* 2001; **18**(10): 1107-19.

44. Thijssen DH, Ellenkamp R, Kooijman M, et al. A causal role for endothelin-1 in the vascular adaptation to skeletal muscle deconditioning in spinal cord injury. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2007; **27**(2): 325-31.

45. Groothuis JT, Thijssen DH, Rongen GA, et al. Angiotensin II contributes to the increased baseline leg vascular resistance in spinal cord-injured individuals. *J Hypertens* 2010; **28**(10): 2094-101.

46. Lewis ME, Al-Khalidi AH, Bonser RS, et al. Vagus nerve stimulation decreases left ventricular contractility in vivo in the human and pig heart. The Journal of Physiology; 2001. p. 547-52.

47. Casadei B. Vagal control of myocardial contractility in humans. Experimental Physiology; 2001. p. 817-23.

48. Fouad FM, Tarazi RC, Ferrario CM, Fighaly S, Alicandri C. Assessment of parasympathetic control of heart rate by a noninvasive method. *Am J Physiol* 1984; **246**(6 Pt 2): H838-42.

49. Claydon VE, Hol AT, Eng JJ, Krassioukov AV. Cardiovascular responses and postexercise hypotension after arm cycling exercise in subjects with spinal cord injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2006; **87**(8): 1106-14.

50. Claydon VE, Steeves JD, Krassioukov A. Orthostatic hypotension following spinal cord injury: understanding clinical pathophysiology. *Spinal Cord* 2006; **44**(6): 341-51.

51. Atkinson PP, Atkinson JL. Spinal shock. *Mayo Clin Proc* 1996; **71**(4): 384-9.

52. Teasell RW, Arnold JM, Krassioukov A, Delaney GA. Cardiovascular consequences of loss of supraspinal control of the sympathetic nervous system after spinal cord injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2000; **81**(4): 506-16.

53. Claydon VE, Krassioukov AV. Orthostatic hypotension and autonomic pathways after spinal cord injury. *J Neurotrauma* 2006; **23**(12): 1713-25.

54. Sisto SA, Lorenz DJ, Hutchinson K, Wenzel L, Harkema SJ, Krassioukov A. Cardiovascular Status of Individuals With Incomplete Spinal Cord Injury From 7 NeuroRecovery Network Rehabilitation Centers. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2012; **93**(9): 1578-87.

55. Wecht JM, Radulovic M, Rosado-Rivera D, Zhang R-L, LaFountaine MF, Bauman WA. Orthostatic effects of midodrine versus L-NAME on cerebral blood flow and the

renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in tetraplegia. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation; 2011. p. 1789-95.

56. Wecht JM, Rosado-Rivera D, Handrakis JP, Radulovic M, Bauman WA. Effects of midodrine hydrochloride on blood pressure and cerebral blood flow during orthostasis in persons with chronic tetraplegia. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2010; **91**(9): 1429-35.

57. Consensus statement on the definition of orthostatic hypotension, pure autonomic failure, and multiple system atrophy. The Consensus Committee of the American Autonomic Society and the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology* 1996; **46**(5): 1470.

58. Wecht JM, Radulovic M, Lessey J, Spungen AM, Bauman WA. Common carotid and common femoral arterial dynamics during head-up tilt in persons with spinal cord injury. *J Rehabil Res Dev* 2004; **41**(1): 89-94.

59. Groothuis JT, Boot CR, Houtman S, van Langen H, Hopman MT. Leg vascular resistance increases during head-up tilt in paraplegics. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2005; **94**(4): 408-14.

60. Bleeker MW, Kooijman M, Rongen GA, Hopman MT, Smits P. Preserved contribution of nitric oxide to baseline vascular tone in deconditioned human skeletal muscle. *J Physiol* 2005; **565**(Pt 2): 685-94.

61. Wessely S, Nickson J, Cox B. Symptoms of low blood pressure: a population study. *BMJ* 1990; **301**(6748): 362-5.

62. Freeman R. Treatment of orthostatic hypotension. *Semin Neurol* 2003; **23**(4): 435-42.

63. Illman A, Stiller K, Williams M. The prevalence of orthostatic hypotension during physiotherapy treatment in patients with an acute spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 2000; **38**(12): 741-7.

64. Jegede AB, Rosado-Rivera D, Bauman WA, et al. Cognitive performance in hypotensive persons with spinal cord injury. Clin Auton Res; 2010. p. 3-9.

65. Perlmuter LC, Sarda G, Casavant V, et al. A review of orthostatic blood pressure regulation and its association with mood and cognition. *Clin Auton Res* 2012; **22**(2): 99-107.

66. Karlsson AK. Autonomic dysreflexia. *Spinal Cord* 1999; **37**(6): 383-91.

67. Mathias. Orhtostatic hypotension and paroxysmal hypertension in humans with high spinal cord injury. *Progress in brain research* 2009: 1-13.

68. Ekland MB, Krassioukov AV, McBride KE, Elliott SL. Incidence of autonomic dysreflexia and silent autonomic dysreflexia in men with spinal cord injury undergoing sperm retrieval: implications for clinical practice. *The journal of spinal cord medicine* 2008; **31**(1): 33-9.

69. Weaver LC, Marsh DR, Gris D, Brown A, Dekaban GA. Autonomic dysreflexia after spinal cord injury: central mechanisms and strategies for prevention. *Progress in brain research* 2006; **152**: 245-63.

70. Bowlby AA. On the Condition of the Reflexes in Cases of Injury to the Spinal Cord; with special reference to the Indications for Operative Interference. *Med Chir Trans* 1890; **73**: 313-25.

71. Guttmann L, Whitteridge D. Effects of bladder distension on autonomic mechanisms after spinal cord injuries. *Brain* 1947; **70**(Pt 4): 361-404.

72. Elliott S, Krassioukov A. Malignant autonomic dysreflexia in spinal cord injured men. *Spinal Cord* 2006; **44**(6): 386-92.

73. Lindan R, Joiner E, Freehafer AA, Hazel C. Incidence and clinical features of autonomic dysreflexia in patients with spinal cord injury. *Paraplegia* 1980; **18**(5): 285-92.

74. Brock JA, Yeoh M, McLachlan EM. Enhanced neurally evoked responses and inhibition of norepinephrine reuptake in rat mesenteric arteries after spinal transection. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2006; **290**(1): H398-405.

75. Krassioukov AV, Furlan JC, Fehlings MG. Autonomic dysreflexia in acute spinal cord injury: an under-recognized clinical entity. *J Neurotrauma* 2003; **20**(8): 707-16.

76. Blackmer J. Rehabilitation medicine: 1. Autonomic dysreflexia. CMAJ; 2003. p. 931-5.

77. Hopman MT, Dueck C, Monroe M, Philips WT, Skinner JS. Limits to maximal performance in individuals with spinal cord injury. *Int J Sports Med* 1998; **19**(2): 98-103.

78. Dela F, Mohr T, Jensen CM, et al. Cardiovascular control during exercise: insights from spinal cord-injured humans. *Circulation* 2003; **107**(16): 2127-33.

79. Wheeler G, Cumming D, Burnham R, et al. Testosterone, cortisol and catecholamine responses to exercise stress and autonomic dysreflexia in elite quadriplegic athletes. *Paraplegia* 1994; **32**(5): 292-9.

80. Claydon VE, Elliott SL, Sheel AW, Krassioukov A. Cardiovascular responses to vibrostimulation for sperm retrieval in men with spinal cord injury. *The journal of spinal cord medicine* 2006; **29**(3): 207-16.

81. Alexander MS, Biering-Sorensen F, Bodner D, et al. International standards to document remaining autonomic function after spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 2009; **47**(1): 36-43.

82. Grassi G, Esler M. How to assess sympathetic activity in humans. J Hypertens; 1999. p. 719-34.

83. Kopin IJ. Catecholamine metabolism: basic aspects and clinical significance. *Pharmacol Rev* 1985; **37**(4): 333-64.

84. Esler M, Jennings G, Lambert G, Meredith I, Horne M, Eisenhofer G. Overflow of catecholamine neurotransmitters to the circulation: source, fate, and functions. *Physiol Rev* 1990; **70**(4): 963-85.

85. Wallin BG, Fagius J. Peripheral sympathetic neural activity in conscious humans. *Annu Rev Physiol* 1988; **50**: 565-76.

86. Hilz MJ, Dutsch M. Quantitative studies of autonomic function. *Muscle Nerve* 2006; **33**(1): 6-20.

87. Grassi G, Bolla G, Seravalle G, Turri C, Lanfranchi A, Mancia G. Comparison between reproducibility and sensitivity of muscle sympathetic nerve traffic and plasma noradrenaline in man. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 1997; **92**(3): 285-9.

88. Cariga P, Catley M, Mathias CJ, Savic G, Frankel HL, Ellaway PH. Organisation of the sympathetic skin response in spinal cord injury. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr* 2002; **72**(3): 356-60.

89. Brown R, Engel S, Wallin BG, Elam M, Macefield V. Assessing the integrity of sympathetic pathways in spinal cord injury. *Auton Neurosci* 2007; **134**(1-2): 61-8.

90. Macefield VG, Burton AR, Brown R. Somatosympathetic Vasoconstrictor Reflexes in Human Spinal Cord Injury: Responses to Innocuous and Noxious Sensory Stimulation below Lesion. *Front Physiol* 2012; **3**: 215.

91. Wallin BG, Burton AR, Elam M, Tamaddon K, Millard R, Macefield VG. Viscerosympathetic reflexes in human spinal cord injury: relationships between detrusor pressure, blood pressure and skin blood flow during bladder distension. *Exp Physiol* 2013; **98**(6): 1081-91.

92. Schondorf R. Skin potentials: normal and abnormal. In: Low PA, ed. Clinical autonomic disorders: Lippincott-Raven; 1997: 221-31.

93. Nicotra A, Catley M, Ellaway PH, Mathias CJ. The ability of physiological stimuli to generate the sympathetic skin response in human chronic spinal cord injury. *Restor Neurol Neurosci* 2005; **23**(5-6): 331-9.

94. Rauh R, Posfay A, Muck-Weymann M. Quantification of inspiratory-induced vasoconstrictive episodes: a comparison of laser Doppler fluxmetry and photoplethysmography. *Clinical physiology and functional imaging* 2003; **23**(6): 344-8.

95. Baselli G, Cerutti S, Civardi S, et al. Spectral and cross-spectral analysis of heart rate and arterial blood pressure variability signals. *Comput Biomed Res* 1986; **19**(6): 520-34.

96. Parati G, Saul JP, Di Rienzo M, Mancia G. Spectral analysis of blood pressure and heart rate variability in evaluating cardiovascular regulation. A critical appraisal. *Hypertension* 1995; **25**(6): 1276-86.

97. Langager AM, Hammerberg BE, Rotella DL, Stauss HM. Very low-frequency blood pressure variability depends on voltage-gated L-type Ca2+ channels in conscious rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2007; **292**(3): H1321-7.

98. Cevese A, Gulli G, Polati E, Gottin L, Grasso R. Baroreflex and oscillation of heart period at 0.1 Hz studied by alpha-blockade and cross-spectral analysis in healthy humans. *J Physiol* 2001; **531**(Pt 1): 235-44.

99. Gulli G, Cooper VL, Claydon V, Hainsworth R. Cross-spectral analysis of cardiovascular parameters whilst supine may identify subjects with poor orthostatic tolerance. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 2003; **105**(1): 119-26.

100. Claydon VE, Krassioukov AV. Clinical correlates of frequency analyses of cardiovascular control after spinal cord injury. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2008; **294**(2): H668-78.

101. Ditor DS, Kamath MV, Macdonald MJ, Bugaresti J, McCartney N, Hicks AL. Reproducibility of heart rate variability and blood pressure variability in individuals with spinal cord injury. Clin Auton Res; 2005. p. 387-93.

102. Jacob C, Thwaini A, Rao A, Arya N, Shergill IS, Patel HRH. Autonomic dysreflexia: the forgotten medical emergency. *Hosp Med* 2005; **66**(5): 294-6.

103. Valles M, Benito J, Portell E, Vidal J. Cerebral hemorrhage due to autonomic dysreflexia in a spinal cord injury patient. *Spinal Cord* 2005; **43**(12): 738-40.

104. Dolinak D, Balraj E. Autonomic dysreflexia and sudden death in people with traumatic spinal cord injury. *The American journal of forensic medicine and pathology : official publication of the National Association of Medical Examiners* 2007; **28**(2): 95-8.

105. Colachis SC, 3rd, Clinchot DM. Autonomic hyperreflexia associated with recurrent cardiac arrest: case report. *Spinal Cord* 1997; **35**(4): 256-7.

106. Ho CP, Krassioukov AV. Autonomic dysreflexia and myocardial ischemia. *Spinal Cord* 2010; **48**(9): 714-5.

107. Collins HL, Rodenbaugh DW, DiCarlo SE. Spinal cord injury alters cardiac electrophysiology and increases the susceptibility to ventricular arrhythmias. *Progress in brain research* 2006; **152**: 275-88.

108. Rodenbaugh DW, Collins HL, DiCarlo SE. Increased susceptibility to ventricular arrhythmias in hypertensive paraplegic rats. *Clin Exp Hypertens* 2003; **25**(6): 349-58.

109. Eltorai I, Kim R, Vulpe M, Kasravi H, Ho W. Fatal cerebral hemorrhage due to autonomic dysreflexia in a tetraplegic patient: case report and review. *Paraplegia* 1992; **30**(5): 355-60.

110. Yarkony GM, Katz RT, Wu YC. Seizures secondary to autonomic dysreflexia. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 1986; **67**(11): 834-5.

111. Ho CP, Krassioukov AV. Autonomic dysreflexia and myocardial ischemia. Spinal Cord; 2010. p. 714-5.

112. Calder KB, Estores IM, Krassioukov A. Autonomic dysreflexia and associated acute neurogenic pulmonary edema in a patient with spinal cord injury: a case report and review of the literature. *Spinal Cord* 2009; **47**(5): 423-5.

113. Verrier RL, Antzelevitch C. Autonomic aspects of arrhythmogenesis: the enduring and the new. *Curr Opin Cardiol* 2004; **19**(1): 2-11.

114. Antzelevitch C. T peak-Tend interval as an index of transmural dispersion of repolarization. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2001; **31**(7): 555-7.

115. Antzelevitch C, Shimizu W, Yan GX, et al. The M cell: its contribution to the ECG and to normal and abnormal electrical function of the heart. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 1999; **10**(8): 1124-52.

116. Antzelevitch C. Arrhythmogenic mechanisms of QT prolonging drugs: is QT prolongation really the problem? *J Electrocardiol* 2004; **37 Suppl**: 15-24.

117. Forrest GP. Atrial fibrillation associated with autonomic dysreflexia in patients with tetraplegia. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 1991; **72**(8): 592-4.

118. Dilaveris PE, Gialafos JE. P-wave dispersion: a novel predictor of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol* 2001; **6**(2): 159-65.

119. Dilaveris PE, Gialafos JE. P-wave duration and dispersion analysis: methodological considerations. *Circulation* 2001; **103**(21): E111-1.

120. Dekker JM, Girman C, Rhodes T, et al. Metabolic syndrome and 10-year cardiovascular disease risk in the Hoorn Study. *Circulation* 2005; **112**(5): 666-73.

121. von Eyben FE, Mouritsen E, Holm J, et al. Intra-abdominal obesity and metabolic risk factors: a study of young adults. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 2003; **27**(8): 941-9.

122. Lakka TA, Bouchard C. Physical activity, obesity and cardiovascular diseases. *Handb Exp Pharmacol* 2005; (170): 137-63.

123. Groot S. Prospective Analysis of lipid profiles in persons with a spinal cord injury during and 1 year after inpatient rehabilitation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2008; (89): 531-7.

124. Bauman WA, Adkins RH, Spungen AM, Waters RL. The effect of residual neurological deficit on oral glucose tolerance in persons with chronic spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 1999; **37**(11): 765-71.

125. Bauman WA, Spungen AM. Carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in chronic spinal cord injury. *J Spinal Cord Med* 2001; **24**(4): 266-77.

126. Duckworth WC, Solomon SS, Jallepalli P, Heckemeyer C, Finnern J, Powers A. Glucose intolerance due to insulin resistance in patients with spinal cord injuries. *Diabetes* 1980; **29**(11): 906-10.

127. Karlsson AK. Insulin resistance and sympathetic function in high spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 1999; **37**(7): 494-500.

128. Lager I, Attvall S, Eriksson BM, von Schenk H, Smith U. Studies on the insulinantagonistic effect of catecholamines in normal man. Evidence for the importance of beta 2-receptors. *Diabetologia* 1986; **29**(7): 409-16.

129. Maki KC, Briones ER, Langbein WE, et al. Associations between serum lipids and indicators of adiposity in men with spinal cord injury. *Paraplegia* 1995; **33**(2): 102-9.

130. Hooker SP, Wells CL. Effects of low- and moderate-intensity training in spinal cord-injured persons. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1989; **21**(1): 18-22.

131. Buchholz AC, McGillivray CF, Pencharz PB. Differences in resting metabolic rate between paraplegic and able-bodied subjects are explained by differences in body composition. Am J Clin Nutr; 2003. p. 371-8.

132. Jeon JY, Steadward RD, Wheeler GD, Bell G, McCargar L, Harber V. Intact sympathetic nervous system is required for leptin effects on resting metabolic rate in people with spinal cord injury. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2003; **88**(1): 402-7.

133. Gorgey A, Gater D. Prevalence of Obesity After Spinal Cord Injury. Topics in Spinal Cord Injury Rehabilitation; 2007. p. 1-7.

134. Rajan S, McNeely MJ, Warms C, Goldstein B. Clinical assessment and management of obesity in individuals with spinal cord injury: a review. *The journal of spinal cord medicine* 2008; **31**(4): 361-72.

135. Buchholz AC, Bugaresti JM. A review of body mass index and waist circumference as markers of obesity and coronary heart disease risk in persons with chronic spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 2005; **43**(9): 513-8.

136. Laughton GE, Buchholz AC, Ginis KAM, Goy RE. Lowering body mass index cutoffs better identifies obese persons with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 2009; **47**(10): 757-62.

137. Jones LM, Legge M, Goulding A. Healthy body mass index values often underestimate body fat in men with spinal cord injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2003; **84**(7): 1068-71.

138. West CR, Mills P, Krassioukov AV. Influence of the neurological level of spinal cord injury on cardiovascular outcomes in humans: a meta-analysis. *Spinal Cord* 2012; **50**(7): 484-92.

139. Snoek GJ, MJ IJ, Hermens HJ, Maxwell D, Biering-Sorensen F. Survey of the needs of patients with spinal cord injury: impact and priority for improvement in hand function in tetraplegics. *Spinal Cord* 2004; **42**(9): 526-32.

140. Ravensbergen HJ, Walsh ML, Krassioukov AV, Claydon VE. Electrocardiogrambased predictors for arrhythmia after spinal cord injury. *Clin Auton Res* 2012.

141. Kirshblum SC, Burns SP, Biering-Sorensen F, et al. International standards for neurological classification of spinal cord injury (revised 2011). *J Spinal Cord Med* 2011; **34**(6): 535-46.

142. Frisbie JH. Salt wasting, hypotension, polydipsia, and hyponatremia and the level of spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 2007; **45**(8): 563-8.

143. de Groot S, Dallmeijer AJ, Post MW, et al. Demographics of the Dutch multicenter prospective cohort study 'Restoration of mobility in spinal cord injury rehabilitation'. *Spinal Cord* 2006; **44**(11): 668-75.

144. Marino RJ, Barros T, Biering-Sorensen F, et al. International standards for neurological classification of spinal cord injury. *The journal of spinal cord medicine* 2003; **26 Suppl 1**: S50-6.

145. Arterial hypertension. Report of a WHO expert committee. *World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser* 1978; (628): 7-56.

146. Kilkens OJ, Dallmeijer AJ, De Witte LP, Van Der Woude LH, Post MW. The Wheelchair Circuit: Construct validity and responsiveness of a test to assess manual wheelchair mobility in persons with spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2004; **85**(3): 424-31.

147. Goldstein H, Rasbash J, Plewis I. A User's guide to MlwiN: London Institute of Education, University of London; 1998.

148. Twisk J. Applied longitudinal data analysis for epidemiology. A practical guide: Cambridge University Press; 2003.

149. Kannel WB. Blood pressure as a cardiovascular risk factor: prevention and treatment. *JAMA* 1996; **275**(20): 1571-6.

150. Kaess BM, Rong J, Larson MG, et al. Aortic stiffness, blood pressure progression, and incident hypertension. *JAMA* 2012; **308**(9): 875-81.

151. Kearney PM, Whelton M, Reynolds K, Whelton PK, He J. Worldwide prevalence of hypertension: a systematic review. *J Hypertens* 2004; **22**(1): 11-9.

152. Ogura T, Kubo T, Lee K, Katayama Y, Kira Y, Aramaki S. Sympathetic skin response in patients with spinal cord injury. *J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong)* 2004; **12**(1): 35-9.

153. van den Berg-Emons RJ, Bussmann JB, Haisma JA, et al. A prospective study on physical activity levels after spinal cord injury during inpatient rehabilitation and the year after discharge. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2008; **89**(11): 2094-101.

154. Grassi G, Quarti-Trevano F, Seravalle G, Dell'Oro R. Cardiovascular risk and adrenergic overdrive in the metabolic syndrome. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 2007; **17**(6): 473-81.

155. Wecht JM, Radulovic M, Lafountaine MF, Rosado-Rivera D, Zhang RL, Bauman WA. Orthostatic responses to nitric oxide synthase inhibition in persons with tetraplegia. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2009; **90**(8): 1428-34.

156. Ditor DS, Kamath MV, MacDonald MJ, Bugaresti J, McCartney N, Hicks AL. Effects of body weight-supported treadmill training on heart rate variability and blood pressure variability in individuals with spinal cord injury. *J Appl Physiol* 2005; **98**(4): 1519-25.

157. Faghri PD, Yount JP, Pesce WJ, Seetharama S, Votto JJ. Circulatory hypokinesis and functional electric stimulation during standing in persons with spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2001; **82**(11): 1587-95.

158. Huang SC, May-Kuen Wong A, Lien HY, et al. Systemic vascular resistance is increased and associated with accelerated arterial stiffening change in patients with chronic cervical spinal cord injury. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med* 2012.

159. Sahota IS, Ravensbergen HR, McGrath MS, Claydon VE. Cerebrovascular responses to orthostatic stress after spinal cord injury. *J Neurotrauma* 2012.

160. Dallmeijer AJ, Kilkens OJ, Post MW, et al. Hand-rim wheelchair propulsion capacity during rehabilitation of persons with spinal cord injury. *J Rehabil Res Dev* 2005; **42**(3 Suppl 1): 55-63.

161. Kilkens OJ, Dallmeijer AJ, Nene AV, Post MW, van der Woude LH. The longitudinal relation between physical capacity and wheelchair skill performance during inpatient rehabilitation of people with spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2005; **86**(8): 1575-81.

162. Noreau L, Proulx P, Gagnon L, Drolet M, Laramee MT. Secondary impairments after spinal cord injury: a population-based study. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 2000; **79**(6): 526-35.

163. Kramer JL, Lammertse DP, Schubert M, Curt A, Steeves JD. Relationship between motor recovery and independence after sensorimotor-complete cervical spinal cord injury. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2012; **26**(9): 1064-71.

164. Steeves JD, Kramer JK, Fawcett JW, et al. Extent of spontaneous motor recovery after traumatic cervical sensorimotor complete spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 2011; **49**(2): 257-65.

165. Zariffa J, Kramer JL, Fawcett JW, et al. Characterization of neurological recovery following traumatic sensorimotor complete thoracic spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 2011; **49**(3): 463-71.

166. Heart rate variability. Standards of measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use. Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. *Eur Heart J* 1996; **17**(3): 354-81.

167. Friedewald WT, Levy RI, Fredrickson DS. Estimation of the concentration of lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. *Clin Chem* 1972; **18**(6): 499-502.

168. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia* 1985; **28**(7): 412-9.

169. Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Larson MG, Massaro JM, Vasan RS. Predicting the 30-year risk of cardiovascular disease: the framingham heart study. *Circulation* 2009; **119**(24): 3078-84.

170. Expert Panel on Detection E, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. Executive Summary of The Third Report of The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, And Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol In Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). *JAMA* 2001; **285**(19): 2486-97.

171. Washburn RA, Zhu W, McAuley E, Frogley M, Figoni SF. The physical activity scale for individuals with physical disabilities: development and evaluation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2002; **83**(2): 193-200.

172. Ketel IJG, Volman MNM, Seidell JC, Stehouwer CDA, Twisk JW, Lambalk CB. Superiority of skinfold measurements and waist over waist-to-hip ratio for determination of body fat distribution in a population-based cohort of Caucasian Dutch adults. *Eur J Endocrinol* 2007; **156**(6): 655-61.

173. Edwards LA, Bugaresti JM, Buchholz AC. Visceral adipose tissue and the ratio of visceral to subcutaneous adipose tissue are greater in adults with than in those without spinal cord injury, despite matching waist circumferences. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2008; **87**(3): 600-7.

174. Lear SA, Humphries KH, Kohli S, Frohlich JJ, Birmingham CL, Mancini GBJ. Visceral adipose tissue, a potential risk factor for carotid atherosclerosis: results of the Multicultural Community Health Assessment Trial (M-CHAT). *Stroke* 2007; **38**(9): 2422-9.

175. Wajchenberg BL. Subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue: their relation to the metabolic syndrome. *Endocr Rev* 2000; **21**(6): 697-738.

176. Duckworth WC, Jallepalli P, Solomon SS. Glucose intolerance in spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1983; **64**(3): 107-10.

177. Bauman WA, Spungen AM. Disorders of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in veterans with paraplegia or quadriplegia: a model of premature aging. *Metabolism* 1994; **43**(6): 749-56.

178. Bluvshtein V, Korczyn AD, Pinhas I, Vered Y, Gelernter I, Catz A. Insulin resistance in tetraplegia but not in mid-thoracic paraplegia: is the mid-thoracic spinal cord involved in glucose regulation? *Spinal Cord* 2011; **49**(5): 648-52.

179. Jamerson KA, Smith SD, Amerena JV, Grant E, Julius S. Vasoconstriction with norepinephrine causes less forearm insulin resistance than a reflex sympathetic vasoconstriction. *Hypertension* 1994; **23**(6 Pt 2): 1006-11.

180. Bauman WA, Adkins RH, Spungen AM, et al. Is immobilization associated with an abnormal lipoprotein profile? Observations from a diverse cohort. *Spinal Cord* 1999; **37**(7): 485-93.

181. Bauman WA, Spungen AM, Zhong YG, Rothstein JL, Petry C, Gordon SK. Depressed serum high density lipoprotein cholesterol levels in veterans with spinal cord injury. *Paraplegia* 1992; **30**(10): 697-703.

182. Bauman WA, Kahn NN, Grimm DR, Spungen AM. Risk factors for atherogenesis and cardiovascular autonomic function in persons with spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord; 1999. p. 601-16.

183. Groah SL, Weitzenkamp D, Sett P, Soni B, Savic G. The relationship between neurological level of injury and symptomatic cardiovascular disease risk in the aging spinal injured. *Spinal Cord* 2001; **39**(6): 310-7.

184. National Institutes of Health NH, Lung and Blood Institute. Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults--The Evidence Report. National Institutes of Health. *Obes Res* 1998; **6 Suppl 2**: 51S-209S.

185. WorldHealthOrganization. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. *World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser* 2000; **894**: i-xii, 1-253.

186. Wang J, Thornton JC, Bari S, et al. Comparisons of waist circumferences measured at 4 sites. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2003; **77**(2): 379-84.

187. Zhu S, Wang Z, Heshka S, Heo M, Faith MS, Heymsfield SB. Waist circumference and obesity-associated risk factors among whites in the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: clinical action thresholds. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2002; **76**(4): 743-9.

188. Lemieux S, Prud'homme D, Bouchard C, Tremblay A, Després JP. A single threshold value of waist girth identifies normal-weight and overweight subjects with excess visceral adipose tissue. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1996; **64**(5): 685-93.

189. Ross R, Léger L, Morris D, de Guise J, Guardo R. Quantification of adipose tissue by MRI: relationship with anthropometric variables. *J Appl Physiol* 1992; **72**(2): 787-95.

190. Dalton M, Cameron AJ, Zimmet PZ, et al. Waist circumference, waist-hip ratio and body mass index and their correlation with cardiovascular disease risk factors in Australian adults. J Intern Med; 2003. p. 555-63.

191. Han TS, van Leer EM, Seidell JC, Lean ME. Waist circumference action levels in the identification of cardiovascular risk factors: prevalence study in a random sample. *BMJ* 1995; **311**(7017): 1401-5.

192. Demirel S, Demirel G, Tükek T, Erk O, Yilmaz H. Risk factors for coronary heart disease in patients with spinal cord injury in Turkey. *Spinal Cord* 2001; **39**(3): 134-8.

193. Emmons RR, Garber CE, Cirnigliaro CM, Kirshblum SC, Spungen AM, Bauman WA. Assessment of Measures for Abdominal Adiposity in Persons with Spinal Cord Injury. *Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology* 2011; **37**(5): 734-41.

194. Eriks-Hoogland I, Hilfiker R, Baumberger M, Balk S, Stucki G, Perret C. Clinical assessment of obesity in persons with spinal cord injury: validity of waist circumference, body mass index, and anthropometric index. *J Spinal Cord Med* 2011; **34**(4): 416-22.

195. Lopez-Alvarenga JC, Montesinos-Cabrera RA, Velazquez-Alva C, Gonzalez-Barranco J. Short stature is related to high body fat composition despite body mass index in a Mexican population. *Arch Med Res* 2003; **34**(2): 137-40.

196. Lee CMY, Huxley RR, Wildman RP, Woodward M. Indices of abdominal obesity are better discriminators of cardiovascular risk factors than BMI: a meta-analysis. J Clin Epidemiol; 2008. p. 646-53.

197. Lee CMY, Huxley RR, Wildman RP, Woodward M. Indices of abdominal obesity are better discriminators of cardiovascular risk factors than BMI: a meta-analysis. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2008; **61**(7): 646-53.

198. Yang L, Samarasinghe YP, Kane P, Amiel SA, Aylwin SJB. Visceral adiposity is closely correlated with neck circumference and represents a significant indicator of insulin resistance in WHO grade III obesity. *Clinical endocrinology* 2009.

199. Ben-Noun L, Sohar E, Laor A. Neck Circumference as a Simple Screening Measure for Identifying Overweight and Obese Patients. *Obes Res* 2001: 1-8.

200. Preis SR, Massaro JM, Hoffmann U, et al. Neck Circumference as a Novel Measure of Cardiometabolic Risk: The Framingham Heart Study. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2010; **95**(8): 3701-10.

201. Vallianou NG, Evangelopoulos AA, Bountziouka V, et al. Neck circumference is correlated with triglycerides and inversely related with HDL cholesterol beyond BMI and waist circumference. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* 2013; **29**(1): 90-7.

202. Spungen AM, Adkins RH, Stewart CA, et al. Factors influencing body composition in persons with spinal cord injury: a cross-sectional study. *J Appl Physiol* 2003; **95**(6): 2398-407.

203. Zlotolow SP, Levy E, Bauman WA. The serum lipoprotein profile in veterans with paraplegia: the relationship to nutritional factors and body mass index. *J Am Paraplegia Soc* 1992; **15**(3): 158-62.

204. Janssen TW, van Oers CA, van Kamp GJ, TenVoorde BJ, van der Woude LH, Hollander AP. Coronary heart disease risk indicators, aerobic power, and physical activity in men with spinal cord injuries. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1997; **78**(7): 697-705.

205. Lear SA, James PT, Ko GT, Kumanyika S. Appropriateness of waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio cutoffs for different ethnic groups. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2010; **64**(1): 42-61.

206. Committee CRWGE, Leiter LA, Fitchett DH, et al. Identification and management of cardiometabolic risk in Canada: a position paper by the cardiometabolic risk working group (executive summary). *Can J Cardiol* 2011; **27**(2): 124-31.

207. Lear SA, Humphries KH, Frohlich JJ, Birmingham CL. Appropriateness of current thresholds for obesity-related measures among Aboriginal people. *CMAJ* 2007; **177**(12): 1499-505.

208. Dobbelsteyn CJ, Joffres MR, MacLean DR, Flowerdew G. A comparative evaluation of waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and body mass index as indicators of cardiovascular risk factors. The Canadian Heart Health Surveys. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 2001; **25**(5): 652-61.

209. Garshick E, Kelley A, Cohen SA, et al. A prospective assessment of mortality in chronic spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 2005; **43**(7): 408-16.

210. Krassioukov A, Claydon VE. The clinical problems in cardiovascular control following spinal cord injury: an overview. *Progress in brain research* 2006; **152**: 223-9.

211. Frankel HL, Mathias CJ, Spalding JM. Mechanisms of reflex cardiac arrest in tetraplegic patients. *Lancet* 1975; **2**(7946): 1183-5.

212. Collins HL, DiCarlo SE. TENS attenuates response to colon distension in paraplegic and quadriplegic rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2002; **283**(4): H1734-9.

213. Panikkath R, Reinier K, Uy-Evanado A, et al. Prolonged Tpeak to Tend Interval on the Resting Electrocardiogram Is Associated with Increased Risk of Sudden Cardiac Death. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* 2011.

214. Piccirillo G, Cacciafesta M, Lionetti M, et al. Influence of age, the autonomic nervous system and anxiety on QT-interval variability. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 2001; **101**(4): 429-38.

215. Chung FP, Hu YF, Chao TF, et al. The correlation between ventricular repolarization and clinical severity of spinal cord injuries. *Heart Rhythm* 2011; **8**(6): 879-84.

216. Marino RJ, Barros T, Biering-Sorensen F, et al. International standards for neurological classification of spinal cord injury. *The journal of spinal cord medicine* 2005; **26 Suppl 1**: S50-6.

217. Bazett H. An analysis of the time-relations of electrocardiogramsHeart (1920) (7) pp. 353-370. *Heart* 1920; (7): 353-70.

218. La Fountaine MF, Wecht JM, Rosado-Rivera D, Cirnigliaro CM, Spungen AM, Bauman WA. The QT Variability Index and Cardiac Autonomic Modulation: Perspectives from Apparently Healthy Men with Spinal Cord Injury. *Cardiology* 2011; **117**(4): 253-9.

219. Brenes G, Dearwater S, Shapera R, LaPorte RE, Collins E. High density lipoprotein cholesterol concentrations in physically active and sedentary spinal cord injured patients. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1986; **67**(7): 445-50.

220. Hunter SJ, Garvey WT. Insulin action and insulin resistance: diseases involving defects in insulin receptors, signal transduction, and the glucose transport effector system. *Am J Med* 1998; **105**(4): 331-45.

221. McCarty MF. Elevated sympathetic activity may promote insulin resistance syndrome by activating alpha-1 adrenergic receptors on adipocytes. *Med Hypotheses* 2004; **62**(5): 830-8.

Appendix.

List of publications arising from this thesis

Peer reviewed journal articles

H.J.C. Ravensbergen, S.A. Lear and V.E. Claydon (2013) Waist circumference is the best index for obesity-related cardiovascular disease risk in individuals with spinal cord injury. *Under revision, Journal of Neurotrauma.*

H.J.C. Ravensbergen, S. de Groot, M.W.M. Post, H.J. Slootman, L.H.V. van der Woude and V.E. Claydon (2013). Cardiovascular function after spinal cord injury: prevalence and progression of dysfunction during inpatient rehabilitation and 5 years following discharge. *Accepted for publication in Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair.*

H.J.C Ravensbergen, M.L Walsh, A.V Krassioukov, and V.E. Claydon (2012). Electrocardiogrambased predictors for arrhythmia after spinal cord injury. *Clinical Autonomic Research* **22**. 265-273.

Peer reviewed published research abstracts

H.J.C. Ravensbergen, I.S. Sahota, S.A. Lear and V.E. Claydon (2012). The impact of injury to autonomic pathways on cardiovascular disease risk after spinal cord injury. *Clinical Autonomic Research* **22**:244

H.J.C. Ravensbergen, MC Keenleyside, S.A. Lear and V.E. Claydon (2012). What is the best marker for obesity in individuals with spinal cord injury *Clinical Autonomic Research* **22**:245

H.J.C. Ravensbergen, I.S. Sahota, S.A. Lear and V.E. Claydon (2012). The impact of injury to autonomic pathways on cardiovascular disease risk after spinal cord injury. *European Journal of Neurology* **19**: Suppl. 1, 808-826

H.J.C. Ravensbergen, I.S. Sahota, S.A. Lear, A.V. Krassioukov and V.E. Claydon (2011). Does autonomic dysfunction play a role in the development of cardiovascular disease after spinal cord injury? *Clinical Autonomic Research* **21**:185–213

H.J.C. Ravensbergen, I.S. Sahota, S.A. Lear, A.V. Krassioukov and V.E. Claydon (2011). Does autonomic dysfunction play a role in the development of cardiovascular disease after spinal cord injury? *Autonomic Neuroscience* 163:109

H.J.C. Ravensbergen, I.S. Sahota, S.A. Lear, A.V. Krassioukov and V.E. Claydon (2011). Does autonomic dysfunction play a role in the development of cardiovascular disease after spinal cord injury? *Canadian Journal of Cardiology* **27** (5): S174-S175

H.J.C. Ravensbergen, M.L. Walsh, A.V. Krassioukov and V.E. Claydon (2010). ECG-based predictors for cardiac arrhythmias after spinal cord injury. *Clinical Autonomic Research* **20** :289–330.